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Message from CEO

Dear clients, partners and colleagues,

Last year was an exciting and rewarding year for ZAO Citibank. 

Citi’s bicentennial in 2012 provided an excellent opportunity 

not only for us in Russia but for all Citi’s businesses worldwide 

to celebrate our shared past. The list of achievements, each 

a compelling story in its own right, over the past two centuries 

is quite impressive. The bank’s historical milestones present 

a vivid illustration of economic and technological progress 

made possible through the opportunities presented by finance. 

The year 2012 also marked the 20th anniversary of Citi’s arrival in modern Russia 

with a rep office in Moscow and the 10th anniversary of the launch of our retail 

bank in the country. Citi came to Russia during a time of great uncertainty 

economically and politically. However, adhering to the principles which helped Citi 

succeed throughout its history, we built an effective and reliable business here. 

We were always confident in the potential of the Russian banking sector, and we 

remain true to this vision as we continue to build our business here today.

The Russian economy continued to rebound throughout 2012, although growing 

more moderately than in 2011 after reaching and moving past pre-crisis levels 

for most economic indicators. Nevertheless, our business in Russia continued 

to develop and grow at high pace in 2012 on both the consumer side and the 

corporate side, with revenues exceeding $1 billion for the year. Our bottom line 

results were also very strong, as ZAO Citibank reported $287 million in net profit 

under IFRS. 

Message from CEO
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One of the key highlights of 2012 was our very 

strong performance on debt capital markets on 

behalf of our clients. Citi was No.1 for Russia-

originated debt issues according to Euromoney, 

playing roles in 18 major placements which 

cumulatively raised approximately $16 billion, 

including VTB Bank’s perpetual bond (declared CEE 

and CIS Deal of the Year by Euromoney). 

Looking back at our major deals of the year, 

we see that there is practically no major sector 

of the Russian economy where we were not 

engaged: oil & gas – advisory and financing roles 

on Rosneft’s $56 billion acquisition of TNK-BP, 

which was certainly the deal of the decade; 

telecom – bookrunning for MegaFon’s $1.7 billion 

IPO, the largest public placement since 2010, and 

arranging a $2 billion Eurobond for VimpelCom; 

shipping – providing a $140 million loan together 

with Bank of America Merrill Lynch for Sovcomflot 

to finance tanker construction; aviation – arranging 

financing for leasing deals which provided 

Aeroflot with three new Airbus 321-200 aircraft 

and AirBridgeCargo with two new Boeing 747-8Fs; 

coal – arranging a $200 million loan to Russian 

coal giant SUEK; steel – organizing a $750 million 

Eurobond placement for Severstal; finance – 

executing IFC’s debut RUB 13 billion index-linked 

bond issues, the largest ruble-denominated bond 

offering ever by supranational issuer in the Russian 

market. 

Our consumer business has also been making 

qualitative and quantitative improvements. Ten 

years after the launch of the business, Citi now has 

over 1 million retail customers, including more than 

25,000 Citigold customers. Last year Citi opened 

a special bank branch in Russia to provide exclusive 

banking service to Citigold Private Clients, 

offering a premium branch experience alongside 

the numerous other exclusive and personalized 

services available for our high-net-worth clients. 

Our unique Citi Select credit card rewards 

program, which was launched at the end of 2011, 

got off to a great start in 2012. Throughout the 

course of the year, our retail clients accumulated 

a total of 300 million select points and cashed them 

out at our partner stores for total of 10 million 

rubles worth of goods and services. This has 

proven to be a very popular and effective loyalty 

program.

Once again Citi collected an impressive 

number of industry recognitions. Our clients 

voted Citi the Best FX Provider in Russia and 

CIS in Euromoney’s annual survey. Our great 

performance on debt capital markets surely played 

a role in Citi being named Emerging EMEA Bond 

House of the Year 2012 by IFR and Best Investment 

Bank in CIS by EMEA Finance. Global Finance 

named Citi the Best Corporate / Institutional 

Internet Bank in Russia. In early 2012, S&P praised 

Citi for having the best capital adequacy among the 

top 30 banks in Russia and, based on the market 

situation after the yearend, Citi was declared the 

most reliable bank in Russia by Forbes magazine. 

Citi is continuing and expanding its community 

outreach programs in Russia. Our investment 

here grew again last year as we focused on core 

areas of supports: financial literacy programs, 

entrepreneurship development and youth 

education. 

One of the highlights of the year was a special 

exhibit in Moscow of the craftworks of masters 

from Altai who had participated in a Citi-sponsored 

program in partnership with WWF to promote 

sustainable entrepreneurship development. The 

program is focused on entrepreneurship training in 

the field of ecotourism for people living in remote 

areas of the Altai Republic and includes a business 

plan contest. By creating environmentally 

sustainable sources of revenue for local residents, 

this program also promotes conservation of 

Russia’s unique natural heritage. 

Other efforts include a social entrepreneurship 

course at the Graduate School of Management 

of St. Petersburg State University, the Russia-

wide Citi Microentrepreneurship Awards and Citi 

Journalistic Excellence Award, and a program 

helping disadvantaged schoolchildren improve 

their grades and enroll in universities or colleges 

upon graduation. 

Continuing a very positive and pleasant tradition, 

we once again celebrated Global Community 

Day, as over 500 Citi employees together with 

their friends and family spent a Saturday in June 

volunteering for the benefit of their community. 

A special emphasis was placed on assistance to 

the elderly as a part of a special jubilee charity 

campaign called 200 Happy Elderly Folk that 
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Mission
Citi works tirelessly to serve 
individuals, communities, 
institutions and nations. 
With 200 years of experience 
meeting the world’s toughest 
challenges and seizing its greatest 
opportunities, we strive to create 
the best outcomes for our clients 
with financial solutions that are 
simple, creative and responsible. 
An institution connecting over 
1,000 cities, 160 countries and 
millions of people.

We are your global bank. 

We are Citi.

Principles
The four key principles—
the values that guide us as we 
perform our mission—are:

Common PurPose.  
One team, with one goal: serving 
our clients and stakeholders.

resPonsible FinanCe.  
Conduct that is transparent, 
prudent and dependable.

ingenuiTy.  
Enhancing our clients’ lives 
through innovation that harnesses 
the breadth and depth of our 
information, global network, 
and world-class products.

leaDershiP.  
Talented people with the best 
training who thrive in a diverse 
meritocracy that demands 
excellence, initiative and courage.

reached more than 1000 elderly people from 

different Russian regions.

We have many people to thank for our strong 

performance in 2012: our clients, who trust us with 

their finances and who invite us to participate in 

ambitious and promising projects; our partners, 

whose contributions allow us to offer our highly 

competitive banking products and services; 

government regulators, who have helped provide 

market stability with their guiding hand; and, 

last but not least, our great team in Moscow, St. 

Petersburg, Ryazan and other cities across the 

country for their professionalism, dedication and 

hard work.

As we enter our third decade of operations in 

Russia, we remain unwavering in our commitment 

to this market. Combining our local know-how with 

our international network and product expertise, 

we want to continue adding value to our clients, 

to the community and to the country at large. 

To achieve that, we will employ the best and the 

brightest of the talent so abundantly available in 

Russia – as we know that ultimately it is our people 

who make the difference. 

Thank you for your support in executing our vision.

Sincerely, 

Zdenek Turek 

Country Officer for Citi Russia  

Division Head for Citi in Central and Eastern Europe
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Citi in russiaCiti in Russia
Citi, named at that time National City 
Bank (NCB), underwrites bonds to 
support the government of the Russian 
Empire as World War I took its toll on the 
country’s resources

Citi obtains a license to work in the 
Soviet Union and opens representative 
office in Moscow, but operations are 
shut down after the beginning of Soviet 
military intervention in Afghanistan.

Citi remains in Russia during the 
crisis (while other international 
players leave the market or 
scale-down their operations) and 
expands its client base.

Citi opens branches in St. Petersburg, Moscow and 
Vladivostok. In 1920 all branches close.

A rep office opens on October 1, 1992, and, exactly 13 months 
later, on November 1, 1993, the bank receives all the necessary 
licenses to provide banking services in the Russian Federation.
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Citi launches its retail 
banking business in 
Russia.

Citi acquires ABN 
AMRO’s custody 
business in 
Russia.

Citi is selected by HSBC as 
its partner for winding down 
retail operations in Russia 
and HSBC’s retail clients in 
Moscow and St. Petersburg 
can choose to transfer their 
accounts and deposits to Citi 
Russia.

The bank begins a period 
of rapid expansion to the 
largest cities of Russia, from 
St. Petersburg to Novosibirsk 
in Siberia.

Citi becomes the first bank 
in Russia to offer an online 
application process for banking 
products.

Zao Citibank is a fully owned subsidiary of Citigroup in Russia. 
Citi’s clients have access to the full spectrum of banking services 
and are provided with integrated and innovative financial solutions. 
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Citi celebrates 
a major milestone – 
the number of 
consumer bank 
clients in Russia 
now exceeds 
1,000,000 people

200 years Citi

20 years in Russia 
since returning in 
1992

10 years of Citi 
Russia’s consumer 
business

million



Serving 
Institutional Clients
Citi is one of the largest banks in Russia serving institutional 

clients as measured by the number of clients and turnover. 

Our more than 3,000 institutional clients represent all of 

Russia’s leading industrial and business sectors. Citi is 

the global cash management provider for Russia’s leading 

companies and advises many on their international acquisition 

plans. Acting as a consultant for corporate clients, Citi is a key 

link in the process of leveraging banking products and services 

and it offers solutions which not only meet clients’ needs but 

also help them improve profitability.

Citi’s long list of corporate clients includes the 

country’s industrial giants, leading multinationals and local 

emerging companies as well as major financial institutions. 

Citi gives them access to the complete assortment of banking 

services and provides comprehensive and effective solutions 

to financial issues.

Wallet share and rating: Russia & CIS corporate 
investment business (CIB) wallet share increased 
from 6.8% in 2011 to 9.7% in 2012, and CIB 
revenue totaled $329mn for the year

$tn

depository 
transactions

th

in assets 
under 

custody
$bn291

$bn3IN TRADE 
LOANS 

in processed 
transactions 4.
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Products and services for 
our institutional clients:

 ■ financial advisory and capital raising 
 ■ cash management, foreign exchange, 

trade finance, custody, clearing and 
loans

 ■ management of the bank’s FX position, 
strategic investment book (AFS), 
balance sheet and liquidity 

 ■ treasury services
 ■ full range of equity sales and trading 

services
 ■ settlement bank solutions 
 ■ trade finance
 ■ working capital and risk management 

solutions
 ■ cash management
 ■ custody services
 ■ other key services

Executed MegaFon 
IPO — the largest 
public equity 
offering by Russian 
corporate since 2010 

M&As announced 
in 2012 ,
including the largest 
M&A deal in CIS ever — 
Rosneft’s acquisition  
of TNK-BP

#1 
in DCM (18 issues 
in 2012 or ~$16bn of 
raised capital)
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2002 
Citibank opens 
first consumer 
branch.

2003 
Citibank is the first bank 
in Russia to offer online 
applications. 

Citibank is the first bank in 
Russia to offer its Individual 
Financial Planning Program to 
VIP clients.

2007 
 Citibank is the first bank in 
Russia to launch Cash Back 
credit cards. 

Citibank launches branches 
in Samara, Rostov-on-Don, 
Yekaterinburg and nizhniy 
novgorod. 

 

2005
Citibank is the 
first bank in 
Russia to issue 
credit cards with 
a grace period.

 

2010
  Citibank signs 
on its 1 millionth 
retail client in 
Russia. 

Citi Russia’s Consumer 
Bank Celebrates years

10
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2011 
 Citibank 
acquires 
HSBC’s credit 
portfolio. 

2012 
 Citibank 
launches its 
first loyalty 
program – 
Citi Select. 

Products and services 
for our consumer clients: 

500thousand 
more than 

credit card 
holders

 ■ credit cards with grace period

 ■ personal loans

 ■ investment products

 ■ multi-currency checking and savings 

accounts

 ■ payroll package for salaried 

employees

 ■ Citibank Online internet banking 

service

 ■ CitiPhone – telephone banking 

support service

 ■ Citibank Alerting Service for 

information about transactions and 

balances via email or SMS

 ■ Citigold – an exclusive premium 

banking package

Serving 
Retail 
Customers
In 2002, Citi launched its consumer banking 
operations by opening its first retail branch 
in Moscow. Citi now serves approximately 
1 million retail customers across Russia.

Citi serves its retail customers in Russia 
through more than 50 retail branches, over 
550 ATMs, and online and telephone banking. 
Approximately 500,000 clients, or one-half 
of our clientele, are Citi credit card holders. 
The vast majority of our customers turn to 
Citi for more than just one banking service: 
they choose Citi for our easy access accounts, 
convenient banking services, and advanced 
security and fraud protection. We attract, 
train and inspire the best people to deliver 
excellence in client service.



ratingsRatings

Awards awards 

Fitch Ratings (18.01.2012)

 ■ Long-term foreign currency IDR: 

affirmed at ‘bbb+’; outlook stable

 ■ Short-term foreign currency IDR: affirmed at ‘F2’ 

 ■ National long-term rating: 

affirmed at ‘aaa(rus)’; outlook stable

 ■ Support rating: affirmed at ‘2’

 ■ Viability rating: affirmed at ‘bb+’

 ■ Individual rating: affirmed at ‘C/D’

12
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Citibank 
enters 
Top 20 in 
National 
Rating of 
Banki.ru

Standard & Poor’s recognizes Citi as the only bank in 
Russia with the highest level of capital adequacy

Citi included in Forbes’ most 
reliable banks list for Russia

Citi’s asset growth 
rate ranked 1st among 
Top 20 russian 
banks according 
the newspaper 
Kommersant

Citi ranked 10th 
most profitable 
bank in Russia 
according to 
the newspaper 
Kommersant 



VimpelCom Debt Deal Organized 
by Citi Called Debt Capital Market 
Deal of the year

Major Events 2012

VimpelCom’s $2.2bn three-tranche bond offering has been awarded the prestigious 
“Emerging EMEA Bond of the Year Award” by International Financing Review, the “Deal 
of the Year 2011” by Euromoney and the “Best Primary Eurobond Placement in 2011”by 
Cbonds. This transaction was the largest private corporate bond placement in Russia to 
date and also the first one to introduce FRN.

MAJOR EVENTS 2012
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Citi Has highest level 
of Capital adequacy in Russia 
According to S&P

The rating agency Standard & Poor’s released a research report on Russian financial 
institutions. One of the key points of the survey was the assessment of Russian banks 
within S&P’s risk-adjusted capital framework (RACF). ZAO Citibank became the only bank 
in Russia with the highest level of capital adequacy among the top 30 Russian banks.
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Residents of Krasnodar now have access to the latest innovative banking products and technologies 
offered by Citibank. 

Following Rostov-on-Don and Volgograd, Krasnodar has become the third city in Russia’s South Federal 
District where Citibank provides retail banking services. The bank now has a presence in 12 cities 
throughout Russia. 

MAJOR EVENTS 2012
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Citibank 
Expands into 
Krasnodar
The bank is now providing the full spectrum 
of products and services to retail clients in 
this key city in southern Russia – 24-hour 
banking services via CitiPhone, Internet 
banking, credit cards (including co-branded 
cards with such major global loyalty 
programs as Lufthansa’s Miles&More, 
Aeroflot Bonus and others), cash back 
on purchases, consumer loans of up to 
750,000 rubles, the universal CitiOne 
service package and the exclusive Citigold 
program. Citibank is also working with 
businesses to provide payroll solutions 
benefiting both employers and employees.



Citi, Bank of America Merrill 
Lynch and Sovcomflot Sign 
7-year loan agreement 

On June 22, the official signing ceremony for a benchmark deal between Citi, Bank of 
America Merrill Lynch and Sovcomflot on a 7-year $140mn loan for the construction of 
two VLCC tankers took place at the headquarters of the Russian Maritime Register of 
Shipping on the Palace Embankment in St. Petersburg. The vessels are currently under 
construction with delivery scheduled in 2013. 

MAJOR EVENTS 2012
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Citibank and VTB Capital 
Asset Management 
sign Partnership agreement

Citibank’s clients can now invest in 14 open mutual funds under the management of VTB 
Capital Asset Management. 
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Citi and SMBC organize 
landmark Deal for One of the 
World’s Largest Coal Producer
SUEK, Citi and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation (SMBC) announced the signing 
of a 6-year $200mn Structured Term Loan Agreement insured by Nippon Export 
and Investment Insurance (NEXI), the Japanese leading export credit agency. This 
landmark transaction, being NEXI’s first Overseas Untied Loan Insurance for Natural 
Resources and Energy provided to a coal producer, is intended to refinance the 
development of the Tugnui open-pit mine and a coal washing plant in Buryatia as well as 
the Vanino coal export terminal in Russia’s Khabarovsk Region. 
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Citi Earns Top honors 
in Global Finance 
Magazine’s 2012 Awards
Citi was named the Best Corporate / Institutional Internet 
Bank across all countries of its presence in Central and 
Eastern Europe (CEE), including Russia, Kazakhstan 
and Ukraine, in the first round of Global Finance 
magazine’s “World’s Best Internet Banks 2012” competition. 
The bank won a total of 14 awards, including Best Online 
Cash Management House and Best Investment Management 
Services Provider. 
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michael berner appointed 
Consumer business 
manager at Citi Russia

For the first time the top post in Citi’s consumer business has been taken by a Russian 
local, one of the bank’s veterans. In this role Michael Berner is responsible for the 
development strategy of all aspects of the consumer business, including consumer 
lending, wealth management, salary services, electronic business, branches and other 
distribution channels. 

MAJOR EVENTS 2012
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Citi acts as Joint Bookrunner 
on the megaFon iPo 

Citi acted as Joint Bookrunner on the long-awaited MegaFon IPO on the London and 
Moscow stock exchanges. The transaction was a landmark deal across numerous metrics: 
largest IPO in Russia since 2010, and largest IPO on LSE and second largest IPO in EMEA 
for 2012.
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MAJOR EVENTS 2012

Citi Takes Part in 
Vedomosti’s Fourth russian 
Financial Forum

The annual Russian Financial Forum organized by Vedomosti is considered one of the key 
events of the year for the financial community. It attracts numerous representatives of 
the financial departments of major Russian and international companies, regulators and 
government officials. For the second consecutive year Citi was a sponsor of the event. 

26
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MAJOR EVENTS 2012
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Citi Russia’s  
Consumer Bank 
Celebrates 
10 Years 
In November 2012, long-time clients 
and Citi Russia’s top management 
gathered for a celebration at the 
bank’s Paveletskoye branch, which 
is where Citi launched its consumer 
business in Russia exactly ten years 
earlier in 2002. Employees of Citi 
Russia’s corporate division became its 
first consumer clients. 



Responsibility

Financial Capability 
& Asset Building 

Microfinance 

increasing the number of people 
who have the personal finance 
skills necessary to accumulate 

and preserve assets

expansion of the spectrum of 
financial products and thus 
helping make the system of 

financial services more inclusive

We support the economic empowerment and financial inclusion of 
low-income people as a means of helping them to improve their 
standard of living. The top priorities for our social investment in 
Russia are as follows:

social 
responsibility

us$585,000
Development of Entrepreneurship 
and Microfinance 

us$340,000
Financial Capability & Asset Building 

us$160,000
Youth Education 

The structure of grants provided by the 
Citi Foundation in Russia according to focus 
areas in 2012 was as follows:

30
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Entrepreneurship 
Development 

Youth  
Education 

boosting the number of micro and 
small enterprises that provide 

new income generation and 
employment opportunities

increasing the number of youth, 
ages 13-25, who complete second-
ary school and more advanced edu-
cation programs and subsequently 

become employed with a salary 
above the minimum wage

76.5 million 
US dollars 

the total amount of Citi Foundation’s social 
investments worldwide in 2012

In Russia the Citi Foundation made a social contribution of US$1,085,000, 
which together with the charitable giving of Citi Russia represents a total 
investment of more than us$1,300,000 for the year. 

in social 
investments 
in russia since 

2001

M
o

re
 t

h
an

 

million US dollars 

2001

190,000
255,000

330,000
399,000

538,000 511,000

965,000

1,525,000

1,393,500

970,000

1,070,000 1,085,000

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012



 ■ National report of Global Entrepreneur-
ship Monitor 2012 for Russia

 ■ Special exhibition of the works of masters 
from the Altai Republic who participated 
in a joint program of WWF and Citi to pro-
mote the development of ecotourism

 ■ Launch of education course on social 
entrepreneurship in cooperation with the 
Graduate School of Management at St. 
Petersburg State University

 ■ Summary assessment of two years of 
joint work on the program to develop 
ecotourism in the mountains of Altai and 
Western Tuva; the aim of this program is 
to provide basic entrepreneurship train-
ing to local resident and subsequently 
provide microloans in order to help them 
start their own environmentally sustain-
able businesses (such as ecotourism in 
the land of the snow leopard and argali 
sheep, production of souvenirs and 
others goods from felt, improvement of 
livestock quality, etc.)

 ■ Annual Citi Microentrepreneurship 
Awards

 ■ Social program for students of vocational 
colleges 

 ■ Social program for schoolchildren from 
disadvantaged families 

Major events 
and achievements 

The first students of the social entrepreneurship course aat the Graduate School of Management 
of St. Petersburg State University

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

32
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Altai in Moscow exhibition

The Citi Foundation has sponsored microentrepreneurship 
awards in Russia since 2005

On-the-job training for college studentsVocational college students doing internships

Agafiya Markova from the Sakha Republic – winner of Citi 
Entrepreneurship Awards - Entrepreneur of the Year 2012  

Altai masters demonstrate methods of working with felt



SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Ufa

Nizhniy Novgorod

Ufa

Samara

Ryazan

34
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During the year of the bank’s 200th anniversary, Citi Russia organized a special philanthropy 
project called 200 Happy Elderly Folk. Together with the charity Starost v radost (Happiness in 
Aging), we provided assistance to more than 1000 elderly people in various regions of Russia.
This philanthropy project included providing material assistance to nursing homes where lonely 
elderly people reside as well as individualized help for old people in need. Employees of Citi Russia 
played an active role in the implementation of this project: they visited nursing homes, compiled 
to-do lists, returned with the necessary material assistance and spent quality time interacting with 
the elderly, singing songs and sharing tea.

Volgograd St. Petersburg 

Samara

Jubilee philanthropy project



SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Volunteerism

We encourage our employees in their efforts to participate in the activities of charitable 
organizations. Many Citi employees are engaged in volunteer work all year round. At the same 
time, once a year we all celebrate Global Community Day together, joining colleagues in other 
countries who are also engaged in such activities. 

More than 700 employees of Citi in Russia, Ukraine and Kazakhstan together with their friends and 
family joined 100,000 Citi volunteers in 92 countries worldwide for the seventh annual Citi Global 
Community Day. Following tradition, Citi Russia volunteers focused their efforts on providing 
assistance to children’s institutions as well as helping out the elderly as a part of Citi’s jubilee 
philanthropy project called 200 Happy Elderly Folk.

Citi Russia employees organized 25 social projects in the 12 cities where the bank has a presence. 
For the volunteers, who regularly participate in such projects throughout the year, this day 
provides an opportunity to feel a sense of comradery with all their colleagues who are eager to 
lend a helping hand to the needy.

Kazan

Ryazan 

St. Petersburg

36
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St. Petersburg

Ufa

Moscow

Yekaterinburg

Moscow



Zdenek Turek
Chairman 
Citi Country Officer for Russia,  
Citi Division Head for Central and Eastern Europe

nataly nikolaeva
Head of Government Affairs, Citi Russia

Ruslan Belyaev
Citi St. Petersburg Branch Manager

Sergey Korotkov
Retail Banking Business Head, Citi Russia

natalia Belaya
Cash Management Head for Citi Russia & CEE, Client Delivery Head 
for Citi Russia & CIS

Management 
Board
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Board 
of Directors

Andrey Kurilin
Chairman 
Chief Operating Officer for Citi Russia

Richard Smith
Compliance Cluster Head for Citi Russia, Ukraine, Kazakhstan, 
Turkey, Greece and Israel

Allan levy
Chief Financial Officer, Citi Russia & CIS (till September 2012)

Amit Sah
Consumer Banking Head, Citi Russia (till November 2012)

Michael Berner
Consumer Banking Head, Citi Russia (from November 2012)
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Auditors’ Report

To the Shareholder and the Board of Directors of ZAO Citibank

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of ZAO Citibank (the 

Bank), which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 

2012, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity 

and cash flows for 2012, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the fair presentation of these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with Russian Federal Auditing Standards and International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require 

that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant 

to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 

also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 

management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to express an opinion on the fair presentation of 

these financial statements.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank as at 31 December 

2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 2012 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Lukashova N.V. 

Director,  

Power of attorney dated 1 October 2010 No. 41/10, 

License No. 01-000456

ZAO KPMG 

Moscow, Russian Federation 

14 Мay 2013

ZAO KPMG
10 Presnenskaya Naberezhnaya 
Moscow, Russia 123317 
Telephone +7 (495) 937 4477
Fax +7 (495) 937 4400/99
Internet www.kpmg.ru

audited entity: Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial bank 
“Citibank”. 
Registered by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation on 
1 November 1993, Registration No. 2557. Re-registered as Closed Joint 
Stock Company Commercial bank “Citibank” on 5 November 2001.
Entered in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities on 14 November 
2002 by Moscow Inter-Regional Tax Inspectorate No. 39 of the Ministry 
of Taxes and Duties of the Russian Federation, Registration No. 
1027700431296, Certificate series 77 No. 00480345.
Address of the audited entity: 8/10, building 1, Gasheka street, Moscow 
125047, Russian Federation.

independent auditor: ZAO KPMG, a company incorporated under the Laws of the Russian 
Federation, a part of the KPMG Europe LLP group, and a member firm of the KPMG network 
of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG 
International”), a Swiss entity.
Registered by the Moscow Registration Chamber on 25 May 1992, Registration No. 011.585.
Entered in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities on 13 August 2002 by Moscow Inter-
Regional Tax Inspectorate No. 39 of the Ministry of Taxes and Duties of the Russian Federation, 
Registration No. 1027700125628, Certificate series 77 No. 005721432.
Member of the Non-commercial Partnership “Chamber of Auditors of Russia”. The Principal 
Registration Number of the Entry in the State Register of Auditors and Audit Organisations: 
No.10301000804.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 December 2012

Notes
2012 

USD’000
2011 

USD’000

Interest income 4 718,116  626,880 

Interest expense 4 (169,877) (110,911)

net interest income 548,239  515,969 

Fees and commissions income 5 251,800  238,133 

Fees and commissions expense 5 (105,759) (89,753)

net fees and commissions 146,041  148,380 

Net gains on securities 6 25,536  10,088 

Net foreign exchange income 7 152,039  123,854 

Other income 20,272  18,741 

Total non-interest income 343,888  301,063 

Gross income 892,127  817,032 

Impairment losses on loans to customers 13 (31,924) (21,603)

Impairment losses on other assets (2,576) - 

General administrative expenses 8 (499,777) (447,038)

Profit before income tax 357,850  348,391 

Income tax expense 9 (71,001) (56,859)

Profit for the period 286,849  291,532 

other comprehensive income (loss)

Revaluation reserve for financial instruments available-for-sale:

-   net change in fair value of financial instruments available-for-sale, net of tax 52,243  (42,350)

-   net change in fair value of financial instruments available-for-sale transferred to 
profit or loss, net of tax 365  (17,688)

Foreign currency translation differences 97,391  (92,222)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 149,999  (152,260)

Total comprehensive income for the period 436,848  139,272 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Bank on 14 May 2013.

Zdenek Turek Jonathan Warren 

President Chief Financial Officer

The statement of comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of, the financial statements.

ZAO Citibank  
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 31 December 2012

Notes
2012 

USD’000
2011 

USD’000

asseTs

Cash and cash equivalents 10 1,068,208  402,615 

Mandatory reserve deposit in the Central Bank of the Russian Federation 111,620  100,276 

Loans and deposits with banks and other financial institutions 11 1,820,893  1,626,401 

Financial instruments held for trading 12 615,221  442,822 

Loans to customers 13 3,661,209  2,804,731 

Financial instruments available-for-sale 14 3,505,686  3,444,805 

Other assets 87,119  103,876 

Property and equipment 15 64,866  71,752 

Goodwill 16 6,578  6,205 

Deferred tax asset 9 -  85 

Total assets 10,941,400  9,003,568 

liabiliTies 

Financial instruments held for trading 12 219,562  164,690 

Due to the Central Bank of the Russian Federation 17 599,291  74,279 

Deposits and balances from banks and other financial institutions 18 944,010  740,931 

Current accounts and deposits from customers 19 7,260,439  6,433,481 

Other liabilities 21 143,316  102,045 

Deferred tax liability 9 1,957  - 

Total liabilities 9,168,575  7,515,426 

eQuiTy

Share capital 22 75,644  75,644 

Additional paid in capital 22 50,000  50,000 

Revaluation reserve for financial instruments available-for-sale 11,889  (40,719)

Foreign currency translation reserve (79,747) (177,138)

Retained earnings 1,715,039  1,580,355 

Total equity 1,772,825  1,488,142 

Total liabilities and equity 10,941,400  9,003,568 

Zdenek Turek Jonathan Warren 

President Chief Financial Officer

The statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of, the financial statements.

ZAO Citibank  
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Notes
2012 

USD’000
2011 

USD’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and fee and commission receipts 948,246  828,219 

Interest and fee and commission payments (276,897) (198,223)

Net receipts from foreign exchange 79,463  33,320 

Net receipts from securities 26,542  9,124 

Other receipts 20,630  18,738 

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (480,742) (422,090)

Operating cash flows before changes in operating assets and liabilities 317,242  269,088 

(increase) decrease in operating assets

Due from the Central Bank of the Russian Federation (5,202) (45,366)

Loans and deposits with banks and other financial institutions (99,201) 117,923

Financial instruments held for trading (90,451) 36,076 

Loans to customers (718,983) (1,023,165)

Financial instruments available-for-sale 187,562  (1,068,940)

Other assets 3,100  (22,172)

increase (decrease) in operating liabilities

Due to the Central Bank of the Russian Federation 508,494  - 

Deposits and balances from banks and other financial institutions 160,063  (19,489)

Current accounts and deposits from customers 555,917  778,410 

Other liabilities 49,886  10,694 

net cash provided from (used in) operating activities before income tax paid 868,427  (966,941)

Income tax paid (77,881) (52,107)

net cash provided from (used in) operating activities 790,546  (1,019,048)

Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2012

ZAO Citibank  
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Notes
2012 

USD’000
2011 

USD’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Net purchases of property and equipment (4,863) (20,042)

net cash used in investing activities (4,863) (20,042)

Cash flows from financing activities

Dividends paid (152,165) - 

net cash used in financing activities (152,165) - 

net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 633,518  (1,039,090)

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents 32,075  14,416 

Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the period 402,615  1,427,289 

Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the period 10 1,068,208  402,615 

Zdenek Turek Jonathan Warren 

President Chief Financial Officer

The statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of, the financial statements.

ZAO Citibank  
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2012

USD’000 Share capital
Additional paid in 

capital

Revaluation 
reserve for 

financial 
instruments 

available-for-sale

Foreign currency 
translation 

reserve Retained earnings Total

Balance as at 1 January 2011 75,644  50,000  19,319  (84,916) 1,288,823  1,348,870 

Profit for the period -  -  -  -  291,532  291,532 

Other comprehensive loss

Net change in fair value of financial 
instruments available-for-sale, 
net of tax -  -  (42,350) -  -  (42,350)

Net change in fair value of financial 
instruments available-for-sale 
transferred to profit or loss, 
net of tax -  -  (17,688) -  -  (17,688)

Change in foreign currency 
translation reserve -  -  -  (92,222) -  (92,222)

Total other comprehensive loss -  -  (60,038) (92,222) -  (152,260)

Total comprehensive income 
for the period -  - (60,038) (92,222) 291,532  139,272 

Balance as at 31 December 2011 75,644  50,000  (40,719) (177,138) 1,580,355  1,488,142 

Profit for the period -  -  -  -  286,849  286,849 

other comprehensive income

Net change in fair value of financial 
instruments available-for-sale, 
net of tax -  -  52,243  -  -  52,243 

Net change in fair value of financial 
instruments available-for-sale 
transferred to profit or loss, 
net of tax -  -  365  -  -  365 

Change in foreign currency 
translation reserve -  -  -  97,391  -  97,391 

Total other comprehensive income -  -  52,608  97,391  -  149,999 

Total comprehensive income 
for the period -  -  52,608  97,391  286,849  436,848 

Dividends paid -  -  -  -  (152,165) (152,165)

Balance as at 31 December 2012 75,644  50,000  11,889  (79,747) 1,715,039  1,772,825 

Zdenek Turek Jonathan Warren 

President Chief Financial Officer

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to, and forming part of, the financial statements.

ZAO Citibank  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2012

1. Background

(a) Organisation and operations

ZAO Citibank (the Bank) was established in the Russian Federation as a limited liability company and in 1993 was granted its general 

banking licence. The Bank converted to a closed joint-stock company in November 2001 and is a part of the international financial 

company, Citigroup, headquartered in the United States and operating in over 100 countries. The principal activities of the Bank are 

deposit taking, lending, and foreign exchange and securities transactions, which are conducted through its head office in Moscow 

and branch in St.-Petersburg. As at 31 December 2012, the Bank also has branches in Samara, Rostov-on-Don, Ekaterinburg, Nizhny 

Novgorod, Volgograd and Ufa, which provide banking services to individuals. The activities of the Bank are regulated by the Central 

Bank of the Russian Federation (the CBRF). The Bank became a member of the state deposit insurance system in the Russian 

Federation on 3 February 2005.

The Bank’s registered office is 8-10, building 1, Gasheka str., Moscow, 125047, Russian Federation. 

(b)  Russian business environment

The Bank’s operations are primarily located in the Russian Federation. Consequently, the Bank is exposed to the economic and 

financial markets of the Russian Federation which display characteristics of an emerging market. The legal, tax and regulatory 

frameworks continue development, but are subject to varying interpretations and frequent changes which together with other legal 

and fiscal impediments contribute to the challenges faced by entities operating in the Russian Federation. In addition, the contraction 

in the capital and credit markets and its impact on the Russian economy have further increased the level of economic uncertainty in 

the environment. The financial statements reflect management’s assessment of the impact of the Russian business environment on 

the operations and the financial position of the Bank. The future business environment may differ from management’s assessment.

2. Basis of preparation

(a) Statement of compliance

The accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS).

(b) Basis of measurement

These financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that financial instruments held for trading and available-

for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair value.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in USD since management believes that the USD is more relevant for the users of the 

financial statements.

The financial statements are translated from Russian Roubles (RUB) (the functional currency) to US dollars (USD) (the 

presentation currency) as follows:

 ■ assets and liabilities are translated from the functional to the presentation currency at the exchange rate effective at the 

reporting date

 ■ equity items are translated from functional to presentation currency at the historical exchange rates

 ■ statement of comprehensive income transactions are translated from functional to presentation currency at the approximate 

rates ruling at the dates of transactions

 ■ all resulting exchange differences are recognised as “translation reserve”, which is a separate component of equity.

ZAO Citibank  
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ZAO Citibank   Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

The closing rate of exchange effective at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 was 30.3727 RUB/USD and 32.1961 RUB/USD, 

respectively.

Financial information presented in USD is rounded to the nearest thousand.

(d) Goodwill

Goodwill arises from acquisitions of subsidiaries. 

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be 

impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. 

(e) Convertibility of the Rouble

The Russian Rouble is not a convertible currency outside of the Russian Federation. Accordingly, any conversion of Russian Rouble 

amounts to US dollars should not be construed as a representation of what Russian Rouble amounts have been, could be, or will be in 

future, if converted into US dollars at the exchange rate shown, or at any other exchange rate.

(f) Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 

Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 

period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments in applying accounting policies is 

described in note 13, loan impairment estimates.

(g) Changes in accounting policies and presentation

With effect from 1 January 2012, the Bank retrospectively changed its accounting policies in the following area:

Amendments to IFRS 7 - Disclosures - Transfers of financial assets which relate to disclosure requirements for transfers of financial 

assets and are designated to enable the users of financial statements to better understand the nature of the risks and rewards 

associated with these assets. The amendments did not have any impact on the Bank’s financial position or performance.

3. Significant accounting policies

The following significant accounting policies are applied in the preparation of the financial statements. The accounting policies are 

consistently applied by the Bank to all periods presented in these financial statements except the changes described above. Future 

changes in accounting policies are described at the end of this note.

(a) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Bank at exchange rates at the dates of the 

transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the 

functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between 

amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the 

period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period. Foreign 

currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for differences arising on the retranslation of 

available-for-sale equity instruments or qualifying cash flow hedges, which are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
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(b) Cash and cash equivalents

The Bank includes cash and nostro accounts with the CBRF and nostro accounts with banks and other financial institutions in cash 

and cash equivalents. The mandatory reserve deposit with the CBRF is not considered to be a cash equivalent due to restrictions on 

its withdrawability.

(c) Financial instruments

(i) Classification

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets or liabilities that are:

 ■ acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term

 ■ part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual 

pattern of short-term profit-taking

 ■ derivative financial instruments (except for derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective hedging 

instruments) or, 

 ■ upon initial recognition, designated by the Bank as at fair value through profit or loss.

The Bank may designate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss where either:

 ■ the assets or liabilities are managed, evaluated and reported internally on a fair value basis

 ■ the designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise or,

 ■ the asset or liability contains an embedded derivative that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required 

under the contract.

All trading derivatives in a net receivable position (positive fair value), as well as options purchased, are reported as assets. All 

trading derivatives in a net payable position (negative fair value), as well as options written, are reported as liabilities.

Management determines the appropriate classification of financial instruments in this category at the time of the initial recognition. 

Derivative financial instruments and financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition 

are not reclassified out of the at fair value through profit or loss category. Financial assets that would have met the definition of 

loans and receivables may be reclassified out of the at fair value through profit or loss or available-for-sale category if the Bank has 

an intention and ability to hold them for the foreseeble future or until maturity. Other financial instruments may be reclassified out 

of the at fair value through profit or loss category only in rare circumstances. Rare circumstances arise from a single event that is 

unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near term.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 

market, other than those that the Bank:

 ■ intends to sell immediately or in the near term

 ■ upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss

 ■ upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale, or

 ■ may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit deterioration.

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the 

Bank has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than those that:

 ■ the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss

 ■ the Bank designates as available-for-sale, or

 ■ meet the definition of loans and receivables.

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not 

classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.
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(ii) Recognition

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Bank becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases of financial assets are accounted for at the settlement date.

(iii) Measurement 

A financial asset or liability is initially measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or liability not at fair value 

through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or liability.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets, including derivatives that are assets, are measured at their fair values, without any 

deduction for transaction costs that may be incurred on sale or other disposal, except for: 

 ■ loans and receivables which are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method

 ■ held-to-maturity investments that are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method

 ■ investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be 

reliably measured, which are measured at cost. 

All financial liabilities, other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss and financial liabilities that arise when 

a transfer of a financial asset carried at fair value does not qualify for derecognition, are measured at amortised cost. 

(iv) Amortised cost

The amortised cost of a financial asset or liability is the amount at which the financial asset or liability is measured at initial 

recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 

difference between the initial amount recognised and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment. Premiums and 

discounts, including initial transaction costs, are included in the carrying amount of the related instrument and amortised based on 

the effective interest rate of the instrument.

(v) Fair value measurement principles 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 

arm’s length transaction on the measurement date. 

When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using quoted prices in an active market for that instrument. 

A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available and represent actual and regularly occurring 

market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

 If a market for a financial instrument is not active, the Bank establishes fair value using a valuation technique. Valuation techniques 

include using recent arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties (if available), reference to the current fair 

value of other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analyses and option pricing models. The chosen 

valuation technique makes maximum use of market inputs, relies as little as possible on estimates specific to the Bank, incorporates 

all factors that market participants would consider in setting a price, and is consistent with accepted economic methodologies for 

pricing financial instruments. Inputs to valuation techniques reasonably represent market expectations and measures of the risk-

return factors inherent in the financial instrument.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is the transaction price, i.e., the fair value of the 

consideration given or received, unless the fair value of that instrument is evidenced by comparison with other observable current 

market transactions in the same instrument (i.e., without modification or repackaging) or based on a valuation technique whose 

variables include only data from observable markets. When transaction price provides the best evidence of fair value at initial 

recognition, the financial instrument is initially measured at the transaction price and any difference between this price and the 

value initially obtained from a valuation model is subsequently recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the 

instrument but not later than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or the transaction is closed out.

Assets and long positions are measured at a bid price; liabilities and short positions are measured at an asking price. Where the 

Bank has positions with offsetting risks, mid-market prices are used to measure the offsetting risk positions and a bid or asking price 

adjustment is applied only to the net open position as appropriate. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include 

adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Bank and the counterparty where appropriate. Fair value estimates obtained 
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from models are adjusted for any other factors, such as liquidity risk or model uncertainties, to the extent that management believes 

a third-party market participant would take them into account in pricing a transaction.

(vi) Gains and losses on subsequent measurement

A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or liability is recognised as follows: 

 ■ a gain or loss on a financial instrument classified as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in profit or loss

 ■ a gain or loss on an available-for-sale financial asset is recognized as other comprehensive income in equity (except for 

impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses on debt financial instruments available-for-sale) until the asset is 

derecognized, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in profit or loss. Interest in 

relation to an available-for-sale financial asset is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

For financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss when the financial asset or 

liability is derecognised or impaired, and through the amortisation process.

(vii) Derecognition

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when it 

transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 

are transferred or in which the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and it does 

not retain control of the financial asset. Any interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created 

or retained by the Bank is recognised as a separate asset or liability in the statement of financial position. The Bank derecognises 

a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire.

The Bank enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of financial position, but retains either 

all risks and rewards of the transferred assets or a portion of them. If all or substantially all risks and rewards are retained, then the 

transferred assets are not derecognised. 

In transactions where the Bank neither retains nor transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset, 

it derecognises the asset if control over the asset is lost. 

In transfers where control over the asset is retained, the Bank continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing 

involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred assets.

If the Bank purchases its own debt, it is removed from the statement of financial position and the difference between the carrying 

amount of the liability and the consideration paid is included in gains or losses arising from early retirement of debt.

The Bank writes off assets deemed to be uncollectible.

(viii) Derivative instruments

Derivative financial instruments include swaps, forwards, futures, spot transactions and options in interest rates, foreign exchanges, 

precious metals and stock markets, and any combinations of these instruments.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured 

at fair value. All derivatives are carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (a host contract). An embedded derivative is separated from the 

host contract and is accounted for as a derivative if, and only if the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative 

are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, a separate instrument with the same terms as 

the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the combined instrument is not measured at fair value with 

changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Derivatives embedded in financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through 

profit or loss are not separated.

Although the Bank trades in derivative instruments for risk hedging purposes, these instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting.
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(d) Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Securities sold under sale and repurchase (repo) agreements are accounted for as secured financing transactions, with the 

securities retained in the statement of financial position and the counterparty liability included in amounts payable under repo 

transactions within deposits and balances from banks and other financial institutions or current accounts and deposits from 

customers, as appropriate. The difference between the sale and repurchase prices represents interest expense and is recognised in 

profit or loss over the term of the repo agreement using the effective interest method.

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repo) are recorded as amounts receivable under reverse repo transactions 

within loans and deposits with banks and other financial institutions or loans to customers, as appropriate. The difference between 

the purchase and resale prices represents interest income and is recognised in profit or loss over the term of the reverse repo 

agreement using the effective interest method.

If assets purchased under agreement to resell are sold to third parties, the obligation to return securities is recorded as a trading 

liability and measured at fair value.

(e) Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally 

enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle 

the liability simultaneously.

(f) Property and equipment

(i) Owned assets

Items of property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Where an item of property 

and equipment comprises major components having different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of property and 

equipment.

(ii) leased assets

Leases in terms of which the Bank assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. 

Property and equipment acquired by way of a finance lease is stated at the amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present 

value of the minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

When assets are sold under a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is recognised as a receivable. The difference 

between the present value of the receivable and the gross receivable represents unearned finance income. Unearned finance income 

is recognised over the term of the lease using the effective interest method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.

Leases in terms of which the Bank does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating 

leases and lease payments are expensed as incurred.

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the individual assets. Depreciation 

commences on the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed assets, from the time an asset is completed and ready 

for use. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 50 years

Equipment 3 to 12 years

Leasehold improvements 5 to 10 years
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(g) Impairment

(i) Financial assets carried at amortised cost 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost consist principally of loans and other receivables (loans and receivables). The  Bank 

reviews its loans and receivables to assess impairment on a regular basis. A loan or receivable is impaired and impairment losses 

are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 

recognition of the loan or receivable and that event (or events) has had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the loan 

that can be reliably estimated. 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a borrower, breach of loan covenants 

or conditions, restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not otherwise consider, indications 

that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security, deterioration in the value of 

collateral, or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the 

group, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the group.

Management first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for loans and receivables that are 

individually significant, and individually or collectively for loans and receivables that are not individually significant. If management 

determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed loan or receivable, whether significant or 

not, it includes the loan in a group of loans and receivables with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for 

impairment. Loans and receivables that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to 

be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a loan or receivable has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured 

as the difference between the carrying amount of the loan or receivable and the present value of estimated future cash flows 

including amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral discounted at the loan or receivable’s original effective interest rate. 

Contractual cash flows and historical loss experience adjusted on the basis of relevant observable data that reflect current economic 

conditions provide the basis for estimating expected cash flows.

In some cases the observable data required to estimate the amount of an impairment loss on a loan or receivable may be limited or 

no longer fully relevant to current circumstances. This may be the case when a borrower is in financial difficulties and there is little 

available historical data relating to similar borrowers. In such cases, the Bank uses its experience and judgment to estimate the 

amount of any impairment loss. 

All impairment losses in respect of loans and receivables are recognised in profit or loss and are only reversed if a subsequent 

increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

When a loan is uncollectable, it is written off against the related allowance for loan impairment. The Bank writes off a loan balance 

(and any related allowances for loan impairment) when management determines that the loans are uncollectible and when all 

necessary steps to collect the loan are completed. 

(ii) Financial assets carried at cost

Financial assets carried at cost include unquoted equity instruments included in available-for-sale financial assets that are not carried 

at fair value because their fair value can not be reliably measured. If there is objective evidence that such investments are impaired, 

the impairment loss is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the investment and the present value of the 

estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. 

All impairment losses respect of these investments are recognised in profit or loss and can not be reversed.

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised by transferring the cumulative loss that is recognised 

in other comprehensive income to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from 

other comprehensive income to profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and 

amortisation, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss. Changes in impairment 

allowance attributable to time value are reflected as a component of interest income. 
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For an investment in an equity security available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective 

evidence of impairment.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the increase can be objectively 

related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed, with the 

amount of the reversal recognised in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-

sale equity security is recognised in other comprehensive income.

(iv) non financial assets

Other non financial assets, other than deferred taxes, are assessed at each reporting date for any indications of impairment. The 

recoverable amount of goodwill is estimated at each reporting date. The recoverable amount of non financial assets is the greater 

of their fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 

their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 

risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the 

recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognised when 

the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount.

All impairment losses in respect of non financial assets are recognized in profit or loss and reversed only if there has been a change 

in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. Any impairment loss reversed is only reversed to the extent that the 

asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, 

if no impairment loss had been recognised. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

(h) Provisions

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the Bank has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of 

a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, 

provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Bank has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the 

restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating costs are not provided for.

(i) Taxation

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items 

of other comprehensive income or transactions with shareholder recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised within 

other comprehensive income or directly within equity.

Current tax expense is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at 

the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 

reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for the following temporary 

differences: goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting 

nor taxable profit and temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries where the parent is able to control the timing of 

the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on 

the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which 

the temporary differences, unused tax losses and credits can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no 

longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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(j) Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are 

recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Dividends 

The ability of the Bank to declare and pay dividends is subject to the rules and regulations of the Russian legislation.

Dividends in relation to ordinary shares are reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings in the period when they are declared.

(k) Credit related commitments

In the normal course of business, the Bank enters into credit related commitments, comprising undrawn loan commitments, letters of 

credit and guarantees, and provides other forms of credit insurance. 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs 

because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

A financial guarantee liability is recognised initially at fair value net of associated transaction costs, and is measured subsequently at 

the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation or the amount of provision for losses under the guarantee. 

Provisions for losses under financial guarantees and other credit related commitments are recognised when losses are considered 

probable and can be measured reliably. 

Financial guarantee liabilities and provisions for other credit related commitment are included in other liabilities.

Loan commitments are not recognised, except for the followings:

 ■ loan commitments that the Bank designates as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

 ■ if the Bank has a past practice of selling the assets resulting from its loan commitments shortly after origination, then the loan 

commitments in the same class are treated as derivative instruments

 ■ loan commitments that can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument 

 ■ commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate.

(l) Income and expense recognition

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

Loan origination fees, loan servicing fees and other fees that are considered to be integral to the overall profitability of a loan, 

together with the related transaction costs, are deferred and amortised to interest income over the estimated life of the financial 

instrument using the effective interest method.

Other fees, commissions and other income and expense items are recognised in profit or loss when the corresponding service is 

provided.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the dividend is declared.

Net gains on securities include gains and losses arising from disposals and changes in the fair value of financial instruments held for 

trading and realised gains on financial instruments available-for-sale. 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease 

incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease.



56     FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   International Financial Reporting Standards

ZAO Citibank   Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

(m) Changes in presentation

The following reclassifications in the statement of financial position are made as at 31 December 2011 to present them in accordance 

with the form of the presentation as at 31 December 2012.

The effects of reclassifications in the statement of financial position are as follows:

RUB’000
As previously 

reported Reclassifications As reclassified

asseTs

Cash 174,705  (174,705) - 

Cash and cash equivalents -  402,615  402,615 

Mandatory reserve deposit with the Central Bank of the Russian Federation -  100,276  100,276 

Due from the Central Bank of the Russian Federation 116,603  (116,603) - 

Loans and deposits with banks and other financial institutions 1,837,984  (211,583) 1,626,401 

Management decided not to present the statement of financial positions as at 31 December 2010, as the effect of the above 

reclassifications to the presentation of the financial position of the Bank is considered not significant.

(n) new standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective as at 31 December 2012, and 

are not applied in preparing these financial statements. Of these pronouncements, potentially the following will have an impact 

on the Bank’s financial position and performance. The Bank plans to adopt these pronouncements when they become effective. 

Management has not yet analyzed the likely impact of these new standards on its financial statements.

 ■ Amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income. The 

amendment requires that an entity present separately items of other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or 

loss in the future from those that will never be reclassified to profit or loss. Additionally, the amendment changes the title of the 

statement of comprehensive income to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. However, the use of other 

titles is permitted. The amendment shall be applied retrospectively from 1 July 2012 and early adoption is permitted.

 ■ IAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits. The amended standard will introduce a number of significant changes to IAS 19. First, the 

corridor method is removed and, therefore, all changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation and in the fair 

value of plan assets will be recognised immediately as they occur. Secondly, the amendment will eliminate the current ability for 

entities to recognise all changes in the defined benefit obligation and in plan assets in profit or loss. Thirdly, the expected return 

on plan assets recognised in profit or loss will be calculated based on the rate used to discount the defined benefit obligation. The 

amended standard shall be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and early adoption is permitted. The 

amendment generally applies retrospectively.

 ■ Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities contain new 

disclosure requirements for financial assets and liabilities that are offset in the statement of financial position or subject to 

master netting arrangements or similar agreements. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2013, and are to be applied retrospectively.

 ■ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. The new standard is to 

be issued in phases and is intended ultimately to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The first 

phase of IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and relates to the classification and measurement of financial assets. The second 

phase regarding classification and measurement of financial liabilities was published in October 2010. The remaining parts of 

the standard are expected to be issued during 2013. The Bank recognises that the new standard introduces many changes to the 

accounting for financial instruments and is likely to have a significant impact on the financial statements. The impact of these 

changes will be analysed during the course of the project as further phases of the standard are issued. The Bank does not intend 

to adopt this standard early.

 ■ IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The new standard 

replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRSs with a single source of fair value measurement 
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guidance. It provides a revised definition of fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and sets out disclosure 

requirements for fair value measurements. IFRS 13 does not introduce new requirements to measure assets or liabilities at fair 

value, nor does it eliminate the practicability exceptions to fair value measurement that currently exist in certain standards. The 

standard is applied prospectively with early adoption permitted. Comparative disclosure information is not required for periods 

before the date of initial application.

 ■ Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities do not introduce 

new rules for offsetting financial assets and liabilities; rather they clarify the offsetting criteria to address inconsistencies in 

their application. The amendments specify that an entity currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off if that right is not 

contingent on a future event; and enforceable both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or 

bankruptcy of the entity and all counterparties. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2014, and are to be applied retrospectively.

Various Improvements to IFRSs have been dealt with on a standard–by–standard basis. All amendments, which result in accounting 

changes for presentation, recognition or measurement purposes, will come into effect not earlier than 1 January 2013. The Bank has 

not yet analysed the likely impact of the improvements on its financial position or performance.

4. Interest income and interest expense

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

interest income

Loans to customers 341,161 288,351 

Financial instruments held for trading and available-for-sale 288,327 264,777 

Placements with banks and other financial institutions and amounts receivable under reverse 
repurchase agreements 88,628 73,752 

718,116 626,880 

interest expense

Current accounts and deposits from customers 137,612 99,902 

Deposits and balances from banks and other financial institutions and amounts payable under 
repurchase agreements 32,265 11,009 

169,877 110,911 
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5. Fees and commissions income and fees and commissions expense

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Fees and commissions income

Settlement fees 72,810 63,542 

Annual credit card maintenance fees 32,663 29,655 

Commissions from insurance companies 31,092 28,718 

Guarantees and letters of credit fees 30,336 30,144 

Cash withdrawal fees 23,351 24,555 

Transaction processing fees 19,534 13,928 

Custody fees 13,911 16,420 

Credit card late payment fees 8,388 8,986 

Brokerage and underwriting fees 4,896 7,396 

Cash transaction fees 4,256 4,169 

Investment fund fees 3,740 4,672 

Other 6,823 5,948 

251,800 238,133 

Fees and commissions expense

Settlement fees 53,984 44,305 

Franchise fees 13,674 10,002 

Insurance fees 10,613 11,035 

Funds transfer fees 9,657 8,594 

Guarantees received fees 4,211 3,935 

Customs card transaction fees 3,079 5,020 

Other 10,541 6,862 

105,759 89,753 

6. net gains on securities

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Realised and unrealised net gain (loss) from financial instruments held for trading 25,992  (12,022)

Realised net (loss) gain from financial instruments available-for-sale (456) 22,110 

25,536  10,088 

7. net foreign exchange income

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Income arising from foreign exchange spot contracts and translation 96,754  121,520 

Income from foreign exchange contracts 55,285  2,334 

152,039  123,854 
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8. General administrative expenses

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Employee compensation and social insurance expenses 192,215  179,759 

Intercompany charges for retail information technical support and other services 92,413  67,537 

Taxes other than income tax 44,226  37,902 

Occupancy 37,157  36,633 

Repairs and maintenance 18,009  13,129 

Outsourcing costs 26,981  21,950 

Depreciation 15,627  18,533 

Communications and information services 10,493  6,903 

Advertising and marketing 9,666  17,543 

Insurance 9,575  6,400 

Travel 3,290  3,482 

Security 2,098  2,309 

Professional services 1,256  4,970 

Other 36,771  29,988 

499,777  447,038 

9. Income tax expense

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Current tax expense

Current year 83,369  52,107 

Deferred tax (benefit) expense

Reversal and origination of temporary differences (12,368)  4,752 

Total income tax expense 71,001  56,859 

In 2012 and 2011 the applicable tax rate for current and deferred tax is 20%.

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The reconciliation between the expected tax expense to the actual income tax expense is as follows.

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Profit before tax 357,850  348,391 

Income tax expense at the applicable statutory tax rate 71,570  20%  69,678  20% 

Non-deductible costs 12,440  4%  9,136  3% 

Income taxed at lower tax rates (13,009) (4%) (12,280) (4%)

Over provided in prior years -  -  (5,055) (1%)

Non-taxable income -  -  (4,620) (1%)

Income tax expense 71,001  20%  56,859  17% 

Deferred tax asset and liability

Temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used 

for taxation purposes give rise to net deferred tax liability as at 31 December 2012 and net deferred tax asset as at 31 December 2011. 
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Movements in temporary differences during the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 are presented as follows:

USD’000
Balance  

1 January 2012
Recognised in 

profit or loss

Recognised 
in other  

comprehensive  
 income

Effect of foreign 
currency 

translation
Balance  

 31 December 2012

Financial instruments held for trading (8,221) 5,013  -  (376) (3,584)

Loans to customers (3,010) 575  -  (167) (2,602)

Financial instruments available-for-sale 10,374  (14,368) 282  (3,712)

Other assets (6,698) 7,520  -  (5)  817 

Property and equipment 895  (129) -  (167) 599 

Other liabilities 6,745  (611) -  391  6,525 

85  12,368  (14,368) (42) (1,957)

USD’000
Balance  

1 January 2011
Recognised in 

profit or loss

Recognised 
in other  

comprehensive  
 income

Effect of foreign 
currency 

translation
Balance  

 31 December 2011

Financial instruments held for trading (4,900) (3,927) -  606  (8,221)

Loans to customers (4,556) 1,427  -  119  (3,010)

Financial instruments available-for-sale (3,514) -  15,010  (1,122) 10,374 

Other assets (4,549) (2,621) -  472  (6,698)

Property and equipment 853  96  -  (54) 895 

Other liabilities 6,864  273  -   (392) 6,745 

(9,802) (4,752) 15,010  (371) 85 

Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income

The tax effects relating to components of other comprehensive income comprise:

USD ’000

2012 2011

Amount 
before tax

Tax  
expense

Amount 
 net-of-tax

Amount  
before tax

Tax  
benefit

Amount  
net-of-tax

Net change in fair value of financial 
instruments available-for-sale 66,520  (14,277) 52,243  (52,938) 10,588  (42,350)

Net change in fair value of financial 
instruments available-for-sale 
transferred to profit or loss 456  (91) 365  (22,110) 4,422  (17,688)

Other comprehensive income 66,976  (14,368) 52,608  (75,048) 15,010  (60,038)
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10. Cash and cash equivalents

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Cash 195,585 174,705 

nostro accounts with the CBRF 448,397 16,327 

nostro accounts with banks and other financial institutions

Citigroup entities 210,669  12,263 

Other Russian banks and financial institutions

 MICEX group 137,300  149,433 

 Other banks and financial institutions 15,182  11,842 

OECD banks 53,274  30,985 

Large Russian banks 7,801  7,060 

Total nostro accounts with banks and other financial institutions 424,226  211,583 

1,068,208  402,615 

As at 31 December 2012, no cash and cash equivalents are impaired or past due. 

11. loans and deposits with banks and other financial institutions 

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

loans and deposits

Large Russian banks 539,865  459,924 

Other Russian banks and financial institutions 534,640  554,666 

Citigroup entities 297,169  453,010 

OECD banks 50,431  15,286 

1,422,105  1,482,886 

amounts receivable under reverse repurchase agreements

Large Russian banks 362,348  63,608 

Other financial institutions 36,440  41,385 

Other Russian banks -  38,522 

398,788  143,515 

1,820,893  1,626,401 

The Bank includes 30 largest Russian banks in terms of total assets in large Russian banks.

As at 31 December 2012, no loans and deposits with banks and other financial institutions are impaired or past due. As at 

31 December 2012, the fair value of financial assets collateralizing reverse repurchase agreements amounts to USD 434,280 thousand 

(31 December 2011: USD 148,233 thousand).
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Significant exposures for loans and deposits with banks and other financial institutions and amounts receivable 
under reverse repurchase agreements

As at 31 December 2012 and 2011, exposures to banks and other financial institutions and amounts receivable under reverse 

repurchase agreements, which individually comprised more than 10% of loans and deposits with banks and other financial institutions 

and amounts receivable under reverse repurchase agreements, are as follows:

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Rosselkhozbank 496,379  - 

Citibank Jersey 250,003  - 

Citibank London -  453,010 

746,382  453,010 

12. Financial instruments held for trading

Financial assets held for trading 

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Debt and other fixed income securities

Russian Government GKO/OFZ 321,677  226,778 

FSK UES 12,202  1,895 

Rosselkhozbank 11,632  8,472 

Vnesheconombank 6,599  - 

Gazpromneft 4,210  738 

Agency on Mortgage Crediting (AIZhK) 3,199  5,872 

Center-Invest Bank 1,176  - 

Vimpelcom 1,022  - 

Vneshtorgbank 444  7,755 

Renaissance Capital 353  - 

OTP Bank 319  4,320 

Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation Eurobonds 229  143 

Credit Europe Bank 157  276 

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 116  97 

Bank Uralsib 90  - 

Gazprom -  656 

Russian Standard Bank -  110 

363,425  257,112 

Derivative financial instruments

Foreign exchange contracts 246,977  184,721 

Interest rate swaps 4,819  989 

251,796  185,710 

615,221  442,822 

As at 31 December 2012, no financial assets held for trading are impaired or past due.
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Financial liabilities held for trading

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Derivative financial instruments

Foreign exchange contracts 214,743  163,164 

Interest rate swaps 4,819  1,526 

219,562  164,690 

As at 31 December 2012 and 2011, the majority of foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps are entered into with other 

Citigroup entities. 

Interest rate swaps
2012

Fair value

Notional amount
USD’000

Asset
USD’000

Liability
USD’000

Interest rate swaps 1,206,599  4,819  (4,819)

2011

Fair value

Notional amount
USD’000

Asset
USD’000

Liability
USD’000

Interest rate swaps 1,397,820  989  (1,526)
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Foreign exchange contracts

The table below summarises, by major currencies, the contractual amounts of forward exchange contracts outstanding at 

31 December 2012 and 2011 with details of the contractual exchange rates. Foreign currency amounts presented below are translated 

at rates ruling at the reporting date. The resultant unrealised gains and losses on these unmatured contracts are recognised in profit 

or loss and in financial instruments at fair value though profit or loss, as appropriate. 

2012 2011

Nominal 
buy amount Gain (loss)

Weighted average 
contracted

Nominal 
buy amount Gain (loss)

Weighted average 
contracted

USD ’000 USD ’000 exchange rate USD’000 USD ’000 exchange rate

Spot foreign exchange contracts 
to buy British Pounds and sell 
US Dollars 8,721  -  0.62  8,900  (263) 0.63 

Spot foreign exchange contracts 
to buy US Dollars and sell British 
Pounds 7,820  6  1.61  17  -  1.54 

Spot foreign exchange contracts to 
buy US Dollars and sell Euro 42,934  20  1.33  44,884  1,686  1.35 

Spot foreign exchange contracts to 
buy Euro and sell US Dollars 80,908  (48) 0.75  246,743  (14,775) 0.73 

Spot foreign exchange contracts to 
buy US Dollars and sell Roubles 582,442  (658) 0.03  292,205  3,590  0.03 

Spot foreign exchange contracts to 
buy Roubles and sell US Dollars 224,701  361  30.42  127,137  (492) 32.01 

Spot foreign exchange contracts to 
buy Euro and sell Roubles 54,213  91  0.02  282,529  1,122  0.02 

Spot foreign exchange contracts to 
buy Roubles and sell Euro 39,735  42  40.27  16,828  (294) 41.69 

Spot foreign exchange contracts 
to buy Japanese Yens and sell 
US Dollars 30  -  86.03  -  -  - 

Spot foreign exchange contracts 
to buy Swedish kronor and sell 
US Dollars 1  -  6.48  -  -  - 

Spot foreign exchange contracts 
to buy Danish Krone and sell 
US Dollars 33  -  5.65  6  -  5.74 

Spot forward exchange contracts to 
buy Roubles and sell British Pounds 901  1  49.09  -  -  - 

Spot foreign exchange contracts to 
buy British Pounds and sell Euro -  -  -  20  -  0.84 

Spot foreign exchange contracts to 
buy Swiss Francs and sell US Dollars -  -  -  4,511  (178) 0.90 

Spot foreign exchange contracts to 
buy US Dollars and sell Kazakhstani 
tenge -  -  -  32,279  150  0.01 

Spot foreign exchange contracts 
to buy Norwegian Krone and sell 
US Dollars -  -  -  34  -  6.02 

Spot foreign exchange contracts to 
buy Polish Zloty and sell US Dollars -  -  -  52  -  3.42 

Spot foreign exchange contracts 
to buy US Dollars and sell Swiss 
Francs -  -  -  19  -  1.06 
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2012 2011

Nominal 
buy amount Gain (loss)

Weighted average 
contracted

Nominal 
buy amount Gain (loss)

Weighted average 
contracted

USD ’000 USD ’000 exchange rate USD’000 USD ’000 exchange rate

Spot foreign exchange contracts 
to buy Czeck Crowns and sell 
US Dollars -  -  -  43  -  19.93 

Non-deliverable forward contracts 
to buy Roubles and sell US Dollars 227,000  6,386  31.74  218,674  (11,289) 30.68 

Non-deliverable forward contracts 
to buy US Dollars and sell Roubles 86,102  (1,130) 0.03  39,232  498  0.03 

Non-deliverable forward contracts 
to buy US Dollars and sell Euro 1,907,278  43,660  1.35  -  -  - 

Non-deliverable forward contracts 
to buy Euro and sell US Dollars 1,954,426  (43,610) 0.74  -  -  - 

Non-deliverable forward contracts 
to buy Roubles and sell Euro 24,264  324  41.32  -  -  - 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy US Dollars and sell Euro 334,699  (17,682) 1.25  284,718  (13,122) 1.25 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy Euro and sell US Dollars 365,258  9,250  0.77  224,022  (10,181) 0.74 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy US Dollars and sell Roubles 2,525,962  (102,027) 0.03  2,262,991  104,922  0.03 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy Roubles and sell US Dollars 2,543,130  118,401  32.79  2,214,625  (64,301) 31.62 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy Roubles and sell Euro 745,200  11,456  41.52  945,626  473  42.03 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy Euro and sell Roubles 627,975  6,919  0.02  429,645  23,632  0.02 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy Roubles and sell British Pounds 9,980  145  49.96  8,894  (18) 49.88 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy US Dollars and sell Swiss Francs 3,812  (206) 1.04  3,112  (146) 1.04 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy Swiss Francs and sell Roubles 4,214  (122) 0.03  3,562  135  0.03 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy Kazakhstani Tenge and sell 
Roubles 22,724  (129) 4.92  32,155  280  4.65 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy Roubles and sell Swiss Francs 7,951  304  34.90  6,033  138  36.29 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy Swiss Francs and sell US Dollars 7,232  158  0.93  633  (10) 0.93 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy British Pounds and sell Roubles 2,285  (117) 0.02  -  -  - 

Deliverable forward contracts 
to buy British Pounds and sell 
US Dollars 7,825  (6) 0.62  -  -  - 

Deliverable forward contracts 
to buy Japanese Yens and sell 
US Dollars 15,968  (1,057) 80.60  -  -  - 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy US Dollars and sell Kazakhstani 
Tenge 22,598  (144) 0.01  -  -  - 

Deliverable forward contracts to 
buy Roubles and sell Japanese Yens 14,897  1,646  0.40  -  -  - 
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13. loans to customers

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

loans to legal entities

Loans to global corporates 1,816,901  1,551,167 

Loans to local corporates 570,751  310,419 

2,387,652  1,861,586 

loans to individuals

Consumer loans 711,220  584,429 

Credit cards 580,443  455,829 

Mortgage loans 18,770  21,829 

Staff loans 738  455 

Overdrafts 367  397 

1,311,538  1,062,939 

gross loans to customers 3,699,190  2,924,525 

Impairment allowance (37,981) (119,794)

3,661,209  2,804,731 

Movements in the loan impairment allowance for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 119,794  116,901 

Net charge 31,924  21,603 

Write-offs (118,866) (11,594)

Effect of foreign currency translation 5,129  (7,116)

Balance at the end of the year 37,981  119,794 
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Credit quality of loans to legal entities

The Bank reviewed its loan portfolio to legal entities and did not identify loans that have indicators of impairment as at 31 December 

2012.

Global corporates are international public companies, generally with investment grade ratings, for which no defaults have occurred. 

Local corporates are generally large-scale entities established in Russia, for which the Bank has not experienced late payments.

The following table provides information on the credit quality of the loans to legal entities as at 31 December 2012: 

Gross loans
Impairment 

allowance Net loans
Impairment to 

gross loans

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 %

loans to global corporates

Standard loans non-impaired 1,816,901  15,807  1,801,094  0.9 

loans to local corporates

Standard loans non-impaired 570,751  4,966  565,785  0.9 

Total loans to legal entities 2,387,652  20,773  2,366,879  0.9 

The following table provides information on the credit quality of the loans to legal entities as at 31 December 2011: 

Gross loans
Impairment 

allowance Net loans
Impairment to 

gross loans

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 %

loans to global corporates

Standard loans non-impaired 1,551,167  15,512  1,535,655  1.0 

loans to local corporates

Standard loans non-impaired 310,419  3,104  307,315  1.0 

Total loans to legal entities 1,861,586  18,616  1,842,970  1.0 

The Bank estimates loan impairment based on its past historical loss experience on these types of loans, and assumes 0.9% collective 

rate to cover incurred but unknown losses. 

Changes in these estimates could affect the loan impairment allowance. For example, to the extent that the net present value of 

the estimated cash flows differs by plus/minus one percent, the impairment allowance on loans to legal entities as at 31 December 

2012 would be USD 23,669 thousand lower/higher (31 December 2011: USD 18,430 thousand).

Analysis of movements in the impairment allowance for loans to legal entities

Movements in the loan impairment allowance for loans to legal entities for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

2012 
USD’000

2011 
USD’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 18,616  10,358 

Net charge 1,015  9,796 

Write-offs -  (141)

Effect of foreign currency translation 1,142  (1,397)

Balance at the end of the year 20,773  18,616 
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Credit quality of loans to individuals

The following table provides information on the credit quality of loans to individuals collectively assessed for impairment as at 

31 December 2012: 

Gross loans
Impairment 

allowance Net loans
Impairment 

to gross loans

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 %

Consumer loans 

Not overdue 688,249  2,697  685,552  0.4 

Overdue less than 30 days 15,089  1,081  14,008  7.2 

Overdue 30-59 days 2,971  767  2,204  25.8 

Overdue 60-89 days 2,634  908  1,726  34.5 

Overdue 90-120 days 2,269  1,491  778  65.7 

Overdue more than 120 days 8  8  -  100.0 

Total consumer loans 711,220  6,952  704,268  1.0 

Credit cards

Not overdue 558,684  1,181  557,503  0.2 

Overdue less than 30 days 10,082  1,138  8,944  11.3 

Overdue 30-59 days 3,476  1,277  2,199  36.7 

Overdue 60-89 days 2,391  1,264  1,127  52.9 

Overdue 90-119 days 1,921  1,394  527  72.6 

Overdue 120-149 days 1,506  1,208  298  80.2 

Overdue 150-180 days 1,295  1,192  103  92.0 

Overdue more than 180 days 1,088  1,088  -  100.0 

Total credit cards 580,443  9,742  570,701  1.7 

mortgage loans

Not overdue 18,132  5  18,127  0.0 

Overdue 638  339  299  53.2 

Total mortgage loans 18,770  344  18,426  1.8 

staff loans

Not overdue 738  7  731  1.0 

Total staff loans 738  7  731  1.0 

overdrafts

Not overdue 165  10  155  6.1 

Overdue 202  153  49  75.7 

Total overdrafts 367  163  204  44.5 

Total loans to individuals 1,311,538  17,208  1,294,330  1.3 
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The following table provides information on the credit quality of loans to individuals collectively assessed for impairment as at 

31 December 2011: 

Gross loans
Impairment 

allowance Net loans
Impairment 

to gross loans

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 %

Consumer loans 

Not overdue 472,670  248  472,422  0.1

Overdue less than 30 days 12,651  171  12,480  1.3

Overdue 30-59 days 3,114  241  2,873  7.7

Overdue 60-89 days 2,189  211  1,978  9.6

Overdue 90-120 days 1,730  267  1,463  15.4

Overdue more than 120 days 92,075  92,075  -  100.0

Total consumer loans 584,429  93,213  491,216  15.9

Credit cards

Not overdue 439,459  794  438,665  0.2

Overdue less than 30 days 6,373  617  5,756  9.7

Overdue 30-59 days 2,604  773  1,831  29.7

Overdue 60-89 days 1,875  785  1,090  41.8

Overdue 90-119 days 1,510  914  596  60.5

Overdue 120-149 days 1,298  859  439  66.2

Overdue 150-180 days 1,095  894  201  81.6

Overdue more than 180 days 1,615  1,615  -  100.0

Total credit cards 455,829  7,251  448,578  1.6

mortgage loans

Not overdue 21,122  39  21,083  0.2

Overdue 707  484  223  68.4

Total mortgage loans 21,829  523  21,306  2.4

staff loans

Not overdue 392  4  388  1.0

Overdue 63  46  17  72.4

Total staff loans 455  50  405  10.9

overdrafts

Not overdue 212  15  197  6.9

Overdue 185  126  59  68.6

Total overdrafts 397  141  256  35.6

Total loans to individuals 1,062,939  101,178  961,761  9.5

The Bank estimates loan impairment based on its past historical loss experience on these types of loans. 

The significant assumptions used in determining the impairment losses for loans to individuals include management’s assumption 

that loss migration rates are constant and can be estimated based on a 12 month historic loss migration pattern, considering the 

current economic environment.
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Changes in these estimates could affect the loan impairment allowance. For example, to the extent that the net present value of 

the estimated cash flows differs by plus/minus one percent, the impairment allowance on loans to individuals as at 31 December 

2012 would be USD 12,943 thousand lower/higher (31 December 2011: USD 9,618 thousand).

Analysis of movements in the impairment allowance for loans to individuals

Movements in the loan impairment allowance by classes of loans to individuals for the year ended 31 December 2012 are as follows:

Consumer loans Credit cards Mortgage loans Staff loans Overdrafts Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 93,213  7,251  523  50  141  101,178 

Net charge (recovery) 16,684  14,461  (205) (44) 13  30,909 

Write-offs (106,416) (12,450) -  -  -  (118,866)

Effect of foreign currency translation 3,471  480  26  1  9  3,987 

Balance at the end of the year 6,952  9,742  344  7  163  17,208 

During 2012 the Bank changed its Consumer Bank and Risk Policy. According to the Policy the Bank writes off consumer loans with 

overdue of more than 120 days against impairment allowance.

Movements in the loan impairment allowance by classes of loans to individuals for the year ended 31 December 2011 are as follows:

Consumer loans Credit cards Mortgage loans Staff loans Overdrafts Total

USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000 USD’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 96,446  9,588  167  211  131  106,543 

Net charge (recovery) 2,103  9,220  399  (164) 249  11,807 

Write-offs -  (11,222) -  -  (231) (11,453)

Effect of foreign currency translation (5,336) (335) (43) 3  (8) (5,719)

Balance at the end of the year 93,213  7,251  523  50  141  101,178 

Industry and geographical analysis of the loan portfolio

Loans to customers were issued primarily to customers located within the Russian Federation who operate in the following economic 

sectors:

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Individuals 1,311,538  1,062,939 

Manufacturing 843,479  843,467 

Trade 891,420  617,962 

Telecommunication 291,286  137,134 

Energy 8,287  25,997 

Other 353,180  237,026 

Gross loans to customers 3,699,190  2,924,525 

Impairment allowance (37,981) (119,794)

3,661,209  2,804,731 

Analysis of collateral

loans to legal entities

Loans issued to global corporates with a net carrying amount of USD 1,589,671 thousand (31 December 

2011: USD 1,309,020 thousand) are secured by guarantees of parent companies and/or other Citigroup entities. Loans to global 

corporates with a net carrying amount of USD 211,423 thousand (31 December 2011: USD 226,635 thousand) are not secured. Loans 

to local corporates are not secured.
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loans to individuals

Mortgage loans are secured by underlying residential property. Credit cards, overdrafts and consumer loans are not secured.

For mortgage loans with a net carrying amount of USD 18,426 thousand (31 December 2011: USD 21,306 thousand) management 

believes that the fair value of collateral is at least equal to the carrying amount of individual loans at the reporting date.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Bank did not obtain assets by taking possession of collateral for loans to individuals (2011: nil).

loan maturities

The maturity of the loan portfolio is presented in note 30, which shows the remaining periods from the reporting date to the 

contractual maturities of the loans. Due to the short-term nature of more than the half of the loans issued by the Bank, it is likely that 

the loans will be prolonged at maturity. Accordingly, the effective maturity of the loan portfolio may be significantly longer than the 

term based on contractual terms.

14. Financial instruments available-for-sale
2012 

USD ’000
2011 

USD ’000

unpledged

Debt and other fixed income securities  

Russian Government GKO/OFZ 2,450,826 3,149,241 

Rosselkhozbank 128,745 97,892 

Vnesheconombank 110,971 - 

Moscow Region government 53,361 - 

Agency on Mortgage Crediting (AIZhK) 43,570 9,727 

European Bank for Reconstruction and Development 35,554 33,380 

Vneshtorgbank Eurobonds 27,821 29,608 

Gazprom Eurobonds 23,014 32,553 

Rossiyskie Zheleznye Dorogi (RZhD) 13,608 - 

Sberbank Eurobonds 3,577 - 

Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation Eurobonds 532 569 

Moscow government - 10,176 

Gazprom  - 2,169 

equity securities

National Bureau of Credit Histories 145 137 

Pledged under sale and repurchase agreements

Debt and other fixed income securities

Russian Government GKO/OFZ 611,446 -

Rosselkhozbank 2,516 -

Pledged under overnight loans

Debt and other fixed income securities

Moscow government - 58,438 

Russian Government GKO/OFZ - 11,852 

Agency on Mortgage Crediting (AIZhK) - 9,063 

3,505,686 3,444,805 

As at 31 December 2012, no financial instruments available-for-sale are impaired or past due.
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15. Property and equipment

USD ’000

Land, buildings 
and leasehold 

improvements Equipment Total

Cost

At 1 January 2012 79,332  98,305  177,637 

Additions 1,387  3,476  4,863 

Disposals -  (3,921) (3,921)

Effect of foreign currency translation 4,795  5,890  10,685 

At 31 December 2012 85,514  103,750  189,264 

Depreciation 

At 1 January 2012 (30,572) (75,313) (105,885)

Depreciation charge (7,241) (8,386) (15,627)

Disposals -  3,751  3,751 

Effect of foreign currency translation (2,005) (4,632) (6,637)

At 31 December 2012 (39,818) (84,580) (124,398)

Carrying value at 31 December 2012 45,696  19,170  64,866 

USD ’000

Land, buildings 
and leasehold 

improvements Equipment Total

Cost

At 1 January 2011 77,522  99,891  177,413 

Additions 7,091  12,951  20,042 

Disposals (623) (8,823) (9,446)

Effect of foreign currency translation (4,658) (5,714) (10,372)

At 31 December 2011 79,332  98,305  177,637 

Depreciation 

At 1 January 2011 (24,865) (69,853) (94,718)

Depreciation charge (7,687) (10,846) (18,533)

Disposals -  784  784 

Effect of foreign currency translation 1,980  4,602  6,582 

At 31 December 2011 (30,572) (75,313) (105,885)

Carrying value at 31 December 2011 48,760  22,992  71,752 

16. Goodwill 

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of ABN-Amro’s custody business in January of 2005.



ZAO CITIBANK   ANNUAL REPORT 2012        73 

ZAO Citibank   Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

17. Due to the Central Bank of the Russian Federation

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Amounts payable under repurchase agreements 599,291  - 

Loans received from the CBRF -  74,279 

599,291  74,279 

18. Deposits and balances from banks and other financial institutions

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Vostro accounts 501,038  383,303 

Term deposits 442,972  357,628 

944,010  740,931 

Concentration of deposits and balances from banks and other financial institutions and amounts payable under 
repurchase agreements

As at 31 December 2012 and 2011, exposures that individually comprise more than 10% of deposits and balances from banks and other 

financial institutions are as follows:

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Citibank London -  156,617 

Vneshtorgbank -  93,190 

-  249,807 

19. Current accounts and deposits from customers

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Current accounts and demand deposits 5,479,531  4,551,817 

Term deposits 1,780,908  1,881,664 

7,260,439  6,433,481 

As at 31 December 2012 and 2011, there are no current accounts and demand or term deposits from customers that individually 

exceed 10% of total customer accounts.

20. Transfer of financial assets

As at 31 December 2012, transferred financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety comprise:

Financial instruments available-for-sale

2012
USD ’000

2011
USD ’000

Carrying amount of assets 613,962  - 

Carrying amount of associated liabilities 599,291  - 

The Bank has transactions to lend securities and to sell securities under agreements to repurchase and to purchase securities under 

agreements to resell. 

The securities lent or sold under agreements to repurchase are transferred to a third party and the Bank receives cash in exchange. 

These financial assets may be repledged or resold by counterparties in the absence of default by the Bank, but the counterparty has 

an obligation to return the securities at the maturity of the contract. The Bank has determined that it retains substantially all the 
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risks and rewards of these securities and therefore has not derecognised them. These securities are presented as “pledged under 

sale and repurchase agreements” in note 14. In addition, the Bank recognises a financial liability for cash received as collateral 

included in deposits and balances from banks and other financial institutions.

These transactions are conducted under terms that are usual and customary to standard lending, and securities borrowing and 

lending activities, as well as requirements determined by exchanges where the Bank acts as intermediary.

21. Other liabilities

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Settlements  95,334 40,341 

Accrued expenses 44,744 46,016 

Taxes payable 1,433 12,213 

Other payables 1,805 3,475 

143,316 102,045 

22. Share capital 

The Bank converted from a limited liability company to a closed joint-stock company in November 2001. In conjunction with this 

change in legal form, the Bank issued 1,000 ordinary shares at RUB 1 million per share in exchange for the partner’s previous interest 

and USD 25,644 thousand in retained earnings. In accordance with the Charter documents the Bank has right to issue additional 

6,000 ordinary shares at RUB 1 million per share and 2,000 preference shares at RUB 1 million per share. At 31 December 2012, 

1,000 ordinary shares remain issued and outstanding. The Bank received additional paid in capital of USD 50,000 thousand from 

Citigroup in 2007, however no additional shares were issued. 

On 26 December 2012, according to the decision of the sole shareholder the Bank declared dividends in the amount of 

USD 152 thousand per share from retained earnings (USD 152,165 thousand in total). These dividends were paid to Citigroup 

Netherlands B.V. on 27 December 2012.

23. Risk management

Management of risk is fundamental to the business of banking and is an essential element of the Bank’s operations. The major risks 

faced by the Bank are those related to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Risk management policies and procedures 

The risk management policies aim to identify, analyse and manage the risks faced and to set appropriate risk limits and controls, 

and to continuously monitor risk levels and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and procedures are reviewed regularly to 

reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered and emerging best practice. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the oversight of the risk management framework, overseeing the management 

of key risks and reviewing its risk management policies and procedures as well as approving significantly large exposures.

The Management Board is responsible for monitoring and implementation of risk mitigation measures and making sure that the Bank 

operates within the established risk parameters. The Head of the Risk Department is responsible for the overall risk management 

and compliance functions, ensuring the implementation of common principles and methods for identifying, measuring, managing and 

reporting both financial and non-financial risks. He reports directly to the President and indirectly to the Board of Directors.

Credit, market and liquidity risks both at the portfolio and transactional levels are managed and controlled through a system of 

Credit Committees and an Asset and Liability Management Committee (the ALCO). In order to facilitate efficient and effective 

decision-making, the Bank has established a hierarchy of Credit Committees depending on the type and amount of the exposure.
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Both external and internal risk factors are identified and managed throughout the organisation. Particular attention is given to 

identifying the full range of risk factors and determination of the level of assurance over the current risk mitigation procedures. 

Apart from the standard credit and market risk analysis, the Risk Department monitors financial and non-financial risks by holding 

regular meetings with operational units in order to obtain expert judgments in their areas of expertise. 

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. Market risk comprises currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risks. Market risk arises from open positions in interest 

rate, currency and equity financial instruments, which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the 

level of volatility of market prices.

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, whilst 

optimizing the return on risk.

Overall authority for market risk is vested in the ALCO, which is chaired by the President. Market risk limits are approved based on 

recommendations of the Risk Department’s Market Risk Management Division. 

The Bank manages its market risk by setting open position limits in relation to financial instruments, interest rate maturity and 

currency positions and stop-loss limits. They are monitored and reassessed on a regular basis.

The Bank monitors market risks by modelling the result of a fixed change in the monitored market factor while keeping other factors 

constant. The potential change in the portfolio value is then defined depending on the current sensitivity of the opened position to 

the changes in the market factors.

In addition, the Bank uses a wide range of stress tests to model the financial impact of a variety of exceptional market scenarios on 

individual trading portfolios and the overall position. Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise 

in extreme conditions. The stress tests carried out by the Bank include risk factor stress testing, where stress movements are applied 

to each risk category and ad hoc stress testing, which includes applying possible stress events to specific positions. 

The Bank also utilizes Value-at-Risk (VAR) methodology to monitor market risk of its trading positions. The Bank does not solely rely 

on its VAR calculations in its market risk measurement due to inherent risk of usage of VAR. The limitations of the VAR methodology 

are recognised by supplementing VAR limits with other position and sensitivity limit structures, including limits to address potential 

concentration risks within each trading portfolio, and gap analysis. 

Interest rate risk

The Bank is exposed to interest rate risk as its interest bearing assets and liabilities have different maturity dates, periods of interest 

rate changes and volumes during these periods. For variable interest rates, the Bank is exposed to a basis risk due to the different 

mechanisms of setting different interest rates, such as Libor or MosPrime. The interest rate risk management activities are aimed at 

optimising net interest income in accordance with the Bank’s strategy.

The Bank holds trading positions in various financial instruments. The majority of business activities are conducted based on 

the requirements of customers. In accordance with the estimated demand from customers, the Bank holds a supply of financial 

instruments and maintains access to the financial markets through the quoting of bid and ask prices and by trading with other market 

makers. These positions are also held for the purpose of speculation on the expected future developments of financial markets. The 

speculative expectation and market making thus aims to maximize net income from trading.
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An analysis of sensitivity of profit or loss and equity (net of taxes) as a result of changes in the fair value of financial instruments 

as at 31 December 2012 and 2011 due to changes in the interest rates based on a simplified scenario of a 100 basis point (bp) 

symmetrical fall or rise in all yield curves is as follows:

2012 2011

Profit or loss 
USD ’000

Equity 
USD ’000

Profit or loss 
USD ’000

Equity 
USD ’000

100 bp parallel increase (14,336) (84,318) (6,468) (62,418)

100 bp parallel decrease 14,336  84,318  6,468  62,418 

An analysis of sensitivity of profit or loss and equity (net of taxes) to changes in interest rate repricing risk based on a simplified 

scenario of a 100 basis point (bp) symmetrical fall or rise in all yield curves and positions of all interest-bearing assets and liabilities 

existing as at 31 December 2012 and 2011 is as follows:

2012 2011

Profit or loss 
USD ’000

Equity 
USD ’000

Profit or loss 
USD ’000

Equity 
USD ’000

100 bp parallel increase (56,706) (56,706) (37,731) (37,731)

100 bp parallel decrease 56,706  56,706  37,731  37,731 

Currency risk

The Bank has assets and liabilities denominated in several foreign currencies. Foreign currency risk arises when the actual or 

forecasted assets in a foreign currency are either greater or less than the liabilities in that currency. For further information on the 

exposure to currency risk at year end refer to note 31.

The measurement of the currency risk is based on the currency exposure in the individual currencies. The currency exposure 

calculated for individual currencies is subject to the simulation of a standardised change in the currency rate in comparison with 

the functional currency (appreciation of the currency monitored), and the value of the currency exposure at the new level of the 

currency rate is calculated. The difference between the calculated values represents the potential change in the value of the portfolio 

in a particular currency and is compared with the limit. The limits are usually symmetrical, i.e. limiting the maximum long and short 

position to the same extent.

A more comprehensive approach is provided by the calculation of VAR. The Bank also carries out stress testing of the currency risk 

while adhering to the same methodology, but the fixed movement in exchange rates is replaced with the movement in currency rates 

defined for stress testing purposes.

The Bank sets currency risk limits based on its net currency exposure in individual currencies and with respect to the total currency 

exposure. 

An analysis of sensitivity of profit or loss and equity (net of taxes) to changes in the foreign currency exchange rates based on 

positions existing as at 31 December 2012 and 2011 and a simplified scenario of a 5% change in USD and other currencies to Russian 

Rouble exchange rates is as follows:

2012 2011

Profit or loss 
USD ’000

Equity 
USD ’000

Profit or loss 
USD ’000

Equity 
USD ’000

5% appreciation of USD against RUB 9,880  9,880  7,722  7,722 

5% depreciation of USD against RUB (9,880) (9,880) (7,722) (7,722)

5% appreciation of other currencies against RUB 2,762  2,762  (234) (234)

5% depreciation of other currencies against RUB (2,762) (2,762) 234  234 

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Bank if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 

obligations. The Bank has developed policies and procedures for the management of credit exposures (both for recognised financial 
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assets and unrecognised contractual commitments), including guidelines to limit portfolio concentration and the establishment of 

a Credit Committees, which actively monitors credit risk. The credit policy is reviewed and approved by the Management Board.

The credit policy establishes:

 ■ procedures for review and approval of loan applications

 ■ methodology for the credit assessment of borrowers (legal entities and individuals)

 ■ methodology for the credit assessment of counterparties, issuers and insurance companies

 ■ methodology for the evaluation of collateral

 ■ credit documentation requirements

 ■ procedures for the ongoing monitoring of loans and other credit exposures.

Corporate loan applications are originated by the relevant client managers and are then passed on to the Loan Department, which is 

responsible for the corporate loan portfolio. Analysis reports are based on a structured analysis focusing on the customer’s business 

and financial performance. The loan application and the report are then independently reviewed by the Risk Department’s Credit Risk 

Management Division and a second opinion is given accompanied by a verification that credit policy requirements are met. The Credit 

Committee reviews the loan application on the basis of submissions by the Loan Department and the Risk Department. Individual 

transactions are also reviewed by the Legal, Accounting and Tax departments depending on the specific risks and pending final 

approval of the Credit Committee.

The Bank continuously monitors the performance of individual credit exposures and regularly reassesses the creditworthiness of 

its borrowers. The review is based on the customer’s most recent financial statements and other information submitted by the 

borrower, or otherwise obtained by the Bank. 

Retail loan applications are reviewed by the Retail Lending Division through the use of scoring models and application data 

verification procedures developed together with the Risk Department.

Apart from individual customer analysis, the whole credit portfolio is assessed by the Risk Department with regard to credit 

concentration and market risks. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is generally reflected in the carrying amounts of financial assets in the statement of financial 

position and unrecognised contractual commitment amounts. The impact of possible netting of assets and liabilities to reduce 

potential credit exposure is not significant.

The maximum exposure to credit risk from financial assets at the reporting date is as follows:

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

asseTs

Cash and cash equivalents 872,623  227,910 

Loans and deposits with banks and other financial institutions 1,820,893  1,626,401 

Financial instruments held for trading 615,221  442,822 

Loans to customers 3,661,209  2,804,731 

Financial instruments available-for-sale 3,505,686  3,444,805 

Other assets 87,119  103,876 

Total maximum exposure to credit risk 10,562,751  8,597,340 

The maximum exposure to credit risk from unrecognised contractual commitments at the reporting date is presented in note 24.

The Bank monitors concentrations of credit risk by industry/sector and by geographic location. For the analysis of concentration of 

credit risk in respect of loans to customers refer to note 13.

As at 31 December 2012, the Bank has debt securities issued by the Government of the Russian Federation (31 December 2011: debt 

securities issued by the Government of the Russian Federation), credit risk exposure to whom exceeds 10% of maximum credit risk 

exposure. The credit risk exposure for these financial instruments as at 31 December 2012 is USD 3,384,710 thousand (31 December 

2011: USD 3,387,871 thousand).
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liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are 

settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk exists when the maturities of assets and liabilities do not match. 

The matching and/or controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to liquidity 

management. It is unusual for financial institutions ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of an uncertain 

term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of losses.

The Bank maintains liquidity management with the objective of ensuring that funds will be available at all times to honor all cash flow 

obligations as they become due. The liquidity policy is reviewed and approved by the Management Board. 

The Bank seeks to actively support a diversified and stable funding base comprising long-term and short-term loans from other 

Citigroup entities, core corporate and retail customer deposits, accompanied by diversified portfolios of highly liquid assets, in order 

to be able to respond quickly and smoothly to unforeseen liquidity requirements. 

The liquidity management policy requires:

 ■ projecting cash flows by major currencies and considering the level of liquid assets necessary in relation thereto

 ■ maintaining a diverse range of funding sources

 ■ managing the concentration and profile of debts

 ■ maintaining debt financing plans

 ■ maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any interruption to cash flow

 ■ maintaining liquidity and funding contingency plans

 ■ monitoring liquidity ratios against regulatory requirements. 

The Bank monitors daily its liquidity position. Liquidity reports covering the liquidity position of the Bank along with the stress testing 

simulations are regularly presented to the ALCO.

The Bank also calculates mandatory liquidity ratios on a daily basis in accordance with the requirements of the CBRF. The Bank is in 

compliance with these ratios during the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011. 

The following table shows the mandatory liquidity ratios calculated as at 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Requirement 2012, % 2011, %

Instant liquidity ratio (N2) Not less than 15% 74.1   111.7   

Current liquidity ratio (N3) Not less than 50% 78.0   92.6   

Long-term liquidity ratio (N4) Not more than 120% 33.4   35.9   

The following tables show the undiscounted cash flows from financial liabilities and credit related commitments on the basis of their 

earliest possible contractual maturity. The total gross inflow and outflow disclosed in the tables is the contractual, undiscounted cash 

flow on the financial liability or commitment. These expected cash flows can vary significantly from the actual future cash flows.
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The liquidity position as at 31 December 2012 is as follows:

USD ’000
Less than 

1 month
1 to  

3 months
3 to  

6 months
6 months 
to 1 year

More than  
1 year

Total gross 
outflow (inflow)

Carrying 
amount

non-derivative liabilities

Due to the Central Bank of the 
Russian Federation 599,291  -  -  -  -  599,291  599,291 

Deposits and balances from 
banks and other financial 
institutions 938,989  1,002  2,048  2,924  -  944,963  944,010 

Current accounts and deposits 
from customers 7,124,747  102,323  22,583  15,795  2,078 7,267,526  7,260,439 

Other liabilities 116,605  18,525  8,186  -  -  143,316  143,316 

Derivatives              

- Inflow (2,642,532) (1,611,552) (2,018,897) (1,445,436) (678,395) (8,396,812) (251,796)

- Outflow 2,632,341  1,596,588  2,003,201  1,376,045  651,768  8,259,943  219,562 

Total liabilities 8,769,441  106,886  17,121  (50,672) (24,549) 8,818,227  8,914,822 

Credit related commitments 2,368,117  -  -  -  -  2,368,117  2,368,117 

The liquidity position as at 31 December 2011 is as follows:

USD ’000
Less than 

1 month
1 to  

3 months
3 to  

6 months
6 months 
to 1 year

More than  
1 year

Total gross 
outflow (inflow)

Carrying 
amount

non-derivative liabilities

Due to the Central Bank of the 
Russian Federation 74,279  -  -  -  -  74 279  74,279 

Deposits and balances from 
banks and other financial 
institutions 734,661  4,467  319  1,973  -  741,420  740,931 

Current accounts and deposits 
from customers 6,320,260  81,096  23,164  10,404  2,407  6,437,331  6,433,481 

Other liabilities 75,845  6,766  19,269  165  -  102,045  102,045 

Derivatives

- Inflow (2,160,606) (2,115,837) (1,624,028) (678,728) (922,155) (7,501,354) (185,710)

- Outflow 2,152,919  2,101,655  1,649,021  676,883  905,871  7,486,349  164,690 

Total 7,197,358  78,147  67,745  10,697  (13,877) 7,340,070  7,329,716 

Credit related commitments 2,009,602  -  -  -  -  2,009,602  2,009,602 

For further information on the exposure to liquidity risk at year end refer to note 30. 
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24. Commitments

Guarantees and letters of credit

The Bank issues guarantees and letters of credit on behalf of its customers. These instruments bear a credit risk similar to that of 

loans granted. The amounts outstanding based on the contractual maturity of the instruments are as follows:

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

guarantees issued maturing in:

2012 - 425,526 

2013 312,807 42,923 

2014 64,844 17,607 

2015 2,066 138 

2016 6,483 6,483 

2018 2,743 2,743 

2021 70 70 

389,013 495,490 

letters of credit issued maturing in:

2012 - 28,266 

2013 76,149 3,655 

2014 8,604 - 

84,753 31,921 

The contractual maturity of the above instruments is the latest date that the Bank may be called to honour its obligation under the 

instrument.

Based on management’s estimate, no provisions are required against guarantees and letters of credit issued by the Bank.

Undrawn loan commitments

At 31 December 2012, the Bank had the following undrawn loan commitments:

USD’000
Loans to 

individuals
Loans to legal 

entities Total

Overdrafts 1,336  164,265  165,601 

Credit cards 1,408,934  50,954  1,459,888 

Loans and credit lines 1,280  267,582  268,862 

1,411,550  482,801  1,894,351 

At 31 December 2011, the Bank had the following undrawn loan commitments:

USD’000
Loans to 

individuals
Loans to legal 

entities Total

Overdrafts 2,916  317,773  320,689 

Credit cards 1,056,571  42,385  1,098,956 

Loans and credit lines 5,138  57,408  62,546 

1,064,625  417,566  1,482,191 
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leases as lessee

Future lease payments (net of VAT and operating costs) under operating leases in effect at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 

2011 are detailed below:

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Less than 1 year 39,196 35,317 

Between 1 and 5 years 157,402 150,185 

More than 5 years 94,818 109,725 

291,416 295,227 

During 2012 USD 37,157 thousand is recognized as an expense in profit or loss in respect of operating leases (2011: 

USD 36,633 thousand).

25. Contingencies

Taxation contingencies

The taxation system in the Russian Federation is relatively new and is characterised by frequent changes in legislation, official 

pronouncements and court decisions, which are often unclear, contradictory and subject to varying interpretation by different tax 

authorities. Taxes are subject to review and investigation by a number of authorities who have the authority to impose severe fines, 

penalties and interest charges. A tax year remains open for review by the tax authorities during the three subsequent calendar years; 

however, under certain circumstances a tax year may remain open longer. Recent events within the Russian Federation suggest that 

the tax authorities are taking a more assertive position in their interpretation and enforcement of tax legislation.

These circumstances may create tax risks in the Russian Federation that are substantially more significant than in other countries. 

Management believes that it has provided adequately for tax liabilities based on its interpretations of applicable Russian tax 

legislation, official pronouncements and court decisions. However, the interpretations of the relevant authorities could differ and the 

effect on the financial position, if the authorities were successful in enforcing their interpretations, could be significant.

Starting from 1 January 2012 new transfer pricing rules came into force in Russia. They provide the possibility for tax authorities to 

make transfer pricing adjustments and impose additional tax liabilities in respect of controllable transactions if their prices deviate 

from the market interval or profitability range. Given the short period since the current Russian transfer pricing rules became 

effective, the impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably estimated; however, it may be significant to the financial position and/

or the overall operations of the Bank.

Insurance

The insurance industry in the Russian Federation is in a developing state and many forms of insurance protection common in other 

parts of the world are not yet generally available. The Bank does not have full coverage for its premises and equipment, business 

interruption, or third party liability in respect of property or environmental damage arising from accidents on Bank’s property or 

relating to operations. Until the Bank obtains adequate insurance coverage, there is a risk that the loss or destruction of certain 

assets could have a material adverse effect on operations and financial position.

litigation

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank is subject to legal actions and complaints. Management believes that the ultimate 

liability, if any, arising from such actions or complaints, will not have a material adverse effect on the financial condition or the 

results of future operations of the Bank.
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26. Related party transactions

Control relationships

Since June 2012 the Bank’s parent is Citigroup Netherlands B.V. headquartered in the Netherlands.

The party with ultimate control over the Bank is Citigroup Inc., which produces publicly available financial statements.

Transactions with directors and executive officers

All remuneration is in the form of short term employee benefits. The total remuneration of directors and executive officers was 

USD 5,865 thousand and USD 5,917 thousand for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Loans to directors and executive officers totalled USD 990 thousand and USD 937 thousand at 31 December 2012 and 2011, 

respectively. The average effective interest rates for these loans were 8.0% and 7.8% at 31 December 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Transactions with other Citigroup entities

The following balances and average effective interest rates were outstanding with other Citigroup entities at 31 December 2012 and 2011:

2012 2011

Value
USD ’000

Average effective 
interest rate

Value
USD ’000

Average effective 
interest rate

Placements with banks and other financial institutions 507,838 0.53% 465,273  0.38%

Financial assets held for trading – derivatives 131,727 - 115,049  -

Deposits and balances from banks and other financial institutions 141,157 0.01% 240,011  0.80%

Financial liabilities held for trading – derivatives 164,077 - 129,970  -

Other liabilities 21 - 3,368  -

Amounts included in profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 in relation to transactions with other 

Citigroup entities are as follows:

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Interest income 20,023  24,068 

Interest expense (3,869) (7,291)

Fee and commission income 1,847  4,859 

Fee and commission expense (20,825) (17,008)

Other income 1,612  6,763 

General administrative expenses (92,413) (67,537)

In addition to the above, during the reporting periods the Bank concluded foreign exchange contracts with other Citigroup entities. 

Gains and losses from these contracts are included in profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011. In addition gains 

and losses on translation of foreign currency deposits and balances to/from Citigroup entities are also included in profit or loss for 

the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

Amounts of guarantees issued to other Citigroup entities as at 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Guarantees issued to other Citigroup entities 125,554 44,794 
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Amounts of guarantees received from other Citigroup entities as at 31 December 2012 and 2011 are as follows:

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

Guarantees received from other Citigroup entities for corporate loans issued and undrawn facilities 2,670,397 1,691,000 

27. Fair value of financial instruments

The estimated fair values of financial instruments held for trading and financial instruments available-for-sale are based on quoted 

market prices at the reporting date without any deduction for transaction costs. The estimated fair values of all other financial 

assets and liabilities are calculated using discounted cash flow techniques based on estimated future cash flows and discount rates 

for similar instruments at the reporting date. Management believes that the fair value of all financial instruments does not differ 

significantly from their carrying value.

The estimate of fair value is intended to approximate the amount for which a financial instrument can be exchanged between 

knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. However given the uncertainties and the use of subjective judgment, 

the fair value should not be interpreted as being realizable in an immediate sale of the assets or settlement of liabilities.

Fair value hierarchy

The Bank measures fair values for financial instruments recorded on the statement of financial position using the following fair value 

hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements:

level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument. 

level 2:  Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e, as prices) or indirectly (i.e, derived from prices). 

This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted 

prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques 

where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

level 3:  Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments where the valuation 

technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the 

instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments 

where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments.

The tables below analyse financial instruments measured at fair value at 31 December 2012 and 2011, by the level in the fair value 

hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised:

2012

Level 1
Quoted  market  

prices 
USD’000

Level 2
Valuation  techniques  based  on 

market  observable  inputs   
USD’000

Total  
USD’000

Financial instruments held for trading - assets 363,425 251,796 615,221

Financial instruments held for trading - liabilities - 219,562 219,562

Financial instruments available-for-sale 3,505,541 - 3,505,541

2011

Level 1   
Quoted  market  
prices  USD’000

Level 2
Valuation   techniques   based   on 

market   observable   inputs  USD’000
Total  

USD’000

Financial instruments held for trading - assets 257,112  185,710  442,822 

Financial instruments held for trading - liabilities -  164,690  164,690 

Financial instruments available-for-sale 3,444,668  -  3,444,668 

As at 31 December 2012 and 2011, the Bank does not have any financial instruments for which fair value is based on valuation 

techniques involving the use of non-market observable inputs.
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28. Capital management

The CBRF sets and monitors capital requirements for the Bank.

The Bank defines as capital those items defined by statutory regulation as capital for credit institutions. Under the current capital 

requirements set by the CBRF, banks have to maintain a ratio of capital to risk weighted assets (statutory capital ratio) above the 

prescribed minimum level. As at 31 December 2012, this minimum level is 10%. The Bank was in compliance with the statutory capital 

ratio during the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011.

The following table shows the capital position calculated in accordance with requirements set by the CBRF:

2012 2011

Capital in USD’000 1,680,874 1,342,298 

Statutory capital ratio in % 19.4 20.0 

29. Average effective interest rates

The table below displays average effective interest rates for interest bearing assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2012 and 2011. 

These interest rates are an approximation of the yields to maturity of these assets and liabilities.

2012 
Average effective interest rate

2011 
 Average effective interest rate

RUB USD
Other 

currencies RUB USD
Other 

currencies

interest bearing assets

Loans and deposits with banks and other financial 
institutions and amounts receivable under reverse 
repurchase agreements 6.2%  1.1%  -  7.1%  1.9%  0.4% 

Financial instruments held for trading 7.2%  8.9%  -  7.6%  7.5%  - 

Loans to customers 13.6%  2.2%  2.3%  13.9%  2.1%  3.2% 

Financial instruments available-for-sale 7.5%  5.8%  5.1%  7.6%  5.9%  6.2% 

interest bearing liabilities

Due to the Central Bank of the Russian Federation 5.6%  -  -  8.0%  -  - 

Deposits from banks and other financial institutions 
and amounts payable under repurchase agreements 5.1%  0.1%  -  4.5%  0.1%  - 

Current accounts and deposits from customers

- Current accounts and demand deposits 0.8%  0.3%  0.3%  0.6%  0.1%  0.1% 

- Term deposits 5.3%  0.2%  0.3%  4.7%  0.5%  0.7% 
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30. Maturity analysis 

The following table shows all assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2012 by their remaining contractual maturities with the 

exception of securities included in financial instruments held for trading and financial instruments available-for-sale. Such securities 

excluding equity securities are shown in the category “Less than 1 month” as management believes they are liquid assets which can 

be sold quickly in response to liquidity needs, if necessary.

USD ’000
Less than 

1 month 1 to 3 months 3 to 6 months
6 months to 

1 year
More than 

1 year No maturity Total

assets

Cash and cash equivalents 1,068,208  -  -  -  -  -  1,068,208 

Mandatory reserve deposit 
in the Central Bank of the Russian 
Federation 111,620  -  -  -  -  -  111,620 

Loans and deposits with banks 
and other financial institutions 881,738 144,612  62,264  521,224  211,055  -  1,820,893 

Financial instruments held for trading 383,716  47,323  91,496  84,525  8,161  -  615,221 

Loans to customers 1,838,394  265,103  220,118  182,464  1,155,130  -  3,661,209 

Financial instruments 
available-for-sale 3,505,541  -  -  -  -  145  3,505,686 

Other assets 44,078  9,107  4,621  6,229  23,084  -  87,119 

Property and equipment -  -  -  -  -  64,866  64,866 

Goodwill -  -  -  -  -  6,578  6,578 

Total assets 7,833,295  466,145  378,499  794,442  1,397,430  71,589  10,941,400 

liabilities

Financial instruments held for trading 29,926  36,573  68,906  71,687  12,470  -  219,562 

Due to the Central Bank 
of the Russian Federation 599,291  -  -  -  -  -  599,291 

Deposits and balances from banks 
and other financial institutions 938,244  992  2,008  2,766  -  -  944,010 

Current accounts and deposits 
from customers 7,118,639  101,806  22,300  15,630  2,064  -  7,260,439 

Other liabilities 116,605  18,525  8,186  -  -  -  143,316 

Deferred tax liability 1,957  -  -  -  -  -  1,957 

Total liabilities 8,804,662  157,896  101,400  90,083  14,534  -  9,168,575 

net position as at 31 December 2012 (971,367) 308,249  277,099  704,359  1,382,896  71,589  1,772,825 

Net position as at 31 December 2011 (629,453) 234,901  139,693  459,046  1,205,431  78,524  1,488,142 

Cumulative net position 
as at 31 December 2012 (971,367) (663,118) (386,019) 318,340  1,701,236  1,772,825  - 

Cumulative net position 
as at 31 December 2011 (629,453) (394,552) (254,859) 204,187  1,409,618  1,488,142  - 

Management uses deposits and other funds from Citigroup entities to manage the short term liquidity gap. In addition, based on the 

prior year experience, the management believes that current accounts and deposits from customers are stable source of finance for 

the Bank. Such liabilities are shown in the category “Less than 1 month”.
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As at 31 December 2012 and 2011 the contractual maturities of securities included in financial instruments held for trading and 

financial instruments available-for-sale are as follows:

2012 
USD ’000

2011 
USD ’000

On demand and less than 1 month 475,567  - 

From 1 to 3 months  422,722  - 

From 3 to 6 months  -  12,313 

From 6 months to  1 year  241,201  901,629 

More than 1 year  2,729,471  2,787,838 

3,868,961  3,701,780 
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31. Currency analysis

The following table shows the currency structure of assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2012.

USD ’000 RUB USD Other currencies Total

assets

Cash and cash equivalents 666,161  158,048  243,999 1,068,208 

Mandatory reserve deposit in the Central Bank of the Russian 
Federation 111,620  -  -  111,620 

Loans and deposits with banks and other financial institutions 1,240,432  476,153  104,308  1,820,893 

Financial instruments held for trading 384,102  154,642  76,477  615,221 

Loans to customers 2,949,456  677,434  34,319  3,661,209 

Financial instruments available-for-sale 3,449,730  38,954  17,002  3,505,686 

Other assets 55,917  3,375  27,827  87,119 

Property and equipment 64,866  -  -  64,866 

Goodwill 6,578  -  -  6,578 

Total assets 8,928,862  1,508,606  503,932  10,941,400 

liabilities

Financial instruments held for trading 118,079  64,578  36,905  219,562 

Due to the Central Bank of the Russian Federation 599,291  -  -  599,291 

Deposits and balances from banks and other financial institutions 815,527  121,101  7,382  944,010 

Current accounts and deposits from customers 5,738,353  1,143,338  378,748  7,260,439 

Other liabilities 130,729  11,001  1,586  143,316 

Deferred tax liability 1,957  -  -  1,957 

Total liabilities 7,403,936  1,340,018  424,621  9,168,575 

net recognized position as at 31 December 2012 1,524,926  168,588  79,311  1,772,825 

Effect of foreign currency exchange contracts as at 31 December 
2012 (68,158) 78,414  (10,256) - 

net position as at 31 December 2012 1,456,768  247,002  69,055  1,772,825 

Net position as at 31 December 2011 1,300,945  193,048  (5,851) 1,488,142 

Zdenek Turek Jonathan Warren 

President Chief Financial Officer
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Auditors’ report on the financial statements 
(annual report) of the Closed Joint Stock Company 
Commercial Bank “Citibank” for the 2012 reporting year
Set out below is an unofficial translation of the auditors’ report on the financial statements of Closed Joint Stock Company 

Commercial Bank “Citibank” as at and for the period from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012 prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of effective legislation. Also set out below is an extract from the statutory financial statements (annual report) as at 

and for the period from 1 January 2012 to 31 December 2012 comprising balance sheet (for publication purposes) as at 1 January 

2013, profit and loss statement (for publication purposes) for 2012 year, statement of cash flows (for publication purposes) for 

2012 year, report on capital adequacy, the amount of provision for impairment of doubtful loans and other assets (for publication 

purposes) as at 1 January 2013, statutory requirements (for publication purposes) as at 1 January 2013. This unofficial translation 

does not include translation of explanatory note. The statutory financial statements (annual report) to which the Auditors’ Report 

relates have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting regulations of the Russian Federation. Russian 

accounting and reporting regulations differ from accounting framework requirements in other jurisdictions. Consequently, the 

accompanying financial statements, compiled in accordance with the aforementioned requirements, are not intended to present 

the financial position and results of operations of Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial Bank “Citibank” in accordance with 

accounting principles and practices generally accepted in countries and jurisdictions other than the Russian Federation.

Information on the audit firm

name of the audit firm: Closed Joint Stock Company KPMG.

location (legal address): 18/1, Olympiysky prospect, Room 3035, Moscow 129110.

Postal address: 10, Presnenskaya Naberezhnaya, Block C, floor 31, Moscow 123317.

state registration: Registered by the Moscow Registration Chamber on 25 May 1992, Registration No. 011.585.

Included in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities on 13 August 2002 by the Moscow 
Inter-Regional Tax Inspectorate No. 39 of the Ministry for Taxes and Duties of the Russian 
Federation, Registration No. 1027700125628, Certificate series 77 No. 005721432.

membership in a self-regulating 
auditors’ organisation:

Member of the Non-commercial Partnership “Chamber of Auditors of Russia”.

The Principal Registration Number of the Entry in the State Register of Auditors and Audit 
Organisations: No. 10301000804.

Information on the audited Bank

name of the audited company: Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial Bank “Citibank”. 

location (legal address): 8/10, building 1, Gasheka street, Moscow 125047.

Postal address: 8/10, building 1, Gasheka street, Moscow 125047.

state registration: Registered by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation on 1 November 1993, Registration 
No. 2557. Re-registered as Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial Bank “Citibank” on 
5 November 2001.

Included in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities on 14 November 2002 by the Moscow 
Inter-Regional Tax Inspectorate No. 39 of the Ministry for Taxes and Duties of the Russian 
Federation, Registration No. 1027700431296, Certificate series 77 No. 00480345.

Types of licenses valid to carry out 
banking operations during the audit 
period:

General license to carry out banking operations No. 2557 issued by the Central Bank of the 
Russian Federation on 20 July 1999 (with respective changes dated 5 November 2001).

Types of licenses valid to carry out 
professional activity on securities 
market: 

Licenses of a professional participant of securities market issued by Federal Financial 
Markets Service to carry out depository activity No. 177-02719-000100 dated 1 November 
2000, brokerage operations No. 177-02738-10000 dated 9 November 2000, dealer activity 
No.177-02751-010000 dated 9 November 2000.
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Auditors’ report

To the shareholder of the Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial Bank “Citibank”

We have audited the accompanying financial statements (annual report) of the Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial Bank 

“Citibank” (hereinafter the “Bank”) for the 2012 reporting year.

The financial statements (annual report) of the Bank, set on 47 (forty seven) pages, comprise:

 ■ balance sheet (for publication purposes) as at 1 January 2013;

 ■ profit and loss statement (for publication purposes) for the year 2012;

 ■ cash flow statement (for publication purposes) for the year 2012;

 ■ report on capital adequacy, the amount of provisions for impairment of doubtful loans and other assets (for publication 

purposes) as at 1 January 2013;

 ■ statutory requirements (for publication purposes) as at 1 January 2013;

 ■ explanatory note.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements (Annual Report)

Management of the Bank is responsible for the preparation and reliability of these financial statements (annual report) in 

accordance with the requirements set by legislation of the Russian Federation with respect to preparation of financial statements 

(annual report) by credit organisations and for the system of internal control necessary for the preparation of the financial 

statements (annual report) which are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements (annual report) in all material respects based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Federal Law “On Auditing”, the Federal Law “On Banks and Banking Activity”, 

the Federal Standards on Auditing. These standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and planning and 

performing the audit in order to obtain sufficient assurance as to whether the financial statements (annual report) are free from 

material misstatements.
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The audit included performing procedures to obtain audit evidence confirming the amounts and disclosures in the financial 

statements (annual report). The selection of the procedures is a matter of our judgment, which is based on the assessment of risk of 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In the process of risk assessment we considered the system of internal control 

relevant to the preparation and reliability of the financial statements (annual report) in order to select appropriate audit procedures, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control.

The audit also included an assessment of the appropriateness of the Bank’s accounting policy and the reasonableness of the 

estimates made by management, as well as the evaluation of the overall presentation of the financial statements (annual report). 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on the reliability 

of the financial statements (annual report).

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements (annual report) present reliably, in all material respects, the financial position 

of the Bank as at 1 January 2013 and its financial performance and cash flows for the 2012 reporting year in accordance with the 

requirements set by legislation of the Russian Federation with respect to preparation of financial statements (annual report) by 

credit organisations.

Director of Zao KPmg

 
power of attorney dated 1 October 2010 No. 41/10, 

auditor’s qualification certificate 

No. 01-000456 unlimited validity lukashova natalia Viktorovna

14 May 2013
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Balance sheet 
(for publication purposes) 

as at 1 January 2013

Credit institution Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial Bank “Citibank”/ CJSC CB “Citibank” 

Postal address 8/10, bld.1, Gasheka street, Moscow 125047.

Form Code 0409806 

Quarterly (Annual) 

(Thousands of Russian Roubles)

№ Name of line item
Amounts as at the 

reporting date

Amounts 
as at the 

corresponding 
reporting date for 
the prior year (*)

1 2 3 4

i. asseTs

1 Cash 5 437 712 5 478 472

2 Placements of credit institutions with the Central Bank of the Russian Federation 17 529 032 4 473 781

2.1 Mandatory reserves 3 390 210 3 228 478

3 Placements with credit institutions 8 943 532 2 764 299

4 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 14 934 906 8 321 940

5 Net loans to customers 168 602 512 145 107 920

6 Net investments in securities and other financial assets available-for-sale 106 640 048 111 134 425

6.1 Investments in subsidiaries and associates 0 11 100

7 Net investments in securities held-to-maturity 0 0

8 Fixed assets, intangible assets and materials 1 289 308 1 534 061

9 Other assets 4 602 681 4 659 811

10 Total assets 327 979 731 283 474 709

ii. liabiliTies    

11 Loans, deposits and other funds from the Central Bank of the Russian Federation 18 192 281 2 390 971

12 Amounts due to credit institutions 12 955 898 12 212 137

13 Customer accounts (non-credit institutions) 226 539 149 209 599 163

13.1 Deposits from individuals 62 464 145 57 108 408

14 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 3 129 838 0

15 Debt securities issued 0 0

16 Other liabilities 13 155 592 11 771 487

17 Provisions for possible losses on credit related commitments, other possible losses and 
settlements with offshore zones residents 707 795 1 963 269

18 Total liabilities 274 680 553 237 937 027

ZAO Citibank  
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№ Name of line item
Amounts as at the 

reporting date

Amounts 
as at the 

corresponding 
reporting date for 
the prior year (*)

1 2 3 4

iii. eQuiTy    

19 Funds of shareholders (participants) 1 000 000 1 000 000

20 Own shares (share of stock) repurchased from shareholders (participants) 0 0

21 Share premium 0 0

22 Reserve fund 150 000 150 000

23 Fair value revaluation of securities available-for-sale 731 438 -1 463 236

24 Revaluation of fixed assets 97 330 97 330

25 Retained earnings (accumulated losses) of prior years 41 131 938 38 023 042

26 Unused profit (loss) for the reporting period 10 188 472 7 730 546

27 Total equity 53 299 178 45 537 682

iV. oFF-balanCe sheeT liabiliTies    

28 Irrevocable commitments of credit institution 323 077 827 303 585 422

29 Guarantees and sureties issued by credit institution 14 389 536 16 980 578

30 Non-credit related commitments 0 0

(*) Amounts as at 1 January 2013 are not comparable with the corresponding amounts as at 1 January 2012 due to changes in the 

Russian effective legislation on accounting rules and reporting requirements for credit institutions.

President  Turek Z.

 Stamp

Chief accountant Beringova V. Ya.

14 May 2013

ZAO Citibank  
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№ Name of line item
Amounts for the 
reporting period

Amounts for the 
corresponding 

period of the prior 
year (*)

1 2 3 4

1 Total interest income, including: 22 172 911 18 275 260

1.1 Placements with credit institutions 2 230 003 1 585 179

1.2 Loans to customers (non-credit institutions) 10 978 577 8 908 966

1.3 Services under finance lease 0 0

1.4 Investments in securities 8 964 331 7 781 115

2 Total interest expense, including: 5 291 033 3 293 115

2.1 Amounts due to credit institutions 1 003 007 332 893

2.2 Customer accounts (non-credit institutions) 4 288 026 2 960 222

2.3 Debt securities issued 0 0

3 Net interest income (negative interest margin) 16 881 878 14 982 145

4 Movement in the provision for possible losses on loans and loan equivalents, placements on 
correspondent accounts and accrued interest income, total including: -766 382 -458 757

4.1 Movement in the provision for possible losses on accrued interest income -9 953 -429

5 Net interest income (negative interest margin) after provision for possible losses 16 115 496 14 523 388

6 Net gain from operations with financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 2 161 149 -362 613

7 Net gain from operations with securities available-for-sale -14 197 649 762

8 Net gain from operations with securities held-to-maturity 0 0

9 Net gain from operations with foreign currency 1 841 316 704 039

10 Net gain on revaluation of accounts in foreign currency 1 954 344 2 660 565

11 Gain on participation in other legal entities capital 0 11 456

12 Fee and commission income 6 989 591 5 940 541

13 Fee and commission expense 3 074 078 2 364 229

Profit and loss statement
(for publication purposes) 

for the year 2012

Credit institution Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial Bank “Citibank”/ CJSC CB “Citibank” 

Postal address 8/10, bld.1, Gasheka street, Moscow 125047.

Form Code 0409807 

Quarterly (Annual) 

(Thousands of Russian Roubles)

ZAO Citibank  
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№ Name of line item
Amounts for the 
reporting period

Amounts for the 
corresponding 

period of the prior 
year (*)

1 2 3 4

14 Movement in the provision for possible losses on securities available-for-sale 0 0

15 Movement in the provision for possible losses on securities held-to-maturity 0 0

16 Movement in the provision for other losses 582 698 -595 180

17 Other operating income 1 840 396 1 755 866

18 Net income (loss) 28 396 715 22 923 595

19 Operating expense 14 246 797 12 496 640

20 Profit (loss) before taxation 14 149 918 10 426 955

21 Taxes accrued (paid) 3 961 446 2 696 409

22 Profit (loss) after taxation 10 188 472 7 730 546

23 Total payments out of profit after taxation including: 0 0

23.1 Distribution between shareholders (participants) in the form of dividends 0 0

23.2 Reserve fund charge 0 0

24 Unused profit (loss) for the reporting period 10 188 472 7 730 546

(*) Amounts for the 2012 reporting period are not comparable with the corresponding amounts for the 2011 reporting period due to 

changes in the Russian effective legislation on accounting rules and reporting requirements for credit institutions.

President  Turek Z.

 Stamp

Chief accountant Beringova V. Ya.

14 May 2013

ZAO Citibank  
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№ Name of line item
Cash flows for the 

reporting period

Cash flows for the 
previous reporting 

period

1 2 3

1 Net cash flows from (used in) operating activities

1.1 Total cash flows from (used in) operating activities before changes in operating assets and 
liabilities, including: 8 227 526 4 582 654

1.1.1 Interest receipts 21 914 745 17 313 997

1.1.2 Interest payments -5 270 221 -3 281 446

1.1.3 Fee and commission receipts 6 989 591 5 940 541

1.1.4 Fee and commission payments -3 074 078 -2 364 229

1.1.5 Gain less losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, available for sale 1 414 854 -476 568

1.1.6 Gain less losses on securities held-to-maturity 0 0

1.1.7 Gain less losses on foreign exchange 1 841 316 704 039

1.1.8 Other operating income 1 840 396 1 767 022

1.1.9 Operating expense -13 887 102 -13 438 966

1.1.10 Tax expense (benefit) -3 541 975 -1 581 736

1.2 Total increase (decrease) in net cash flows from operating assets and liabilities, including: 9 599 102 15 318 236

1.2.1 Net increase (decrease) in mandatory reserves with the Central Bank of the Russian 
Federation -161 732 -1 551 719

1.2.2 Net increase (decrease) in investments in securities at fair value through profit or loss -2 757 514 1 430 408

1.2.3 Net increase (decrease) in loans -25 979 337 -12 748 601

1.2.4 Net increase (decrease) in other assets -4 929 5 406 577

1.2.5 Net increase (decrease) in loans, deposits and other funds from the Central Bank of the 
Russian Federation 15 801 310 2 390 971

1.2.6 Net increase (decrease) in amounts due to other credit institutions 669 958 -3 612 914

1.2.7 Net increase (decrease) in customer accounts (non-credit institutions) 21 006 209 21 950 934

1.2.8 Net increase (decrease) in financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 0 0

1.2.9 Net increase (decrease) in debt securities issued 0 0

1.2.10 Net increase (decrease) in other liabilities 1 025 137 2 052 580

Total for section 1 (lines 1.1 and 1.2) 17 826 628 19 900 890

Cash flow statement
(for publication purposes) 

for the year 2012

Credit institution Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial Bank “Citibank”/ CJSC CB “Citibank” 

Postal address 8/10, bld.1, Gasheka street, Moscow 125047.

Form Code 0409814 

Annual 

(Thousands of Russian Roubles)

ZAO Citibank  
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№ Name of line item
Cash flows for the 

reporting period

Cash flows for the 
previous reporting 

period

1 2 3

2 Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities

2.1 Purchase of securities and other financial assets available-for-sale -59 734 883 -68 453 893

2.2 Proceeds from sale and redemption of securities and other financial assets available-for-sale 65 897 908 37 710 239

2.3 Purchase of securities held-to-maturity 0 0

2.4 Proceeds from redemption of securities held-to-maturity 0 0

2.5 Purchase of fixed assets, intangible assets and materials -93 858 -159 521

2.6 Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets, intangible assets and materials -44 677 -4 381

2.7 Dividends received 0 0

2.8 Total for section 2 (lines from 2.1 to 2.7) 6 024 490 -30 907 556

3 Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities

3.1 Shareholders’ (participants’) contributions to charter capital 0 0

3.2 Purchase of own shares (shares of stock) repurchased from shareholders (participants) 0 0

3.3 Sale of own shares (shares of stock) repurchased from shareholders (participants) 0 0

3.4 Dividends paid -4 621 650 0

3.5 Total for section 3 (lines from 3.1 to 3.4) -4 621 650 0

4 Effect of changes in official foreign currency exchange rates to Russian Rouble set by the 
Central Bank of the Russian Federation on cash and cash equivalents -325 903 625 499

5 Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 18 903 565 -10 381 167

5.1 Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the reporting period 9 469 713 19 850 880

5.2 Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the reporting period 28 373 278 9 469 713

President  Turek Z.

 Stamp

Chief accountant Beringova V. Ya.

14 May 2013

ZAO Citibank  
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№ Name of indicator 

Amounts as at 
the beginning 

of the reporting 
period

Increase (+)/ 
decrease (-) for 

the reporting 
period

Amounts as at 
the date of the 

reporting period

1 2 3 4 5

1 Total equity (capital), thousands of Russian  Roubles, including: 43 216 769.0 7 835 414 51 052 183.0

1.1 Charter capital of the credit institution, including: 1 000 000.0 0 1 000 000.0

1.1.1 Nominal value of registered ordinary shares (shares of stock) 1 000 000.0 0 1 000 000.0

1.1.2 Nominal value of registered preference shares 0.0 0 0.0

1.2 Own shares (share of stock) repurchased from shareholders (participants) 0.0 0 0.0

1.3 Share premium 0.0 0 0.0

1.4 Reserve fund of the credit institution 150 000.0 0 150 000.0

1.5 Financial result included in calculation of equity (capital) 42 178 307.0 7 752 671 49 930 978.0

1.5.1 of prior years 38 023 042.0 3 108 896 41 131 938.0

1.5.2 for the reporting period 4 155 265.0 4 643 775 8 799 040.0

1.6 Intangible assets 197 768.0 -71 643 126 125.0

1.7 Subordinated loan (debt, deposit, bond) 0.0 0 0.0

1.8 Sources of additional capital (part of) formed by investors with 
inappropriate assets 0.0 0 0.0

2 Normative value of capital adequacy ratio (capital), % 10.0 X 10.0

3 Actual value of capital adequacy ratio (capital), % 20.0 X 19.4

4 Total actual provisions for possible losses, thousands of Russian Roubles, 
including: 5 841 174.0 -3 528 120 2 313 054.0

4.1 loans and loan equivalents 4 399 625.0 -2 953 360 1 446 265.0

4.2 other assets bearing the risk of possible losses and other losses 43 107.0 115 887 158 994.0

4.3 off-balance sheet credit related commitments and term deals 1 335 423.0 -691 021 644 402.0

4.4 settlements with offshore zones residents 63 019.0 374 63 393.0

Report on capital adequacy, the amount of provisions 
for impairment of doubtful loans and other assets
(for publication purposes) 

as at 1 January 2013

Credit institution Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial Bank “Citibank”/ CJSC CB “Citibank” 

Postal address 8/10, bld.1, Gasheka street, Moscow 125047.

Form Code 0409808 

Quarterly (Annual)

ZAO Citibank  
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For information purposes:

1 Total charge (additional charge) of provision for possible losses on loans and loan equivalents for the reporting period, in the 

amount of 17 427 472 thousands of Russian Roubles, including those as a result of:

1.1. Issue of loans – 11 382 536 thousands of Russian Roubles;

1.2. Change in loans quality – 2 343 736 thousands of Russian Roubles;

1.3. Change in official foreign currency exchange rate to Russian Rouble set by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation in 

the amount of  175 341 thousands of Russian Roubles;

1.4. Other reasons –3 525 859 thousands of Russian Roubles.

2 Total recovery (decrease) of provision for possible losses on loans and loan equivalents for the reporting period, in the amount 

of 20 380 832 thousands of Russian Roubles, including those as a result of:

2.1. Bad loans write-off – 3 713 645 thousands of Russian Roubles;

2.2. Repayment of loans –  10 832 009 thousands of Russian Roubles;

2.3. Change in loans quality – 2 223 226 thousands of Russian Roubles;

2.4. Change in official foreign currency exchange rate to Russian Rouble set by the Central Bank of the Russian Federation in 

the amount of 16 516 thousands of Russian Roubles;

2.5. Other reasons – 3 595 436 thousands of Russian Roubles.

President  Turek Z.

 Stamp

Chief accountant Beringova V. Ya.

14 May 2013

ZAO Citibank  
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Statutory requirements
(for publication purposes) 

as at 1 January 2013

Сredit institution Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial Bank “Citibank”/ CJSC CB “Citibank” 

Postal address 8/10, bld.1, Gasheka street, Moscow 125047.

Form Code 0409813 

Annual 

(Percent)

№ Name of indicator Normative value

Actual value

as at the reporting date as at the prior reporting date

1 2 3 4 5

1 Capital adequacy ratio (N1) > 10.0 19.4 20.0

2 Momentary liquidity ratio (N2) > 15.0 74.1 111.7

3 Current liquidity ratio (N3) > 50.0 78.0 92.6

4 Long-term liquidity ratio (N4)  < 120.0 33.4 35.9

5
Maximum amount of risk per borrower or per group of 
related borrowers (N6) < 25.0

Maximum 23.3 Maximum 16.8

Minimum 0.2 Minimum 0.3

6 Maximum amount of exposure to large credit risks (N7) < 800.0 154.7 162.2

7 Maximum amount of loans, bank guarantees and sureties 
issued by the bank to its participants (shareholders) (N9.1) < 50.0 0.0 0.0

8 Aggregate amount of exposure to the bank’s insiders (N10.1) < 3.0 0.4 0.8

9 Ratio for the use of equity (capital) of the bank to acquire 
shares (shares of stock) in other legal entities (N12) < 25.0 0.0 0.0

President  Turek Z.

 Stamp

Chief accountant Beringova V. Ya.

14 May 2013

ZAO Citibank  
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Explanatory Notes to Annual Report 
of ZAO CB Citibank for 2012

1. General information about the Closed Joint Stock Company  
Commercial Bank “Citibank”

1.1. Information about state registration, general and internal subdivisions, 
and ratings by credit organizations

Full name: Closed Joint Stock Company Commercial Bank “Citibank”.

Short name: ZAO CB “Citibank”. 

Location (legal address): Russia, 125047, Moscow, Gasheka St., 8-10, bld. 1

Location (mailing address): Russia, 125047, Moscow, Gasheka St., 8-10, bld. 1.

Bank identification code (BIC): 044525202.

Taxpayer identification number (TIN): 7710401987.

Contact telephone number (fax, telex): +7 (495) 725-1000 (telephone), +7 (495) 725-6700 (fax).

Website: www.citibank.ru.

Main state registration number: 1027700431296.

Date of record of the creation of the credit institution in the Unified State Register of Legal Entities: 14 November 2002.  

As of 1 January 2013 and 1 January 2012 the regional network of ZAO CB “Citibank” (hereinafter – the Bank) consisted of 7 branches 

and 53 internal subdivisions (supplemental offices, operational offices, stand-alone cash desks) situated in 5 regions of the Russian 

Federation. The regional network of the Bank is comprised as follows:

Branch Location Federal District

St. Petersburg St. Petersburg Northwest Federal District

Don Rostov-on-Don South Federal District

Urals Yekaterinburg Urals Federal District

Middle Volga Samara Volga Federal District

Greater Volga Nizhniy Novgorod Volga Federal District

Bashkortostan Ufa Volga Federal District

Volgograd Volgograd South Federal District

As of 1 January 2013 the Bank had a representative office in Novosibirsk.

At present the regional branch network (with the exception of the St. Petersburg Branch) offers only retail banking services, but the 

future inclusion of the corporate banking business is possible.

The Bank has a long-term rating of BBB+ with a stable outlook (Fitch Ratings).

1.2. Information about Bank group

The Bank is part of the international banking group Citigroup. Also, as of 1 January 2012 the Bank’s (consolidated) group, of which 

the Bank is the head organization, included the following organizations:

Name Business activity Country of registration

Share of control by the Bank’s (consolidated) group, % or 
other indicators of substantial influence

As of 1 January 2013 As of 1 January 2012

CitiLeasing LLC Leasing Russia - 100%

Following a decision by the Bank’s management, CitiLeasing LLC ceased operations and was liquidated on 29 March 2012.
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1.3. Types of licenses by which the Bank operates

The Bank has a General License from the Central Bank of Russia (hereinafter – CBR) to carry out banking operations No. 2557 dated 

5 November 2001 with no expiry date and operates in accordance with the Federal Law on Banks and Banking Activities and other 

legislative acts of the Russian Federation.

In addition to the General License from CBR, the Bank also operates by virtue of the following licenses and permits:

 ■ Professional Securities Market Participant License to Perform Depositary Activity No. 177-02719-000100 issued by the Federal 

Service for Financial Markets on 1 November 2000;

 ■ Professional Securities Market Participant License to Perform Broker Activity No. 177-02738-100000 issued by the Federal Service 

for Financial Markets on 9 November 2000; and,

 ■ Professional Securities Market Participant License to Perform Dealer Activity No. 177-02751-010000 issued by the Federal Service 

for Financial Markets on 9 November 2000.

The Bank is a participant of the system of mandatory retail deposit insurance for banks in the Russian Federation.

1.4. Corporate governance bodies of the Bank

The core management personnel of the Bank are the members of the Board of Directors and Executive Board and the President.

Throughout the duration of 2012 Zdenek Turek was the President of the Bank. 

As of 1 January 2013 the Board of Directors was composed as follows:  

 ■ Andrey Kurilin – Chairman of the Board of Directors

 ■ Amit Sah 

 ■ Allan Levy 

 ■ Michael Berner 

 ■ Richard Smith 

During 2012 the composition of the Bank’s Board of Directors did not change.

As of 1 January 2012 the Executive Board was composed as follows: 

 ■ Zdenek Turek (Chairman of the Executive Board) 

 ■ Natalia Nikolaeva

 ■ Ruslan Belyaev 

 ■ Sergey Korotkov 

 ■ Natalia Belaya 

On 15 October 2012 Igor Marmalidi left the Bank’s Executive Board.

None of the members of the Board of Directors or the Executive Board or the President own any shares of the Bank.

As of 1 January 2013 the Bank had 4023 employees (as of 1 January 2012 – 3438 employees). As of 1 January 2013 the Bank had 

11 top managers, including the Chief Accountant of the Bank (as of 1 January 2012 – 12 top managers, including the Chief Accountant 

of the Bank). 

In 2012 the compensation of the Bank’s top managers included salaries totaling RUB 163,577 thousand (in 2011 – 

RUB 167,607 thousand) and short term bonuses paid during the reporting period or to be paid out within 12 months of the end of the 

reporting period totaling RUB 18,786 thousand (in 2011 – RUB 22,911 thousand).  

In comparison to the previous year no significant changes were made in the procedure and conditions of the compensation for top 

management.
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2. Main indicators of the Bank’s financial and economic activities for the year 2012 

2.1. list of main transactions significantly influencing the Bank’s financial results

The Bank’s main business activities are the provision of financing to financial institutions and legal entities, including through 

participation in syndicates, operations with securities and foreign currencies, factoring, trade finance operations, attraction 

of deposits, and cash management and payment services. Operations on the money market as well as with derivative financial 

instruments account for a substantial portion of the Bank’s operations. In addition to its corporate business, the Bank is an active 

participant of the retail banking services market and offers a wide spectrum of services to retail clients. Money market operations 

and derivative transactions account for an increasingly larger share of the Bank’s operations. In addition to its corporate business, 

the Bank is also an active participant of the retail market for banking services and offers individuals a broad spectrum of services.

Lending and securities operations had the greatest influence on the formation of the financial results of the Bank’s activities in 2012, 

with substantial revenues coming in the form of commissions. (See below for analysis of the structure of revenues and expenses.)  

2.2. Summary overview of significant changes in the Bank’s operations as well as events influencing 
or potentially influencing the Bank’s financial stability and/or policy (strategy) during the 
reporting period 

The mainstay of the Bank’s activities in 2012 was standard operations on the market for corporate and retail services listed in 

Point 2.1 of these Explanatory Notes. In the course of the reporting period there were no significant changes in the Bank’s business 

activities which could have an influence on the sustainability of the Bank and its strategy. 

The following events and macroeconomic changes significantly influenced the Bank’s results in 2012:

 ■ the decline in the profitability and corresponding rise in prices of sovereign bonds in the second half of 2012, caused by 

expectations of the beginning of the operations of the international settlement systems Euroclear and Clearstream in Russia, and 

the higher demand among foreign investors for Russian Debt, were the main reasons for the rise in net income from securities 

trading.

 ■ liquidity shortage, growth in short-term rates on the interbank market and also the hike in Central Bank rates in September 

2012 were the main reasons for higher interest income during the reporting period.

A major focus of the Bank’s development strategy is the further development of services for retail customers. The Bank is continually 

developing new service packages for existing and potential clients. The Bank also carries out comprehensive analysis on an 

ongoing basis in order to reduce the abovementioned risks when introducing products while at the same time providing competitive 

advantages. This area of business development is considered to be one of the most promising areas for both the Bank and the 

Russian financial services market. Furthermore, the Bank also considers highly promising the establishment of relationships with 

dynamically developing Russian companies and credit organizations, small and medium-sized enterprises (SME). In order to maintain 

competitiveness in changing market conditions, the Bank continually develops and offers new services aimed at meeting clients’ 

growing needs.

In 2012 one of the Bank’s top business development priorities in Russia was the expansion of work with clients in the medium-sized 

enterprise segment – Russian and international companies with annual turnover of up to USD 500 million. This business – commercial 

banking – is one of the most important, dynamically developing and stably profitable business divisions for Citibank. The commercial 

banking division serves more the 1700 clients in Russia and is part of an international platform operating in 32 countries worldwide. 

Employees of this division help Russian companies enter international markets and help international companies achieve success 

in Russia. The main competitive advantages of Citibank in this segment are its outstanding level of banking service, personalize 

approach to client needs, modern banking technologies, first-class products and global presence. 

Furthermore, in 2012 the Bank actively developed its derivatives business with corporate clients. These financial instruments 

are aimed at mitigating currency, interest rate and price risks. The spectrum of possible solutions included currency options and 

structured forward transactions, interest swaps, commodity swaps and structured commodity options.

Throughout 2012 the Bank was engaged on an ongoing basis in the engagement of new reliable clients and supporting its reputation 

of superior professionalism. 
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2.3. Analysis of disclosure statement data 

The Bank’s assets according to public financial statements as of 1 January 2013 totaled RUB 327,979,731 thousand. In comparison to 

reported assets as of 1 January 2012 this figure increased by RUB 44,505,022 thousand (or by 15.7%). The largest increase were seen 

in the following balance sheet items: placements with the Central Band of Russia – 292%, amounts due from credit institutions – 223%, 

net loans to clients – 16%, and financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss – 79%. At the same time, for a number of other 

balance sheet items, such as net investments in securities and other financial assets available for sale, and fixed assets, intangible 

assets and material assets decreased.

2.3.1. net loans to clients

The Bank’s loan portfolio excluding reserve deductions as of 1 January 2013 amounted to RUB 168,602,512 thousand, including 

interbank loans and deposits and loans provided to retail customers. Income receive in 2012 in the form of interest from loan 

transactions totals RUB 13,208,580 thousand or 13.5% of the Bank’s total revenues. These revenues increased 26% year on year. 

The Bank’s main borrowers are traditionally subsidiaries of foreign companies working on the Russian market who are Citi clients 

worldwide and the risks for which are mitigated by receipt of guarantees from parent companies or Citi businesses situated in 

developed countries. In nearly equal volume the portfolio consists of loans to Russian companies, including some of the largest 

corporations, and also mid-sized enterprises with substantial development potential. Credit risks and client insolvency risks are 

managed through detailed analysis of potential borrowers and of proposed collateral. For all types of debt, impairment reserves are 

formed to cover 100% of the calculated reserve adjusted for the value of collateral.  

Throughout the course of the year the volume of reverse REPO transactions between the Bank and financial institutions increased.

The main credit products of the retail business are: consumer loans, lines of credit, overdrafts and credit cards. When assessing 

the credit risks for loans provided to retail customers, the Bank uses a method of grouping consumer loans into portfolios of 

homogenous loans . 

The structure of corporate loans and structure of consumer loans (residents of Russia) according to product type  (prior to loan loss 

provisions) were as followed:

1 January 2013, thous. rubles 1 January 2012, thous. rubles

interbank loans 56 300 672 33.1% 50 171 972 33.6%

loans to legal entities (including sole proprietorships), total, 
including businesses in the following sectors of the economy: 73 876 896 43.4% 65 084 757 43.6%

Wholesale/retail trade 26 864 251 15.8% 19 770 597 13.2%

Processing/refining 25 815 997 15.2% 23 700 383 15.9%

Transport and communications 8 849 869 5.2% 4 522 711 3.0%

Real estate transactions, leasing and services 3 383 000 2.0% 4 339 923 2.9%

Agriculture 311 408 0.2% 314 001 0.2%

Mining and resource extraction 166 006 0.1% 814 879 0.5%

Production and distribution 84 000 0.0% 126 000 0.1%

Other 8 402 365 4.9% 11 496 263 7.7%

Portion of total loans provided to SME 993 918 0.6% 470 417 0.3%

Sole proprietorships 0 0.0% 0 0.0%

loans to retail customers, total, including 39 871 209 23.4% 34 122 308 22.8%

Consumer loans 21 434 329 12.6% 18 537 460 12.4%

Credit cards 17 847 397 10.5% 14 872 192 9.9%

Mortgage loans 589 483 0.3% 712 656 0.5%

Total loans to corporate and retail clients 170 048 777 149 379 037

loan loss Provision 1 446 265 4 271 117

net loans to clients 168 602 512 145 107 920
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The table below presents information on the concentration of loans provided by the Bank according to client business type or type of 

loan as of 1 January 2013 and 1 January 2012 for loans to corporate clients, loans to SME and loans to retail customers.

Item No. Line item

Outstanding loan debts, 
including noncurrent

1 January 2013, 
thous. rubles

1 January 2013, 
thous. rubles

1 loans provided, total (p.2+p.3+p.4), incl.: 170 048 777 149 379 037

2 interbank loans 56 300 672 50 171 972

3 loans to corporate clients (p.3.1+p.3.2), incl.: 73 876 896 65 084 757

3.1 According to economic sector: 65 449 700 56 070 934

3.1.1 Mineral resource extraction - -

3.1.2 Processing/refining, incl.: 22 131 403 18 759 990

3.1.2.1 Food products, incl. beverages and tobacco 10 734 616 11 303 231

3.1.2.2 Pulp and paper, publishing and printing - 731 272

3.1.2.3 Chemical products 6 087 357 3 625 549

3.1.2.4 Non-metal mineral products 1 523 191 372 088

3.1.2.5 Metal and finished metal products 498 541 505 995

3.1.2.6 Machinery and equipment production 2 290 529 1 101 784

3.1.2.7 Transport vehicles and equipment production, incl.: 997 169 1 120 071

3.1.2.7.1 Cars production 977 769 895 071

3.1.3 Production and supply of electricity, natural gas and water 84 000 126 000

3.1.4 Agriculture, hunting and forestry, incl.: 311 408 314 001

3.1.4.1 Agriculture, hunting and related services 311 408 314 001

3.1.5 Construction, incl.: 509 495

3.1.5.1 Construction of buildings and facilities 509 495

3.1.6 Transport and communications 8 839 247 4 402 784

3.1.7 Wholesale and retail trade, repair of automobiles, motorcycles household appliances 
and other items for personal use 24 027 434 17 161 793

3.1.8 Real estate transactions, lease and services 3 383 000 4 269 610

3.1.9 Other 6 672 698 11 036 261

3.2 On completion of settlements 8 427 197 9 013 823

3.3 Portion of total loans provided to SME 993 918 470 417

4 loans to retail customers, total, including 39 871 209 34 122 308

4.1 Mortgage loans 589 483 712 656

4.2 Credit cards 17 847 397 14 872 192

4.3 Consumer loans 21 434 329 18 537 460

Provision for loan impairment 1 446 265 4 271 117

net loans to clients 168 602 512 145 107 920

2.3.2. Securities transactions 

The Bank traditionally has been an active participant on the securities market. Investments in securities as of 1 January 

2013 amounted to RUB 117,708,793 thousand, which was 1.5% less than the previous year. Revenues from securities transactions 

in 2012 totaled RUB 9,745,547 thousand or 9.98% of the Bank’s total revenues, which was 21% more than in the previous year. The 

Bank’s portfolio includes investments in government, municipal and corporate  bonds as well as the non-residents bonds. These 

securities are acquired by the Bank with the aim of their subsequent resale and are reflected either as assessed at fair value through 

profit or loss or as available for sale. The structure of the investments was as follows. The share of net investments in securities 
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assessed at fair value through profit or loss, in the amount of RUB 11,068,745, thousand, accounted for 9% of all investments. This 

securities portfolio grew 33% year on year. The share of net investments in securities and other assets available for sale, in the 

amount of RUB 106,640,048 thousand, accounted for 91% of all investments. Investments of this portfolio in bonds decreased by 4% 

year on year. The structural changes described above were predicated by changes in the securities market.

Furthermore, in 2012 the Bank concluded direct and reverse REPO transactions. The main partners of the Bank for REPO transactions 

were credit organizations, including CBR, and corporate clients, in particular, investment companies. In such cases with securities 

transactions the Bank follows a cautious risk policy which entails investment in low-risk securities quoted and traded on the Moscow 

Interbank Currency Exchange (MICEX) and other major international trading platforms.

Throughout 2012, in addition to operations with securities of the Bank’s own portfolio, ZAO Citibank actively engaged in brokerage 

services at the behest and on behalf of clients. These services were provided to a wide range of clients: from major international 

investment firms to retail customers.

As of 1 January 2012 and 1 January 2011 the structure of securities portfolios was as follows:

1 January 2013, 
thous. rubles

1 January 2012, 
thous. rubles Change, %

Government bonds 102 851 898 109 260 336 -5.87

Municipal bonds 1 636 700 2 229 859 -26.60

Bonds  of credit organizations 7 999 549 3 886 228 105.84

Corporate bonds 2 372 974 989 728 139.76

Bonds of non-resident banks 1 088 708 1 077 821 1.01

Bonds  of non-residents 1 758 964 2 001 293 -12.11

Total 117 708 793 119 445 265 -1.45

2.3.3. FX transactions

FX operations include spot and term currency exchange transactions for customers and for the Bank and operations with derivative 

financial instruments such as forward, interest and commodity swaps, purchase and sale of currency and commodity options as well 

as commodity transactions. In 2012 net income from these transactions including foreign currency transaction fees amounted to 

RUB 3,207,052 thousand (including the revaluation of derivative financial instruments) or 3.3% of the Bank’s total income (excluding 

revaluation income and provisions recovery). Dealers and the internal control department conduct constant multistage functional 

analysis of currency, price and market risks. In addition, a credit risk manager independently monitors the indicated risks.

The Bank’s liabilities in disclosure statements as of 1 January 2013 amounted to RUB 274,680,553 thousand. In comparison to these 

figures as of 1 January 2012, liabilities increased by RUB 36,743,526 thousand (or an increase of 15%). The increase in liabilities was 

a result of growth in client deposits by 8%, including growth in retail customer deposits (by 9%), as well as substantial growth in funds 

attracted via direct repo transactions with the Central Bank of Russia. 

2.3.4. liabilities

The main types of  the Bank liabilities are Central Bank funds, interbank deposits, funds of corporate clients and deposits of retail 

customers. The structure of liabilities was as follows:

1 January 2013  
thous. rubles

1 January 2012  
thous. rubles Change, %

Deposits and funds of the Central Bank of Russia 18 192 281 2 390 971 660.87

Funds of resident credit organizations, incl. deposits 8 730 320 5 399 601 61.68

Funds of non-resident credit organizations, incl. deposits 4 225 578 6 812 536 -37.97

Funds of resident corporate clients, incl. deposits 147 605 103 134 349 769 9.87

Funds of non-resident corporate clients, incl. deposits 16 469 901 18 140 986 -9.21

Funds of retail customers 56 352 046 52 191 973 7.97

Funds of non-resident retail customers 6 112 099 4 916 435 24.32

Total 257 687 328 224 202 271 14.94
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2.3.5. Other assets – accounts receivable

The Bank has adopted measures to reconcile payables and receivables from settlement balances. This reconciliation was documented 

in bilateral acts with all suppliers and vendors. The period of recognition of receivables on the Bank’s balance sheet fully corresponds 

to the nature of reflected transactions. On certain accounts of balance account 47423 overdue receivables for cash management and 

settlement services for legal entities and retail customers totaling RUB 81,684 thousand are indicated.

The structure of receivables as of 1 January 2012 and 1 January 2011 was as follows:

Balance 
account No. Type of receivables

1 January 2013 1 January 2012 

thous. rubles share, % thous. rubles share, %

30221 Unsettled transactions of credit organization 502 731 26.45 146 346 7.84

47423 Receivables for banking services provided 1 213 137 63.82 1 047 762 56.12

60302 Tax Settlements 48 762 2.57 426 632 22.85

60308 Settlements with employees on business advances and 
prepaids 16 322 0.86 10 725 0.57

60310 VAT 1 923 0.10 3 741 0.20

60312 Settlements with suppliers, vendors and customers 104 996 5.52 211 255 11.31

60314 Settlements with non-resident suppliers and vendors 11 383 0.60 18 919 1.01

60323 Settlements with other debtors 1 514 0.08 1 906 0.10

Total 1 900 768 100.00 1 867 286 100.00

The principle part of receivables came in the form of settlements via the VISA and MasterCard payment systems (totaling 

RUB 938,245 thousand), stated on balance account 47423, as well as yet to be completed settlements on the correspondent account 

of NCO INKAKHRAN (OJSC) for the servicing of the Bank’s ATMs (502,731 thousand rubles). Fees assessed for custody services, 

trade finance services and factoring, stated on balance account 47423, the agreed payment date for which comes after the reporting 

period, amounted to RUB 145,700 thousand. 

A balance on account 60312 of RUB 104,996 thousand was formed with consideration of transactions after the reporting period from 

1 January 2013 to 29 March 2013 on the basis of primary documents received for 2012 confirming completion of transactions prior to 

the reporting date.

2.3.6. Other liabilities – Accounts payable 

As of 1 January 2013 other liabilities include payables totaling RUB 3,336,229 thousand. 

The largest part (45.48%) of payables comprised unsettled transactions enacted through the VISA and Master Card payment 

systems (RUB 1,517,239 thousand), stated on sub-ledger balance account 47422, and also unsettled brokerage transactions on the 

EUROCLEAR platform totaling RUB 396,628 thousand, stated on sub-ledger balance account 30222. Settlements with suppliers, 

vendors, customers and other payees considering accrued expenses for December 2012 including events after reporting period 

totaling RUB 545,059 thousand, which amount to 16.34%. 

All payables have a term of 30 days. There were no past due payables as of 1 January 2013. 
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The structure of payables as of 1 January 2013 and 1 January 2012 was as follows: 

Balance 
account no. Type of payables

1 January 2013 1 January 2012 

thous. Rubles
Percentage ratio 

to total amount thous. rubles
Percentage ratio 

to total amount

30222 
Unsettled transactions of credit organization 396 628 11.89 389 951 14.87

47422 Payment liabilities for banking services 2 331 980 69.90 1 370 744 52.28

60301 Tax Settlements 45 926 1.37 380 106 14.50

60305
Settlements with employees 452 0.01 386 0.01

60307
Settlements with employees on business advances 9 938 0.30 5 125 0.20

60311
Settlements with suppliers, vendors and customers 485 129 14.54 444 302 16.94

60313 Settlements with non-resident suppliers and vendors 59 930 1.80 26 002 0.99

60322 Settlements with other creditors 6 246 0.19 5 584 0.21

Total 3,336,229 100.00 2 622 200 100.00

2.3.7. Equity capital 

The Bank’s equity capital as of 1 January 2013 according to the Balance Sheet (Disclosure Form 0409806) amounted to 

RUB 53,299,178 thousand. Compared to 1 January 2012 equity capital had increased 17%, as a result of the profits received during the 

reporting period totaling RUB 10,188,472 thousand as well as the higher appraisal of the fair value of securities available for sale in 

the amount of RUB 2,194,674 thousand. The changes in equity capital for 2012 reflect the payment of dividends from the unallocated 

profits of previous years in the amount of RUB 4,621,650 thousand.

2.3.8. Income and expense analysis

The Bank’s income according to its Profit and Loss Statement (Disclosure Form 0409807) for 2012 increased in comparison to the 

previous year by RUB 2,457,926 thousand (up 32%).

The structure of the Bank’s income in 2012 was as follows:

For 2012, 
thous. rubles

For 2011, 
thous. rubles Change,%

1.  Interest receipts, total, incl.: 22 172 911 18 275 260 21.33

 From placement of funds with credit organizations 2 230 003 1 585 179 40.68

 From loans placed with clients (non-credit organizations) 10 978 577 8 908 966 23.23

 From investments in securities 8 964 331 7 781 115 15.21

2.  Fee income 6 989 591 5 940 541 17.66

3.  Income generated by securities transactions 3 700 991 1 548 180 139.05

4.  Income generated by participation in other legal entities 0 11 456 -100.00

5.  Other operating income 1 840 396 1 755 866 4.81

6.  Net income generated by foreign currency transaction, incl.: 3 207 052 704 039 355.52

6.1 From derivative financial instruments 1 365 736 0 100.00

7.  Net income from reappraisal of foreign currency assets 1 954 344 2 660 565 -26.54
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The structure of the Bank’s expenses in 2012 was as follows:

For 2012, 
thous. rubles

For 2011, 
thous. rubles Change,%

1. Interest expenses, total, incl.: 5 291 033 3 293 115 60.67

 Expenses on funds attracted from credit organizations 1 003 007 332 893 201.30

  Expenses on funds attracted from clients (non-credit organizations) 4 288 026 2 960 222 44.85

2. Commission expenditures 3 074 078 2 364 229 30.02

3. Operating expenses 14 246 797 12 496 640 14.01

4. Expenses on securities transactions 2 919 775 1 261 031 131.54

In 2012 net interest income rose by 12.7% largely as a result of growth in interest rates for loans and investments in securities.

The Bank reported income of RUB 781,216 thousand from securities transactions (not including interest income) in 2012, which is 

RUB 494,067 thousand more than for the previous year. The main reason for the decline was the macroeconomic trends mentioned above.

In 2012 income from foreign currency operations amounted to RUB 3,207,052 thousand (including revaluation of derivative financial 

instruments), which is 356% more than in 2011. The financial result from operations with foreign currency in 2012 largely came from 

FX operations described in point 2.3.3. of these Explanatory Notes.

As a result of reappraisal of foreign currency accounts the Bank reported income of RUB 1,954,344 thousand, which is 26.5% less than for 

2011. The reason for this change was the substantial fluctuation in foreign exchange rates throughout the course of the reporting year.

Net fee income in 2012 amounted to RUB 3,915,513 thousand, which was 9.5% higher than in 2011. Fee income growth was a result of 

across-the-board growth in all types of fee income.

2.3.9. Economic regulations

Throughout 2012 on all reporting dates the Bank complied with all mandatory regulations of CBR, fulfilled the reserve requirements 

of CBR, and complied with requirements for participants of the retail customer deposit insurance system for banks of the Russian 

Federation. 

2.4.  Economic conditions of the Bank’s operations 

The Russian economy was not shielded from the influence of the economic crisis in the Eurozone. Growth in consumer demand, both 

externally and domestically, slowed in 2012 due to lower investor and consumer confidence. 

Price stabilization was the main priority for the Russian economy in 2012. Inflation began to rise again following the achievement of 

the historical record low of 3.6% in early 2012. However, the Russian Government confirmed its intentions of keeping inflation down 

and supporting the free float of the ruble. 

Additionally, in August 2012 Russia joined the World Trade Organization following 18 years of negotiations, which involved the 

Russian Government assuming a number of different obligations. 

The success of the Bank’s business depends on the economic situation in the Russian Federation, on the actions of the 

Bank’s competitors and also on other factors which may not be in the control of the Bank. Furthermore, the Bank is part of an 

international banking group and is subject to additional risks inherent in the global financial market. 

Among the economic changes and new rick factors of 2012, the following can be noted:

 ■ Dependency on global commodity price fluctuations 

 ■ Lower level of activity on unsecured debt markets, lower levels of lending

 ■ Decreases in opportunities for debt securitization related to pressures of international financial markets

 ■ Worsening of the quality of sovereign debt in the Eurozone

 ■ General decrease in liquidity in the banking sector

 ■ Reduction in the presence of financial institutions on developing markets 
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The Bank’s management believes that it is enacting the necessary measures to maintain the stability of the Bank’s business in the 

current situation. Nonetheless, a sudden further worsening of the situation in the areas described above could negatively impact the 

business results and financial position of the Bank.

2.5.  Information on profit per share 

In its annual report the Bank does not disclose earnings (loss) per share reflecting potential decrease in basic earnings (increase in 

loss) per share for the following reporting period (split earnings (loss) per share) as the Bank does not have quoted securities and 

contracts for sales of ordinary shares priced below market rates.

3. Information on affiliated party transactions (deals)

Since 27 June 2012 the parent credit organization of the Bank is Citigroup Netherlands B.V. (The Netherlands), which received 99.9% 

of the shares previously held by Citibank Overseas Investment Corporation (USA) and also 0.1% of the shares previously held by 

Foremost Investment Corporation (USA).

As of 1 January 2012 subsidiaries of the Bank were:

Name Ownership, % Country of registration Economic sector

CitiLeasing LLC 100% Russia Leasing

In accordance with a decision of the Bank’s management, the operations of CitiLeasing LLC were halted and the limited liability 

corporation was liquidated on 29 March 2012. 

Information about core management personnel is presented in the “Corporate governance bodies” section of these Explanatory 

Notes.

Below is a list of transactions and settlements with related parties as of 1 January 2013 reflected in the line items of the Balance 

Sheet (Disclosure Form 0409806).

 
Total,  

thous. rubles

Subsidiary 
entities, 

thous. rubles

Core management 
personnel, 

thous. rubles

Other related 
parties, 

thous. rubles

Placed with credit organizations prior to loan loss provision  6 398 591 0 0 6 398 591

Loan loss provision  for placements with credit organizations 0 0 0 0

Financial assets assessed as fair value through profit or loss 2 979 769 2 979 769

Loans before  loan loss provision 9 055 234 0 30 079 9 025 155

Loan loss Provision 301 0 301 0

Other assets before provision 2 840 0 73 2 767

Provision  for other assets 1 0 1 0

Total assets 18 436 132 0 29 850 18 406 282

Funds of credit organizations 3 152 347 0 0 3 152 347

Funds of clients (non-credit organizations) 1 227 019 0 42 676 1 184 343

Retail customer deposits 42 676 0 42 676 0

Financial obligations assessed at fair value through profit or loss 2 701 676 2 701 676

Other liabilities 637 0 21 616

Provisions for contingent lending liabilities, other impairment and 
operations with residents in offshore zones 52 0 52 0

Total liabilities 7 081 731 0 42 749 7 038 982

Irrevocable commitments of credit organization 172 174 804 0 5 238 172 169 566

Guarantees and sureties issued by credit institution 3 808 163 0 0 3 808 163
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Below is a list of transactions and settlements with related parties as of 1 January 2012 reflected in the line items of the Balance 

Sheet (Disclosure Form 0409806).

 
Total,  

thous. rubles

Subsidiary 
entities, 

thous. rubles

Core management 
personnel, 

thous. rubles

Other related 
parties, 

thous. rubles

Placed with credit organizations before loan loss provision 394 830 0 0 394 830

Loan loss Provision for placements  with credit organizations 0 0 0 0

Loans before loan loss  provision  14 615 151 0 30 161 14 584 990

Loan loss Provision 302 0 302 0

Investment in subsidiary and dependent entities 11 100 11 100 0 0

Other assets before provision 3 828 0 65 3 763

Provision for other assets 1 0 1 0

Total assets 15 024 606 11 100 29 923 14 983 583

Funds of credit organizations 5 350 438 0 0 5 350 438

Funds of clients (non-credit organizations) 2 441 021 22 557 0 2 418 464

Retail customer deposits 43 986 0 43 986 0

Other liabilities 108 750 0 20 108 730

Provisions for contingent lending liabilities, other impairment and 
operations with residents in offshore zones 102 0 102 0

Total liabilities 7 944 297 22 557 44 108 7 877 632

Irrevocable commitments of credit organization 167 637 351 0 10 194 167 627 157

Guarantees and sureties issued by credit institution 1 442 185 0 0 1 442 185

Below is a list of revenue and expenses with related parties for 2012 reflected in the line items of the Profit and Loss Statement 

(Disclosure Form 0409807).

 
Total,  

thous. rubles

Subsidiary 
entities, thous. 

rubles

Core management 
personnel, thous. 

rubles

Other related 
parties, thous. 

rubles

Interest income 77 333  0 0 77 333 

Interest expenses 120 308  0 0 120 308 

Net income from operations with financial assets (8 732) 0 0 (8 732)

Fee income 57 433  0 57 433 

Fee expenses 647 512  0 0 647 512 

Other operating income 595 365  0 0 595 365 

Operating expenses 2 873 631  0 0 2 873 631 

Below is a list of revenue and expenses with related parties for 2011 reflected in the line items of the Profit and Loss Statement 

(Disclosure Form 0409807). 

 
Total,  

thous. rubles

Subsidiary 
entities, 

thous. rubles

Core management 
personnel, 

thous. rubles

Other related 
parties, 

thous. rubles

Interest income 127 952 0 0 127 952

Interest expenses 214 261 0 0 214 261

Net income from operations with financial assets 36 787 0 0 36 787

Fee income 142 779 0 142 779

Fee expenses 499 834 0 0 499 834

Other operating income 741 298 795 0 740 503

Operating expenses 1 984 738 0 0 1 984 738
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4. Risk management principles

4.1. Development strategy of credit organization

The principle part of the Bank’s development strategy is the further development of both corporate and retail services. At present 

the Bank is developing new service packages to offer to potential and existing clients. Various types of derivative financial products 

are becoming increasingly popular. Thus the Bank will continue to work toward the development of new products aimed at meeting 

the growing demands of the Bank’s clients. 

4.2. Summary of areas of concentration risks related to various banking transactions  
typically executed by the Bank 

The major risks faced by the Bank are those related to credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk and also operational risk.

The Bank’s risk management policies aim to identify, analyze and manage the risks faced and to set appropriate risk limits and 

controls, and to continuously monitor risk levels and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and procedures are reviewed 

regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered and emerging best practice.

The Bank strictly adheres to a risk diversification policy in order to avoid a concentration of operations in one area of the market 

or another through the development and assimilation of new products and engagement of sectors which are new for the Bank. 

At the same time the Bank is very cautious in its stance toward high-risk transactions and strives to avoid questionable and risky 

investments. Such a policy allows for the substantial reduction of liquidity, price and market risks. Reduction of such risks is 

also made possible by the fact that the Bank operates in various areas of the financial market, without concentrating on narrow 

segments. Furthermore, the Bank’s income is evenly spread across all types of transactions, which helps mitigate the risk of changes 

in particular indicators.

The Bank’s management implements the risk management system, confirms the authority and composition of risk management 

bodies, adopts decisions on certain types of risks, and approves the Bank’s lending policy and policy governing other asset and 

liability transactions. 

The Asset and Liability Management Committee (ALCO) is engage in the planning and coordination of the Bank’s balance within the 

country, develops and adopts strategic and tactical decisions on management risk and all components the Bank’s balance sheet. 

ALCO manages and controls changes in the Bank’s assets, liabilities and capital, the volume of securitization, liquidity indicators and 

the structure of the Bank’s investment portfolio.  

The Bank’s internal control system is aimed at mitigating the following risk groups.

business (strategic) risk is the risk of losses resulting from mistakes in the adoption of decisions which determine the 

Bank’s business and development strategy and manifest themselves in the failure to consider or fully consider possible risks which 

could threaten the Bank’s business, in the incorrectly or incompletely grounded determination of promising business areas in which 

the Bank could achieve a competitive advantage, in the lack of or insufficient volume of resources or organizational measures for 

supporting the achievement of the strategic aims objectives of the Bank’s business. 

Credit risk group. This group includes: inherent credit risk (losses resulting from debtor insolvency) and country risk, including 

transfer risk (the risk of losses resulting from failure of foreign counterparties to fulfill obligations due to economic, political or social 

changes as well as a consequence of currency of obligations not being available due to particular aspects of national legislation).

market risk group. This group includes: stock market risk (the risk of losses resulting from changes in the market prices of listed 

securities of the trading portfolio and derivative financial instruments influenced by factors related to the issuers of listed securities 

and derivative financial instruments as well as general fluctuations in the market prices of financial instruments); interest rate risk 

(the risk of losses resulting from changes in interest rates of the Bank’s assets, liabilities and off-balance instruments); currency 

risk (the risk of losses resulting from disadvantageous changes in the exchange rate of various currencies and/or precious metals 

on the Bank’s open positions in foreign currencies and/or precious metals); and liquidity risk (the risk of losses resulting from the 

Bank’s inability to fully cover obligations). 

operational risk group. This group includes: operational risk (the risk of losses resulting from incompatibilities of internal processes 

and procedures for executing banking transactions with the nature and scale of the Bank’s business and/or with existing legal 

requirements, their violation by Bank employees and/or others, as well as resulting from external factors); technological (system) 
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risk (the risk of financial losses due to the loss of information, failure of information systems, unauthorized access to information 

systems, risk of emergency situations, inability of information systems to function properly); risk of incorrect reporting (the risk 

of financial losses resulting from incorrect and/or untimely compilation of reporting); legal risk (risk of losses resulting from the 

Bank’s failure to comply with legal requirements and signed agreements, legal mistakes, deficiencies of the legal system, violation of 

legislative acts and/or conditions of signed agreements by counterparties); and business reputation risk (the risk of losses resulting 

from the formation of a negative public perception of the Bank’s financial stability, quality of services provided or the nature of the 

Bank’s business in general). 

The process of identifying, assessing and limiting each of the abovementioned risk groups is determined by the corresponding 

internal documents of the Bank and corporate policies of Citigroup.

Risk identification and measurement (assessment)

For the purpose of mitigating risks, the Bank places risks in two categories:

 ■ Intrinsic risk, or the potential negative impacts of the Bank’s operations on its capital and/or liquidity if no procedures for risk 

management and internal control were in place; 

 ■ Residual risk, or the potential negative impacts on the Bank’s capital and/or liquidity with consideration of the procedures for risk 

management and internal control that are in place.

Identification and measurement of risk is a process that spans all stages of a product’s life, from the product development to the 

compilation of reporting (including management reporting). This process is applied for all risk groups and includes the following 

stages: 

 ■ Identification of potential negative events or factors which could cause financial losses, i.e. events which present risks intrinsic to 

the product in question;

 ■ Measurement (assessment) of intrinsic risks and determination of the expected and acceptable level of residual risk.

The Bank controls technological risk as follows. Several operating systems currently function in the Bank. Accounting records are 

maintained in compliance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (US GAAP) in the internal operating system Flexcube 

common to most banks incorporated within Citigroup. The SOBOS system has been developed by the Bank to record securities 

transactions. The Systematics system has been adopted by the Bank to record retail operations. Total Ledger is used for accounting 

in compliance with the CBR requirements. Data from Flexcube, SOBOS and Systematics systems are coalesced on daily basis through 

an interface file download. All financial reporting submitted to the CBR is prepared based on the data from the indicated operating 

system. Special software for account balance reconciliation has been developed and introduced for the daily procedure of confirming 

data identity in the systems. In addition, the Bank controls technological risk when purchasing new software through obligatory 

testing by IT department employees.

Operating and overhead expenses (risk of ineffectiveness) are controlled by the Finance Department of the Bank in accordance 

with internal instructions developed and implemented by the Bank. The Finance Department produces a monthly budget for 

a 12-month period approved by the management of the Bank and communicated to business units. Additional control over the budget 

implementation is provided by Finance Department employees on the monthly basis. Actual expenses levels can exceed scheduled 

expenses levels only upon management review and approval, which significantly decreases the risk of unauthorized expenses.

When introducing new products and technologies (implementation risk) the Bank performs a comprehensive and detailed analysis of 

the product for which a development project team is appointed. The team includes representatives of different departments of the 

Bank involved in the process, which enables the Bank to provide comprehensive analysis of the new product, including informational 

support, marketing promotional prospects, financial estimates and risks of possible losses. Procedures developed by the team are 

considered and approved by directors of all departments of the Bank connected with the products directly or indirectly.

The Bank’s business divisions manage risks as part of their functional responsibilities. 

On an annual basis, as a part of planning, the Compliance and Control (internal audit) service studies the businesses of all structural 

subdivisions of the Bank with the aim of identifying, assessing and documenting all existing risk through a Risk and Control Testing 

matrix. The internal audit service carries out audits for compliance with internal regulatory documents, informs management of 

violations discovered and proposes measures to eliminate discovered violations and monitor their correction. 
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Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss resulting from the failure of borrowers or counterparties to fulfill their obligations to the Bank.

The Bank has developed a credit policy for its corporate business, a credit policy for its lending to retail customers and also 

procedures for assessing the financial condition of the borrower, a procedure for reaching decisions on issuing loans, and 

a procedure for ensuring timely repayment.

The risk for each individual borrower is limited through internal restrictions, for which the practical compliance with regard to 

assumed risk is controlled on a regular basis. The limits are set according to the Bank’s target market and criteria for assuming risk. 

In order to facilitate analysis of the financial condition of each client, comparative analysis of the client’s sector and assignment 

of a client credit rating reflecting credit risk and the maximum possible losses, the Credit Rating Model (DRM Model) and other 

mathematical and scoring methods.  

The Bank limits risk concentration for individual clients, counterparties and issuers (for securities), groups of affiliated clients and 

also industries and time tables. Management of credit risk is achieved through regular analysis of the creditworthiness of borrowers, 

adherence to a “Know Your Client” policy, maintaining regular contacts with clients and visits to production sites. As a part of 

credit portfolio control and management the Bank also engages in constant monitoring of the political and economic situation in the 

country (including stress testing – analysis of the impact of negative factors of the portfolio).

The Bank also assesses the credit risk for each loan to clients in compliance with the requirements of CBR Regulations #254-P dated 

26 March 2004 “On the procedure for creation of provisions on loans, loan receivables and equivalents by credit organizations” (as 

changed and amended) (hereinafter CBR Regulations #254-P) on the basis of analysis of the borrowers business and considering its 

financial situation, quality of loan servicing, category of loan collateral and other information. The result of the analysis of all of the 

abovementioned factors determines the minimal size of the provision.

In 2012 thanks to the effective work of the Bank with borrowers there were no instances of restructuring of loans to credit 

organizations or corporate clients. The number of loans of this type that are nonperforming is negligible.

With regard to loans provided to retail customers, the Bank moved to compromise with clients who were experiencing difficulties in 

paying off borrowed funds and proposed debt restructuring of consumers loans and credit card debt. As of 1 January 2013 the total 

amount of restructured loans to retail customers was RUB 651,959 thousand (provision created – RUB 225,588 thousand), which 

represented 1.64% of all receivables from retail customers. As of 1 January 2012 the total amount of restructured loans to retail 

customers was RUB 1,085,307 thousand (provision created – RUB 475,693 thousand), which represented 3.18% of all receivables 

from retail customers. Thus a positive trend is observable in the decreasing amount of restructured debt, and the Bank’s efforts to 

restructure the debt of retail customers who are experiencing temporary difficulties have proven justified and economically prudent.
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Information on asset quality of the credit organization (thous. rubles) as of 1 January 2013

Item 
number Composition of assets Amount payable 

Quality category  Amount overdue Loan loss Provision

I II III IV V 
Up to  

30 days 
From 31  

to 90 days 
From 91  

to 180 days 
Over 

180 days  Calculated
Calculated  

with pledge 

Actually created

total

According to quality category

II III IV V 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

1 Placed with credit organizations 8 949 215 8 802 428 138 185 8 602 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 683 5 683 5 683 1 382 4 301 0 0

2 Loans to clients 170 048 777 56 134 544 49 356 582 32 649 019 25 266 822 6 641 810 768 437 349 688 214 858 41 239 26 694 816 1 446 265 1 446 265 496 530 210 069 471 022 268 644

3 Investments in securities and other 
financial instruments available for sale 106 644 458 106 640 048 0 0 0 4 410 0 0 0 0 4 410 4 410 4 410 0 0 0 4 410

4 Investments in securities held to 
maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5 Other assets, total, incl.: 4 735 888 3 023 588 1 240 244 191 386 166 738 113 932 45 523 90 415 3 044 0 133 207 133 207 133 207 12 888 3 260 3 732 113 327

5.1 Accounts receivables 1 347 352 166 123 1 044 918 20 197 4 658 111 456 42 550 86 505 1 046 0 127 089 127 089 127 089 11 003 2 254 2 376 111 456

Information on asset quality of the credit organization (thous. rubles) as of 1 January 2012

Item 
number Composition of assets Amount payable 

Quality category  Amount overdue Loan loss Provision

I II III IV V 
Up to  

30 days 
From 31  

to 90 days 
From 91  

to 180 days 
Over 

180 days  Calculated
Calculated  

with pledge 

Actually created

total

According to quality category

II III IV V 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

1 Placed with credit organizations 2 764 472 2 747 125 17 347 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 173 173 173 173 0 0 0

2 Loans to clients 149 379 037 62 580 935 46 942 766 12 016 522 11 899 681 15 939 133 619 759 317 244 235 266 2 929 359 24 794 407 4 271 117 4 271 117 351 255 159 095 160 721 3 600 046

3 Investments in securities and other 
financial instruments available for sale 111 138 835 111 134 425 0 0 0 4 410 0 0 0 0 4 410 4 410 4 410 0 0 0 4 410

4 Investments in securities held to 
maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5 Other assets, total, incl.: 4 826 843 3 618 102 958 230 78 782 25 270 146 459 45 616 6 263 4 833 128 525 167 032 167 032 167 032 9 401 2 799 10 275 144 557

5.1 Accounts receivables 1 290 567 418 764 824 400 24 640 9 412 13 351 43 458 3 479 2 391 0 32 993 32 993 32 993 8 286 1 947 9 409 13 351
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Information on asset quality of the credit organization (thous. rubles) as of 1 January 2013

Item 
number Composition of assets Amount payable 

Quality category  Amount overdue Loan loss Provision

I II III IV V 
Up to  

30 days 
From 31  

to 90 days 
From 91  

to 180 days 
Over 

180 days  Calculated
Calculated  

with pledge 

Actually created

total

According to quality category

II III IV V 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

1 Placed with credit organizations 8 949 215 8 802 428 138 185 8 602 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 683 5 683 5 683 1 382 4 301 0 0

2 Loans to clients 170 048 777 56 134 544 49 356 582 32 649 019 25 266 822 6 641 810 768 437 349 688 214 858 41 239 26 694 816 1 446 265 1 446 265 496 530 210 069 471 022 268 644

3 Investments in securities and other 
financial instruments available for sale 106 644 458 106 640 048 0 0 0 4 410 0 0 0 0 4 410 4 410 4 410 0 0 0 4 410

4 Investments in securities held to 
maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5 Other assets, total, incl.: 4 735 888 3 023 588 1 240 244 191 386 166 738 113 932 45 523 90 415 3 044 0 133 207 133 207 133 207 12 888 3 260 3 732 113 327

5.1 Accounts receivables 1 347 352 166 123 1 044 918 20 197 4 658 111 456 42 550 86 505 1 046 0 127 089 127 089 127 089 11 003 2 254 2 376 111 456

Information on asset quality of the credit organization (thous. rubles) as of 1 January 2012

Item 
number Composition of assets Amount payable 

Quality category  Amount overdue Loan loss Provision

I II III IV V 
Up to  

30 days 
From 31  

to 90 days 
From 91  

to 180 days 
Over 

180 days  Calculated
Calculated  

with pledge 

Actually created

total

According to quality category

II III IV V 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19

1 Placed with credit organizations 2 764 472 2 747 125 17 347 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 173 173 173 173 0 0 0

2 Loans to clients 149 379 037 62 580 935 46 942 766 12 016 522 11 899 681 15 939 133 619 759 317 244 235 266 2 929 359 24 794 407 4 271 117 4 271 117 351 255 159 095 160 721 3 600 046

3 Investments in securities and other 
financial instruments available for sale 111 138 835 111 134 425 0 0 0 4 410 0 0 0 0 4 410 4 410 4 410 0 0 0 4 410

4 Investments in securities held to 
maturity 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5 Other assets, total, incl.: 4 826 843 3 618 102 958 230 78 782 25 270 146 459 45 616 6 263 4 833 128 525 167 032 167 032 167 032 9 401 2 799 10 275 144 557

5.1 Accounts receivables 1 290 567 418 764 824 400 24 640 9 412 13 351 43 458 3 479 2 391 0 32 993 32 993 32 993 8 286 1 947 9 409 13 351
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Information on liabilities of credit and noncredit nature, forward transactions (deliverable and non-deliverable) and on actual 
formation of  provisions (thousand rubles) as of 1 January 2013

Instrument Total liability

Quality Category Provision as of 1 January 2013

I II III IV V Calculated
Calculated 

with pledge

Actually formed

  According to quality category

total II III IV V

Unused credit lines and unused limits 
provided in the form of overdraft protection 
and credit limits 57 536 533 10 673 139 45 727 266 816 158 235 259 84 711 842 721 609 871 609 871 458 069 86 211 36 242 29 349

Letters of credit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guarantees and sureties 14 389 536 8 016 868 2 955 555 688 640 2 706 498 21 975 1 586 263 34 531 34 531 1 306 33 225 0 0

Futures contracts Receivables Payables 

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(positive)

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(negative)

Impairment 
provision

Forward 39 383 407 39 288 107 1 812 376 1 717 075 0

Option 0 0 0 0 0

Swap 0 0 0 0 0

Derivative financial instruments

Fair value

Receivables Payables 

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(positive)

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(negative)Asset Liabilities

Forward 1 167 933 1 037 591 27 931 572 35 587 853 1 533 677 1 623 195

Option 4 639 15 780 2 533 724 2 544 865 51 891 51 891

Swap 2 693 588 2 076 466 114 657 912 113 796 475 4 276 603 3 268 794

Information in liabilities of credit and noncredit nature, forward transactions (deliverable and non-deliverable) and on actual 
formation of impairment provisions (thousand rubles) as of 1 January 2012

Instrument Total liability

Quality category Provision as of 1 January 2012

I II III IV V Calculated
Calculated with 

pledge

Actually formed

  According to quality category

total II III IV V

Unused credit lines and unused limits provided 
in the form of overdraft protection and credit 
limits 47 720 797 10 870 943 35 643 748 1 006 832 108 095 91 179 707 451 463 893 463 893 360 090 57 336 26 911 19 556

Letters of credit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guarantees and sureties 16 980 578 4 916 756 7 398 233 1 182 597 2 060 392 1 422 600 2 798 851 122 358 122 358 69 838 52 520 0 0

Conditional noncredit liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Type of deliverable/ non-deliverable transaction Receivables Payables 

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(positive)

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(negative)

Impairment 
provision

Forward 81 994 501 82 578 036 881 233 1 464 767 583 534

Option 8 149 628 8 149 628 231 504 231 504 165 638

Swap 144 758 374 143 546 164 4 551 352 3 339 141 0
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Information on liabilities of credit and noncredit nature, forward transactions (deliverable and non-deliverable) and on actual 
formation of  provisions (thousand rubles) as of 1 January 2013

Instrument Total liability

Quality Category Provision as of 1 January 2013

I II III IV V Calculated
Calculated 

with pledge

Actually formed

  According to quality category

total II III IV V

Unused credit lines and unused limits 
provided in the form of overdraft protection 
and credit limits 57 536 533 10 673 139 45 727 266 816 158 235 259 84 711 842 721 609 871 609 871 458 069 86 211 36 242 29 349

Letters of credit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guarantees and sureties 14 389 536 8 016 868 2 955 555 688 640 2 706 498 21 975 1 586 263 34 531 34 531 1 306 33 225 0 0

Futures contracts Receivables Payables 

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(positive)

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(negative)

Impairment 
provision

Forward 39 383 407 39 288 107 1 812 376 1 717 075 0

Option 0 0 0 0 0

Swap 0 0 0 0 0

Derivative financial instruments

Fair value

Receivables Payables 

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(positive)

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(negative)Asset Liabilities

Forward 1 167 933 1 037 591 27 931 572 35 587 853 1 533 677 1 623 195

Option 4 639 15 780 2 533 724 2 544 865 51 891 51 891

Swap 2 693 588 2 076 466 114 657 912 113 796 475 4 276 603 3 268 794

Information in liabilities of credit and noncredit nature, forward transactions (deliverable and non-deliverable) and on actual 
formation of impairment provisions (thousand rubles) as of 1 January 2012

Instrument Total liability

Quality category Provision as of 1 January 2012

I II III IV V Calculated
Calculated with 

pledge

Actually formed

  According to quality category

total II III IV V

Unused credit lines and unused limits provided 
in the form of overdraft protection and credit 
limits 47 720 797 10 870 943 35 643 748 1 006 832 108 095 91 179 707 451 463 893 463 893 360 090 57 336 26 911 19 556

Letters of credit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guarantees and sureties 16 980 578 4 916 756 7 398 233 1 182 597 2 060 392 1 422 600 2 798 851 122 358 122 358 69 838 52 520 0 0

Conditional noncredit liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Type of deliverable/ non-deliverable transaction Receivables Payables 

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(positive)

Unrealized 
exchange rate 

differences 
(negative)

Impairment 
provision

Forward 81 994 501 82 578 036 881 233 1 464 767 583 534

Option 8 149 628 8 149 628 231 504 231 504 165 638

Swap 144 758 374 143 546 164 4 551 352 3 339 141 0
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Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of changes in fair value or future cash flows for a financial instrument as a result of changes in market prices. 

Market risk included currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risks. Market risk arises with open positions on interest rate, 

currency and equity instruments, which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility 

of market prices. 

The aim of managing market risk is to maintain an acceptable level of assumed risk as determined by the Bank’s business strategy. 

The priority is to ensure the highest level of asset and capital preservation and reduce (exclude) possible losses and unrealized profit 

from the Bank’s transactions on financial markets as well as other transactions of the Bank where market risk is assumed.

The Bank manages market risk through the establishment of limits on open positions with regard to portfolio size for certain financial 

instruments, terms of changes in interest rates, currency positions, stop loss limits and regular monitoring of compliance, the results 

of which are reviewed and approved by the Executive Board.

The Bank also utilizes Value-at-Risk (VAR) methodology to monitor market risk of its trading positions. 

The Bank has developed a Market Risk Control Policy which regulates the assessment and methods for controlling this risk.

Stock market risk

By carrying out securities operations, the Bank assumes stock market risk. 

Stock market risk is the risk of fluctuations in the fair value or future cash flow for financial instruments as a result of changes in 

market price (except changes resulting from the impact of interest rate risk or currency risk) independent of whether such changes 

were caused by factors characteristic of the given instrument or issuer or by factors impacting all such financial instruments traded 

on the market. Market risk arises when the Bank has a long or short position on a financial instrument. 

Currency risk 

The Bank assumes risk related to the influence of exchange rate fluctuations on its financial condition and cash flow. 

The Bank controls the level of currency risk through limits on open currency positions (hereinafter – OCP) on a daily basis.

The Bank sets a limit at the end of each business day on the level of assumed risk for each functional currency and monitors 

compliance on a daily basis. Currency risk is minimized through a balanced OCP volume ensuring the necessary liquidity for the 

currencies used. 

The Bank’s Monetary and Financial Department manages interest rate and currency risk with the aim of achieving income from 

forecasted market developments (market trends). The mechanisms of control and management of interest rate risk and currency 

risk are described in detail in the Market Risk Management Policy. Management of market risk and liquidity risk provides for 

assessment of risks for all products of the Monetary and Financial Department and monitors acceptable volumes according to 

position. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk arising from the influence of market rate fluctuations on the financial condition and cash flow in the case 

of open positions on interest rate instruments.

The Bank defines interest rate risk as possible loss or lower profitability in connection with financial market changes and an 

imbalance of the Bank’s assets and liabilities (with regard to interest rates, interest rate periods and maturity terms).  

The risk of changes in interest rates is managed primarily through the setting of indicators and limits characterizing the sensitivity of 

positions to changes in interest rates. 
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liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk implies the risk of situations in which the Bank would not be capable of making payment on liabilities or executing 

current payments on behalf of clients with restructuring assets and/or tapping emergency funds. Liquidity risk arises from 

a mismatch of terms for asset and liability transactions.

The Bank’s liquidity management system is an inseparable part of its asset and liability management system. 

As a part of the global liquidity control and management system of Citigroup, the current liquidity control and management system 

of the Bank incorporates provisions and approaches stated in the corporate policy on liquidity risk management. The Assets and 

Liabilities Committee is responsible for developing and providing efficient liquidity management and control. In compliance with the 

corporate policy, liquidity control and management procedures implemented by the Bank are as follows:

 ■ establishing limits of possible liquidity gap based on maturities of assets and liabilities;

 ■ establishing limits of cross-currency financing;

 ■ developing and analyzing stress scenarios;

 ■ monitoring of compliance of liquidity ratio (norms) on a daily basis according to CBR requirements;

 ■ determining market indicators potentially affecting market liquidity;

 ■ establishing criteria for determining significant financing sources (large cash suppliers);

 ■ reporting in compliance with the Citigroup assets/liabilities model on a daily basis.

legal risks 

Legal risks in the Bank’s business can be categorized as follows:

 ■ risks of executing transactions which could be declared invalid according to current legislation of the Russian Federation;

 ■ risks of signing agreement containing inadequate provisions on the Bank’s responsibility or provisions capable of leading to 

substantial devaluation of assets or increase in the obligations of the Bank;

 ■ risks of disadvantageous outcome of judicial disputes in which the Bank is a party;

 ■ risks related to changes in currency, tax and/or banking legislation, and/or judicial practice on issues concerning the Bank’s core 

business.

The abovementioned risks are not specific to the Bank; all financial institutions are exposed to them. 

Operational risk 

One of the most important risks related to the Bank’s business is operational risk. Operational risk is understood as the possibility of 

losses arising from any of the following: failures in the functioning of the Bank’s material support; mistakes or violations occurring 

as a result of ineffective organization of the Bank’s business; and insufficiencies in the internal control system. Furthermore, this 

is also the risk of unforeseen losses or income resulting from incompatibilities of internal processes and procedures for executing 

banking transactions with the nature and scale of the Bank’s business and/or with existing legal requirements, their violation by Bank 

employees and/or others, as well as resulting from external factors.

The Bank has approved a Policy for Management of Operational Risks and Risk and Control Testing in order to manage operation 

risks. The Bank’s policy for management of operational risks stipulates the identification and measurement of risks, risk 

management, testing of risks and controls, ongoing monitoring of operational losses as well as reporting to the Bank’s management.

Strategic risk

Along with financial risks, the Bank monitors functional risks. In order to cover strategic risk, the Bank develops its strategy 

based on principles common to all the banks incorporated within the structure of Citigroup Corporation. Despite the fact that the 

Bank’s strategy is an integral part of the strategy of the whole group, the specifics of working in the Russian market undoubtedly 

dominate in setting goals and objectives for the Bank. All strategic decisions are taken by the senior management of the Bank and 

subject to obligatory agreement and approval in the regional Citibank N.A. head office in London.
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Reputational risk

The Bank has a solid business reputation, forms a positive perception about the Bank, the quality of services offered and the nature 

of its business as a whole, based on the objective results of its business. The Bank’s management assesses the likelihood of losses 

arising from a decline in business reputation as minimal. 

Existing and potential lawsuits in which the Bank is a respondent party

In the process of engaging in business activities clients and counterparties can bring claims against the Bank.

The Bank’s management assesses the total volume of obligations which could arise as a result of any lawsuits against the Bank would 

not have a substantial impact on the Bank’s financial condition.

Country risk 

Country risk (including transfer risk) is the risk of Bank incurring losses as a result of the failure of foreign counterparties (legal 

entities or persons) to fulfill or properly fulfill obligations due to economic, political or social changes as well as a consequence of 

currency of financial obligations not being available due to particular aspects of national legislation (regardless of the financial 

condition of the counterparty).

The Bank is a resident of the Russian Federation and carries out its business on the Territory of the Russian Federation.  

The Bank is cautious in its approach to assume credit risk for residents of other countries. As a rule, these are clients of the Bank 

from developed countries. Among nonresidents with whom the Bank carries out various transactions, the dominating role is played 

by banks and financial organizations within Citigroup. 

Information about country concentrations of the Bank’s assets and liabilities 

Below is information on the geography of concentrations of assets and liabilities of the Bank as of 1 January 2013 and 1 January 

2012 as reflected in the line items of the Balance Sheet (Disclosure Form 0409806). Information is grouped for the Russian 

Federation (RF), CIS countries (CIS), the countries of the group of developed countries (GDC) and other countries (OC).  
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thous. rubles

  1 January 2013 Total RF CIS GDC OC

1 Cash 5 437 712 5 437 712 0 0 0

2 Placements with the Central Bank of the 
Russian Federation 17 529 032 17 529 032 0 0 0

2.1 Mandatory reserves 3 390 210 3 390 210 0 0 0

3 Placements with credit institutions 8 943 532 931 170 10 490 7 995 774 6 098

4 Net investments in securities at fair value 
through profit or loss 14 934 906 10 866 429 642 4 053 896 13 939

5 Net loans to customers 168 602 512 154 050 105 64 113 6 830 428 7 657 866

6 Net investments in securities and other 
financial assets available for sale 106 640 048 104 881 085 0 1 758 963 0

6.1 Investments in subsidiaries and affiliated 
companies 0 0 0 0 0

7 Net investments in securities held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0

8 Fixed assets, intangible assets and materials 1 289 308 1 289 308 0 0 0

9 Other assets 4 602 681 4 473 626 20 128 553 482

10 Total assets 327 979 731 299 458 467 75 265 20 767 614 7 678 385

11 Loans, deposits and other funds from the 
Central Bank of the Russian Federation 18 192 281 18 192 281 0 0 0

12 Amounts due to credit institutions 12 955 898 8 730 320 435 060 3 587 100 203 418

13 Customer accounts (non-credit institutions) 
and deposits incl. 226 539 149 210 862 750 859 339 10 796 585 4 020 475

13.1 Deposits of individuals 62 464 145 56 420 704 826 713 4 133 157 1 083 571

14 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss 3 129 838 428 162 77 450 2 618 759 5 467

15 Debt securities issued 0 0 0 0 0

16 Other liabilities 13 155 592 13 090 613 528 63 629 822

17 Provisions for possible losses on credit 
related commitments, other possible losses 
and settlements with residents of offshore 
zones 707 795 599 460 149 95 484 12 702

18 Total liabilities 274 680 553 251 903 586 1 372 526 17 161 557 4 242 884

28 Irrevocable commitments of credit institution 323 077 827 146 008 001 2 154 050 172 958 388 1 957 388

29 Guarantees and sureties issued by credit 
institution 14 389 536 10 510 700 0 1 816 644 2 062 192
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thous. rubles

   1 January 2012 Total RF CIS GDC OC

1 Cash 5 478 472 5 478 472 0 0 0

2 Placements with the Central Bank of the 
Russian Federation 4 473 781 4 473 781 0 0 0

2.1 Mandatory reserves 3 228 478 3 228 478 0 0 0

3 Placements with credit institutions 2 764 299 1 371 864 10 845 1 379 398 2 192

4 Net investments in securities at fair value 
through profit or loss 8 321 940 8 318 809 0 3 131 0

5 Net loans to customers 145 107 920 125 144 466 43 894 19 867 589 51 971

6 Net investments in securities and other 
financial assets available for sale 111 134 425 108 058 442 0 3 075 983 0

6.1 Investments in subsidiaries and affiliated 
companies 11 100 11 100 0 0 0

7 Net investments in securities held to maturity 0 0 0 0 0

8 Fixed assets, intangible assets and materials 1 534 061 1 534 061 0 0 0

9 Other assets 4 659 811 4 604 823 10 35 622 19 356

10 Total assets 283 474 709 258 984 718 54 749 24 361 723 73 519

11 Loans, deposits and other funds from the 
Central Bank of the Russian Federation 2 390 971 2 390 971 0 0 0

12 Amounts due to credit institutions 12 212 137 5 399 601 169 230 6 597 578 45 728

13 Customer accounts (non-credit institutions) 
and Deposits incl. 209 599 163 186 541 608 718 802 17 274 329 5 064 424

13.1 Deposits of individuals 57 108 408 52 191 839 692 193 3 266 829 957 547

14 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss 0 0 0 0 0

15 Debt securities issued 0 0 0 0 0

16 Other liabilities 11 771 487 11 309 176 447 120 005 341 859

17 Provisions for possible losses on credit 
related commitments, other possible losses 
and settlements with residents of offshore 
zones 1 963 269 1 911 133 58 41 932 10 146

18 Total liabilities 237 937 027 207 552 489 888 537 24 033 844 5 462 157

28 Irrevocable commitments of credit institution 303 585 422 130 601 464 1 781 846 170 625 481 576 631

29 Guarantees and sureties issued by credit 
institution 16 980 578 15 275 190 215 064 1 413 092 77 234
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5. Main components of reporting

The Annual Report was prepared in compliance with the requirements of CBR Instruction No. 2089-U dated 8 October 2008 “On 

the procedure for preparation of annual report by credit organizations” (with addendums and amendments) (hereinafter – CBR 

Instruction No. 2089-U).

The Bank’s accounting is performed in compliance with the requirements of CBR Regulation #302-P dated 26 March 2007 “Accounting 

rules for credit organizations located on the territory of the Russian Federation” (with addendums and amendments) (hereinafter – 

CBR Regulation #302-P) and other normative documents.

As a result of operations in 2012 the Bank received net profit in the amount of RUB 10,188,472 thousand after taxes and accounting 

for events after the reporting period. This profit is reported under balance account 70801 (previous year’s profit). 

Throughout 2012 taxes were paid from income of the reporting period on a monthly basis for a total amount of 

RUB 3,961,446 thousand adjusted for events after the reporting period.

The data from the Annual Report for 2012 are comparable to the data for 2011 with the exception of the data for derivative financial 

instruments and futures transactions in following with changes in the legislation of the Russian Federation with regard to the 

regulation of the accounting practices and reporting requirements of credit organizations. 

5.1. Accounting Policy and list of material changes to the Accounting Policy 
influencing the comparability of certain business indicators 

The Bank’s Accounting Policy for 2012 was confirmed by a protocol of the Board of Directors of ZAO CB Citibank dated 2 July 

2012 and effective from 1 January 2012. 

Material changes in accounting rules capable of influencing the comparability of certain business indicators of the Bank were 

not made to the Accounting Policy for 2012 with the exception of changes related to the entry into force of the Central Bank of 

Russia’s Regulation 374-P from 4 July 2011 “On the accounting procedure for derivative financial instruments” (hereinafter – CBR 

Regulation 372-P).

As of 1 January 2012 a fixed asset is considered acquired property with a cost exceeding RUB 40,000 excluding VAT.

5.2. Changes in Accounting Policy for the next reporting year 

The bank does not plan to introduce changes to its Accounting Policy except when necessary as a result of the introduction of 

amendments and the improvement of existing legislation concerning the methodological aspects of bank accounting and reporting, 

in particular, changes with regard to the accounting for transactions involving the transfer of monetary funds and also deals made on 

exchanges in connection with the entry into force starting 1 January 2013 of CBR Regulation from 16 July 2012 385-P “On accounting 

rules for credit organizations located on the territory of the Russian Federation.” 

5.3. Summary of information from inventory of balance sheet items 

In order to prepare for the Annual Report, the Bank inventoried fixed assets, intangible assets and materials as of 1 December 2012. 

Furthermore, as of 1 January 2013 all cash offices of all Bank branches and offices were inventoried. The results of the inventory 

were recorded in the corresponding acts. The Bank takes measures to receive written confirmations of customer accounts balances. 

On 11 January 2013 the Bank sent to its customers’ statements of accounts with balances as at 1 January 2013 for all customer 

accounts (settlement, loan, current, correspondent, savings, deposit, etc.). The Bank performs SWIFT verification of interbank loans 

and deposits balances. The Bank also performs verification of assets and liabilities on forward and spot transactions reflected in 

section “G” of chart of accounts. No discrepancies were revealed during the course of the verification of these balance sheet items. 

5.4. Information on receivables and payables 

The Bank performed reconciliation of receivables and payables from settlements balances. This reconciliation was documented in 

bilateral acts with all suppliers and vendors. The period of recognition of receivables on the Bank’s balance sheet fully corresponds to 

the nature of recognized transactions. There are no overdue receivables as at 1 January 2013.



126     FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   Prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting regulations of the Russian Federation.

ZAO Citibank   Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

5.5. Post Balance Sheet Events (hereinafter – PBSE)

The Annual Report was compiled with adjustments for events after the reporting period.

With the aim of correctly compiling the Bank’s Annual Report for 2012 the following PBSE were reflected:

 ■ transfer of balances recorded on balance accounts 706 “Current period financial result” to balance accounts 707 “Previous period 

financial result”; 

 ■ overpayment of tax on profit in 2012 in the amount of RUB 193,358 thousand;

 ■ overpayment on tax on revenues in the form of interest on sovereign and municipal securities for December 2012 in the amount 

of RUB 11,758 thousand;

 ■ business expenses and other non-operating expenses of the Bank in the amount of RUB 556,037 thousand;

 ■ recovery of previously established provision for employee bonus payments for the year 2012 in the amount of 

RUB 21,427 thousand;

 ■ transfer of balances from account 707 to account 70801 “Previous Period Profit” in the amount of RUB 10,188,472 thousand.

In total, PBSE resulted in a decrease in the amount of RUB 330,114 thousand in the Bank’s profit from the reporting year.

5.6. Principles and methods for assessing and accounting for certain transactions 

5.6.1.  Assets 

Assets are accounted at cost. Subsequently the assets are valued (revalued) at current (fair) value or through provisions for 

impairment in compliance to the CBR normative documents. 

5.6.1.1.  Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are understood as property with a utilization period of more than 12 months and used as a means for providing services, 

corporate management and also in instances stipulated by health and hygienic, operational, and other special technical norms and 

requirements, the cost of which exceeds RUB 40,000 per unit excluding VAT. 

Fixed assets of the Bank are accounted at cost that includes original cost derived from actual expenses and revaluation cost. 

Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated and charged to expenses of the Bank on monthly basis based on established depreciation 

rates (amortization) for complete recovery in compliance with current legislation. Fixed assets depreciation is charged on straight-

line or declining method. The Bank applies straight-line method of depreciation to buildings, constructions, transfer units included 

in the 8th-10th depreciation groups, irrespective of the date when a fixed asset is placed in operation. The Bank applies declining 

method of depreciation to other fixed assets placed in operation before 1 January 2008. The straight-line method of depreciation is 

applied to all other fixed assets placed in operation after 1 January 2008.

5.6.1.2. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at the amount of expenses for their purchase, production and bringing to utilizable condition. The 

value of intangible assets created by the Bank are assessed as the sum of expenses on their creation, production (including 

material expenses, labor expenses, expenses on third-party services, patent fees, expenses related to obtaining patents, use rights, 

certificates) and such. Changes in the initial value of intangible assets are possible through revaluation (devaluation). Modernization 

of intangible assets is considered an expense of the Bank.

5.6.1.3. Materials

Business materials, which are acquired by the Bank strictly through applications confirmed by business division directors within the 

established limits, are delivered by the supplier directly to the business division and are reflected in expense accounts at actual cost, 

which includes all expenses related to acquisition, delivery and bringing to utilizable condition for production purposes at the start of 

use.
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5.6.1.4. Securities

The Bank classifies securities according to purchase objectives in the following categories:

 ■ investment in securities at fair value through profit or loss; 

 ■ investment in securities available for sale.

Investment in securities classified upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are accounted at current (fair) value.

Investment in securities available for sale is accounted at current (fair) value. It the current (fair) value cannot be reliably 

determined then the securities of these categories are accounted at the cost of acquisition.

For debt obligations not settled upon maturity date, the Bank creates an impairment provision.

For recognition of current (fair) value of sovereign, municipal and corporate securities current day weighted average market 

price disclosed by the market operator (Moscow Interbank Currency Exchange) is used. For recognition of current (fair) value 

of corporate securities in foreign currency (Eurobonds) the weighted average market price of the previous day disclosed by 

International Information Agencies (Reuters/Bloomberg) is used. 

On the last working day of each month all securities recognized on the balance sheet and subject to revaluation are revalued at 

the exchange rate of the last working day of the month. In case there is no data on weighted average market prices on Eurobonds, 

demand price (BID) is taken as a market price, published by the International Information Agency Reuters as at 5 pm Moscow 

time on the last working day of the month, and in case there is no data provided by Reuters, demand price (BID) published by the 

International Information Agency Bloomberg as at 5 pm Moscow time on the last working day of the reporting month is considered.

In case current fair value of securities for the calendar month cannot be determined, appropriate provision is created for such 

securities. Provision for available-for-sale investments is created on the basis of motivated judgment in compliance with the CBR 

normative documents requirements.

The Bank has established a valuation method for retired (sold) securities based on the FIFO method.

The acquisition (transfer) of ownership of securities via transactions on conditions of maturity, repayment and interest payment 

is not grounds for the initial recognition (derecognition) of securities if it does not entail transfer of all risks and advantages (or 

a substantial portion of them) as a result of the ownership of the transferred securities. 

For repurchase (repo) transactions for which the Bank is the initial purchaser of the securities, the Bank does not assume the risk 

and advantages related to the ownership of these securities. Securities received during the first stage of a repo transaction are 

accounted without recognition as an asset of the Bank and are reflected on off-balance accounts. Monies paid during the first stage 

of a repo transaction are reflected in the balance accounts for other invested assets.

For repo agreements by which securities are purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repo), the Bank assumes the risk 

and advantages related to the ownership of these securities; the transfer of securities via repo transactions are enacted without 

their derecognition as assets of the Bank. Monies received during the first stage of a repo transaction are reflected in the balance 

accounts for other attracted funds. 

5.6.1.5. Forward transactions and derivative financial instruments

The classification of financial instruments as forward transactions and derivative financial instruments (hereinafter – derivatives) is 

performed by the Bank in accordance to the provisions of Federal Law No. 39 “On the Securities Market” from 22 April 1996 and the 

directive of the Federal Financial Markets Service No.10-13/pz-n from 4 March 2010. The list of derivatives transacted by the Bank 

with counterparties is stipulated in the Model Provisions of the Financial Markets Transaction Agreement and has been confirmed by 

the New Product Approval Committee of the Treasury of Citigroup. The Bank’s Accounting Policy sets out an accounting procedure 

for derivatives in compliance with the requirements of Central Bank Regulation 372-P.

On the accounts of part A “Balance Accounts” of section 5 “Operations with Securities and Derivative Financial Instruments” 

accounting for derivatives begins at the moment of the signing of the transaction and recognizes its fair value. The revaluation 

of derivatives occurs no less than once a month on the reporting date and on the date identified as the settlement date. For the 

purpose of determining the fair value of derivatives, the Bank uses the methodology accepted by Citigroup and described in the 
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corresponding internal procedural documents. The Bank accepts the assessments of international information agencies such as 

Reuters and Bloomberg as reliable sources of information for the assessment of the fair value of both exchange traded and over-the-

counter derivatives.

On the accounts of part G “Derivative Financial Instruments and Forward Transactions” of the Bank’s balance sheet the nominal 

value is stated for claims and liabilities on deliverable forward contracts for financial assets in the form of securities, precious 

metals, foreign currencies and derivatives. The transactions are reflected on the accounts from the date of signing to the date of the 

receipt of the first settlements. Transactions which do not stipulate the delivery of an underlying asset are not accounted for in part 

G “Derivative Financial Instruments and Forward Transactions”.

Claims and liabilities reflecting on the accounts of part G “Derivative Financial Instruments and Forward Transactions” are 

reappraised according to changes in the official CBR exchange rates for foreign currencies and the current fair value of securities. 

Reappraisal (unrealized exchange rate differences) is reflected in accounts of part G “Derivative Financial Instruments and Forward 

Transactions” corresponding to the reappraised financial asset/liability. Reappraisal arising as a result of changes in a variable 

interest rate is reflected on the last working day of the month, the date of confirmation of a variable interest rate according to 

transaction conditions and on the date of the conclusion of the transaction.

The Bank creates provisions for possible losses from forward agreements in compliance with CBR Regulation 283-P dated 20 March 

2006 “On the formation of provisions by credit organizations for possible losses” (with amendments and addendums) and internal 

normative documents of the Bank.

5.6.1.6.  loans extended (deposits), provisions for impairment of invested funds

Loans extended (deposits) are accounted at cost of provision from the date of actual provision of funds.

With regard to loans extended in compliance with CBR Regulation 254-P and existing internal Credit Policies (for corporate and retail 

lending), provisions are created for loan impairment on loans, loan receivables and equivalents.

For the purposes of evaluation of credit risk with respect to loans issued to individuals, the Bank uses a method of grouping 

consumer loans into portfolios of homogenous loan products. 

Interest income from invested funds is reflected in accounting on a daily basis. Interest income which is considered certain is 

reflected on income accounts as accrued interest. Interest income which has not been recognized as certain is reflected on income 

accounts upon receipt.

Certainty or uncertainty in the receipt of income is recognized based on an assessment of the loan, loan receivables and equivalents 

or the level of risk of possible loss for the given asset (receivable):

 ■ for loans, assets (receivables), classified by the Bank in the first, second and third quality categories, receipt of income is 

considered certain (the likelihood of receipt of the said income is considered absolute and (or) high);

 ■ for loans, assets (receivables), classified by the Bank in the fourth and fifth quality categories, receipt of income is considered 

uncertain (receipt of income is conditional or unlikely); 

 ■ income not received but accrued on the balance sheet is not written off from income in the case of changes in the quality 

category of loan or asset. In the case of an increase in the quality category of loan or asset (receivable) for which there is no 

income receipt uncertainty, all amounts receivable as of the reclassification date reflected as income.

During the reporting period the Bank had no transactions with promissory notes. 

5.6.1.7. Acquisition of receivables from agreements on the provision (placement) of funds

Acquired rights to receivables arising from agreements on the provision (placement) of monetary funds are accounted for at the 

cost of acquisition on the date of acquisition as stipulated by the conditions of the agreement. The date of liability retirement is the 

date of the fulfillment of the debtors obligations of the date of the concession of receivables to third parties (date of sale) stipulated 

by the sales agreement. 

Income from factoring transactions are accounted by the Bank as an advance fee and is subject to monthly accrual on certain 

accounts of the sub-ledger account 47423 in correspondence with account 70601 Income expressed by the symbol 12401 with the 

subsequent creation of 100% impairment provisions for clients of the fourth and fifth quality categories.
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The financial result from retirement of receivables is determined as the difference between the purchase price of receivables and the 

sale price or the sum of paid by the debtor (borrower) as stipulated by the agreement whereby the receivables were acquired. In the 

case that the payment for sold (redeemed) receivables is made in parts, the financial result is calculated as the difference between 

the sum of the partial payment and the sum of the sold (redeemed) portion of the receivables calculated proportionately with regard 

to the amount of the proportional payment and the nominal value of the receivables.  

In the case of properly established approval by authorized representatives of the Bank, expenses on concession agreements for 

a portfolio of homogenous loans (fees, bonuses, awards, discounts, etc.) in an amount exceeding the nominal value of the acquired 

portfolio are simultaneously written off.  

Interest income arising from the conditions of an underlying agreement on the placement (provision) of funds but not included in the 

volume of acquired payables are recognized as income and reflect in accounting reports as interest income from money placement 

transactions. 

5.6.2. liabilities

Liabilities are accounted for in compliance with the agreement conditions with the aim of ensuring their complete and timely 

fulfillment. Liabilities can be reappraised according to current (fair) value in instances stipulated by CBR normative documents.

The sum of received (attracted) funds is reflected in accounting on the date of their receipt.

5.6.2.1.  Borrowed funds (loans, deposits received) 

Received (attracted) monetary funds expressed in the currency of the Russian Federation are reflected in accounting in rubles in 

the amount of actual payables while those expressed in foreign currency are reflected in foreign currency on the date of their entry 

into accounting records with the subsequent reappraisal in the established order according to the official exchange rate, with the 

exception of payables which are advances and preliminary payments on balance accounts for settlements with non-residents on 

business transactions.

Interest on loans received (deposits) are accrued and recognized as expenses on a daily basis. The Bank does not issue debt 

securities.

5.6.2.2.  Share capital, dividends

The registered share capital of the Bank comprises 1000 uncertified common registered shares, which prior to 27 June 2012 were 

distributed among the shareholders Citibank Overseas Investment Corporation (USA), 99.9%, and Foremost Investment Corporation 

(USA), 0.1%, and amounts to RUB 1,000,000,000 (one billion). In June 2012 all shares were transferred to a single shareholder – 

Citigroup Netherlands B.V.

The sole shareholder of ZAO CB Citibank, as a part of the general shareholders meeting on 26 December 2012, made a decision to 

pay out dividends from unallocated profits from previous years in the amount of RUB 4,621,650 thousand. These dividends were paid 

to Citigroup Netherlands B.V. on 27 December 2012.

As of the date of the Auditors’ Report, the Bank’s Board of Directors did not issue recommendations on the size of dividends for 

2012 results. 

5.6.3. Operating leases

The sum of lease payments made under operating leases is recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

lease.

5.6.4. Income tax

Income tax is calculated and paid on a monthly basis.

The Bank does business in various tax jurisdictions. In doing business management must interpret and apply the existing legal 

norms with regard to transactions with third-parties and the Bank’s own operations. At present Russian tax legislation as a rule is 

based on how transactions are transacted and how they are accounted for in accordance with the Russian principles of accounting. 



130     FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   Prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting regulations of the Russian Federation.

ZAO Citibank   Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2012

Interpretation of Russian tax legislation by tax authorities as well as judicial practice in this regard are in a state of constant flux 

and in the future could concentrate attention not on the form but rather on the economic substance of a transaction. Recent events 

transpiring in the Russian Federation demonstrate that tax authorities are taking a more strict position with regard to interpretation 

and application of tax legislation.

A tax year is subject to audit by tax authorities for a period of three calendar years from its conclusions. Throughout this period any 

changes in the interpretation of legislation and its practical implementation, even without any changes transpiring in Russian tax law, 

could be applied retrospectively. Such risks are also encountered in other jurisdictions where the Bank does business.

Starting 1 January 2012 new rules on transfer pricing came into effect in Russia. The new rules provide tax authorities the right to 

make corrections with regard to transfer pricing and the accrual of additional tax obligations with regard to all transactions subject 

to tax control in the case that the price of a transaction diverges from market prices or market yield spread. Considering the fact that 

these rules for transfer pricing in the Russian Federation have been in effect for such a short period of time, the implications of such 

disputes cannot be assessed with a high degree of reliability. At the same time, the implications could be substantial for the financial 

condition and/or business of the Bank on the whole.

It is the Bank’s opinion, as of 1 January 2013, that the corresponding provisions of tax legislation have been correctly interpreted, and 

there is a high likelihood that current position of the Bank, in terms of tax, currency and customs law, will remain the same. 

5.6.5. Statement of income and expenses

In order to define income from principal transactions in 2012 the Bank used the method of income and expense accruals. This means 

that financial results of transactions (income and expenses) are recognized in accounting records when the corresponding service is 

provided and not upon cash (or equivalents) receipt or payment.

Costs and charges subject to reimbursement are not recognized as expenses and are subject to accounting on corresponding 

receivables accounts.

Income and expenses are recognized in accounting records within the reporting period they refer to. The reporting period for income 

and expense recognition is the calendar year. A calendar month is defined as the control time period for proportional allocation of 

income and expenses. Interest on the Bank’s investments is posted by the operating system on daily basis. Commissions payable to 

the Bank are recorded as expenses on payment day provided by the agreement provisions.

With the aim of optimizing and increasing the effectiveness of the Bank’s operations, the following assumptions are made:

 ■ materiality for received/paid commissions on credit and other transactions equals to USD 100,000, i.e. commission amounts 

below the set equivalent may be charged to income/expenses irrespective of period they are received/paid for;

 ■ staff costs are recorded when accrued, travel expenses and representation expenses are recorded when approved;

 ■ depreciation is charged not later than the last working day of the month, taxes and levies — not later than the set due date;

 ■ expense recognition on prepaid lease payments accounted as prepaid expenses is performed on monthly basis for the period of 

actually provided rental services;

 ■ expenses on subscription to periodicals are charged to expenses at the payment date;

 ■ accrued income on transactions with customers and counterparties of the Bank classified into the first, second or third quality 

category is recognized as determined by the CBR Regulations #254-P dated 26 March 2004

 ■ income not received but accrued in the balance sheet is not written off from income in case of changes in quality category of loan 

or asset (receivable). In case of increase in quality category of loan or asset (receivable), for which there is no income receipt 

uncertainty, all amounts receivable at reclassification date are charged to income;

 ■ determination of receipt of services by the Bank is valid starting the service acceptance date.

Analytical accounting on the accounts for profit and loss is performed only in Russian rubles. Profit and loss accounts reflect the 

ruble equivalent of sums in foreign currencies based on the official exchange rate on the date of record of the income or expense. 

5.6.6. Reappraisal of foreign currency assets

Reappraisal of assets denominated in foreign currency occurs based on changes in the official exchange rates established by the CBR 

with the results reflected in the receipts and expenditures account on a daily basis.
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Reappraisal of foreign currency assets not included in the list of foreign currencies whose exchange rate is established by the 

CBR is carried out on the basis of changes in the exchange rates of these currencies as determined in accordance with the 

Bank’s Accounting Policy, with the results reflected in the receipts and expenditures account on a daily basis. The opening balance is 

reappraised at the start of the business day.

Exchange rate differences arising from the calculations of currency conversion transactions in foreign currencies are included in the 

Bank’s financial result according to the exchange rate in effect on the day of transaction. The day of transaction is understood as the 

earlier of the following two dates: the funds’ delivery date or received date. 

Reappraisal of foreign currency assets is carried out at the beginning of the operational day prior to the reflection of operations 

on the account (accounts). The reappraisal of the opening balance is carried out at the start of the day, with the exception of 

funds received or issued in the form of advance or preliminary payment for supplied goods, work completed and services rendered 

recorded on the balance accounts for transactions with non-resident organizations.   

5.6.7. Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset only in situations in which the governing currency conversion agreement includes an 

offsetting (netting) provision in effect as of the date of execution. 

President  Turek Z.

 Stamp

Chief accountant Beringova V. Ya.

14 May 2013
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